
 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

 
Brett Sanders 

V. Chairman, District Four 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 
 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

 
Glenn Davis 

District Two 

Greg Elgin 
District Three 

 
Jimmy Davis 

District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson 
District Seven 

 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

 
 

AGENDA 
Special Presentation Meeting 

Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATION: 
    a. 2023-037: A Resolution honoring and recognizing the Montessori School of Anderson upon the occasion of its 

fiftieth anniversary of educating joyful young scholars in Anderson County. 
Hon. John Wright, Jr.    

 
 
3. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at 6:30 p.m. 

Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
  
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE                                                                  Hon. Glenn Davis 
 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES                                                                                 August 1, 2023, August 15, 2023                                                                              
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                        Agenda Matters Only 
                                                                                                                                  THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT 
 
5. OPIOID RECOVERY FUND PROPOSALS: 
    a. Coroner's Office-Drug Education Initiative                                                                        Mr. Donald McCown 
    b. PlaySafe AOD/OAA Student Connect Initiative 
 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, September 5, 2023 
 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
6. ORDINANCE THIRD READING: 
    a. 2023-029: An Ordinance to amend section 8-79, related to building codes, of the Anderson County Code of 

Ordinances; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 
 

Mr. Jordan Thayer (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    b. 2023-030: An Ordinance to amend sections 10-20 through 10-36, related to junkyards and open storage, of the 
Anderson County Code of Ordinances; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE 
MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Jordan Thayer (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
7. ORDINANCE SECOND READING:  
    a. 2023-031: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a special source credit agreement by and 

between Anderson County, South Carolina, Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, D/B/A The Shores of 
Asbury with respect to certain economic development property in the County, whereby such property will 
receive certain special source credits in respect of investment in related infrastructure; and other matters related 
thereto.  [Project Shoreline] 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
    b. 2023-032: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 

park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park to include certain property of 
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, D/B/A The Shores of Asbury and other matters related thereto. 
(Project Shoreline) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
    c. 2023-033: An Ordinance to approve the first amendment to sublease agreement between Anderson County, 

South Carolina, and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC D/B/A The Shores of Asbury for the Asbury Park 
site on Lake Hartwell; and other matters related thereto. 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

 
8. ORDINANCE FIRST READING:  
    a. 2023-034: An Ordinance to amend section 2-1053, related to marriage ceremonies in government offices, of 

the Anderson County Code of Ordinances; and other matters related thereto. 
Mr. Jordan Thayer (allotted 5 minutes)   

    
   b. 2023-035: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax and special 

source revenue credit agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and Project Asteroid to 
provide for payment of a fee-in-lieu of taxes; authorizing the expansion of a multi-county business park; 
authorizing certain special source revenue credits; and other matters related thereto. [Project Asteroid] 

 
  Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

   
 9. RESOLUTIONS:  
     a. 2023-038: A Resolution committing to negotiate a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes and special source revenue 

credit agreement between Anderson County and Project Asteroid; identifying the project; and other matters 
related thereto. [Project Asteroid] 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    b. 2023-039: A Resolution authorizing and approving the assignment and assumption of a fee in lieu of tax and 

incentive agreement by and among Anderson County, South Carolina, FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., 
and Evergreen Road Anderson, LLC; and other matters related thereto. 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, September 5, 2023 
 
Page 3 

 

   
 

10. CHANGE ORDERS/BID APPROVALS:  
      a. Bid #24-003 Hurricane Creek Forcemain Project 
 
 
11. APPOINTMENTS: 
      a. Library Board: Angela Dixon                                                                                                    Mr. Tommy Dunn 
      b. Library Board: Frances Saville                                                                                                      Mr. Greg Elgin    
  
12. REQUEST BY COUNCIL: 
      a. Foothills Community Health Center, Inc.-District 2 
      b. Anderson Area Crime Stoppers-All Districts 
      c. Anderson University-All Districts 
 
 
13. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT:  
 
    
 
14. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                       Non-Agenda Matters 
                                                                                                                                  THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT 
 
 
15. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL 
 
 
 
16. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 
or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 

possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 
contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



RESOLUTION #2023-037 
 

A RESOLUTION HONORING AND RECOGNIZING THE 
MONTESSORI SCHOOL OF ANDERSON UPON THE OCCASION OF 
ITS FIFTIETH ANNIVERSARY OF EDUCATING JOYFUL YOUNG 
SCHOLARS IN ANDERSON COUNTY. 

 
Whereas, in 1973, Ms. Karen Holt founded the Montessori School of Anderson 
(MSA) and taught its first group of fourteen preschoolers in basement rooms 
rented from a local church, from which word quickly spread of the caliber of the 
education, making necessary the dedicated facility constructed on two acres of 
land purchased on Sam McGee Road the following year to accommodate the 
expanding enrollment; and  
 
Whereas as the initial group of MSA students progressed, parents led the push to 
expand programs to include infants, toddlers, elementary-age pupils, and, 
eventually, students through 12th grade, the campus now sitting on eighteen 
acres and including classrooms and support facilities built by parents over 
the years that support a vital community of approximately 150 children and 
their families with a staff of almost 50, the premier and only private 
Montessori high school in the State of South Carolina, advancing a 
philosophy of education to help children become responsible for their 
learning by realizing what they need to learn and how they can learn best and 
by embracing the responsibility that comes with this knowledge;  

 
 Now, therefore, be it resolved, in a meeting duly assembled this fifth day of 

September 2023, that the Anderson County Council joins the MSA community in celebrating this 
milestone anniversary and the vision of Ms. Karen Holt to offer Dr. Maria Montessori’s world-
renowned educational method to the children of Anderson County. 

 
FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 

 
 
 ________________        __________________  _____________                ____________ 
 Tommy Dunn, Chairman John B. Wright, Jr.  Glenn Davis   Greg Elgin 
 District Five   District One   District Two   District Three 
 
                                                    ____________                              ______________                _________________     

                Brett Sanders, Vice-Chairman           Jimmy Davis                                    M. Cindy Wilson 
                 District Four   District Six   District Seven 
    ATTEST:  
     
    _______________                     ________________ 
    Rusty Burns              Renee Watts 
    County Administrator                Clerk to Council 



State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING

AUGUST 1, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT 
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS - VIA ZOOM
JIMMY DAVIS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
RENEE WATTS
    



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 1, 2023
2

1 TOMMY DUNN:   I’d like to
2 call this special presentation part of our Council
3 meeting of August the 1st to order.  I’d like to
4 welcome each and every one of y’all here tonight and
5 thank y’all for coming.
6 We’re going to start off, our first resolution is
7 2(a), 2023-003.  Councilman John Wright is going to
8 introduce that for us.
9 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
10 Chairman.  
11 THIS IS A RESOLUTION HONORING Roads & Bridges
12 MANAGER MATT HOGAN ON EARNING THE 2023 OUTSTANDING
13 PUBLIC WORKS MANAGER AWARD FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
14 CHAPTER OF THE AMERICAN PUBLIC WORKS ASSOCIATION.
15 WHEREAS, Matt Hogan has served as the Department
16 Manager for the Anderson County Roads & Bridges
17 Department since September of 2017, and during his
18 tenure has become known as a man of intelligence and
19 dedication, with a just-right sense of humor, and
20 WHEREAS, Matt has a sincere desire to serve the
21 citizens of Anderson County, his dedication evident in
22 the manner in which he engages members of the public
23 with courtesy and respect, always with an eye towards
24 how best to solve their problems or address their
25 concerns, and
26 WHEREAS, Matt’s hard work and dedication, and his
27 sincere and respectful treatment of others, have earned
28 him the deep trust and abiding respect of not only
29 those working under his supervision, but also his
30 colleagues in all county operations, including the
31 County Council and the Office of the County
32 Administrator, and
33 WHEREAS, Matt works to continually improve the
34 operations of the Anderson County Roads & Bridges,
35 managing a department comprised of more than 80 persons
36 by emphasizing the strengths of his employees and how
37 their skills and talents can best be utilized, and
38  WHEREAS, having earned a Master of Public
39 Administration degree from Clemson University, Matt
40 remains committed to continuing his professional
41 development, holding certifications such as Certified
42 Public Works Supervisor by AWPA (verbatim) and
43 Governmental Accounting from the Carl Vinson Institute
44 of Government, and
45 WHEREAS, for these reasons and many others, Matt
46 was recently selected by his peers as the Outstanding
47 Public Works Manager for the year 2023 by the South
48 Carolina Chapter of the American Public Works
49 Association.
50 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Anderson County



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 1, 2023
3

1 Council that Roads & Bridges Manager Matt Hogan is
2 hereby congratulated for earning such a high honor, and
3 the Council extends to him its genuine appreciation for
4 his service to the community.
5 Mr. Chairman, I’d like to put that in the form of a
6 motion.
7 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion. 
9 I think the whole Council seconds it.  Any discussion?
10 JOHN WRIGHT:  Mr. Chairman,
11 if I could?
12 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
13 Wright.
14 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you.  I
15 just want to reiterate I think everything that this
16 said here about Mr. Hogan.  I’ve had the opportunity to
17 work with him several times while being on Council, and
18 I know that any time I call on him, I know that the
19 constituent is going to be treated well.  He’s going to
20 be responsible.  And he’s going to leave the situation
21 better than he found it.  So very appreciate of him and
22 the role that he plays here in Anderson County.
23 Thank you.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
25 Anyone else?
26 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
27 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
28 CINDY WILSON:  I’ll ditto
29 exactly what Mr. Wright said.  Mr. Hogan is available
30 day or night when there’s an emergency, and that’s a
31 very rare quality for employees.  But in our county
32 situation, that’s across the road.  We have so many
33 good employees, but we’re grateful for Mr. Hogan.  
34 We’re very challenged, as everyone knows, with the
35 limited budget for resurfacing roads.  So he and Mr.
36 Hopkins and Mr. Burns can really squeeze every ounce
37 out of every penny.  Thank you.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
39 Anyone else?
40 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair, if I
41 may?
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Davis,
43 Councilman Jimmy Davis.
44 JIMMY DAVIS:  I want to
45 congratulate Mr. Hogan and the entire Roads & Bridges
46 and county staff.  I was talking to the Administrator
47 Friday night, I said I couldn’t be more proud of all of
48 Anderson County and all our employees.  Mr. Hogan,
49 he’ll tell you, I have him on speed dial.  And like Ms.
50 Wilson said, he answers the phone day and night and



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 1, 2023
4

1 even on vacation.  
2 And I want to thank Ms. Hogan for sharing Matt with
3 us, because I know it can be a taxing thing.  But you
4 and your staff are part of what makes Anderson County
5 great.  And I greatly appreciate you and all that you
6 do.  And having worked with APWA for several year in my
7 career, I know how big of an honor this is.  We’re here
8 tonight to celebrate you.  And we thank you.  
9 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
11 Anyone else?
12 GREG ELGIN:  Mr. Chair?
13 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
14 Elgin.
15 GREG ELGIN:  Mr. Hogan,
16 first of all, thank you so much for everything you do. 
17 And congratulations.  And again, thank you for -- I
18 think we all have you on speed dial.  So thank you for
19 answering the phone and taking care of everybody
20 because I know we all get a lot of calls, and we
21 appreciate everything that you and your staff do
22 everyday.  So again, congratulations.  Well earned. 
23 And you deserved it.  Thank you.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Hogan, I
25 just want to say thank you.  This is something that’s
26 well deserved for you.  Appreciate what all you and
27 your team do.  You’ve put together an excellent team. 
28 You make Anderson County look good and you do the
29 citizens of Anderson County very fine.  And I know it’s
30 very -- sometimes I’m surprised what people always said
31 about it, I’ve bit my tongue in two sometimes, some of
32 the things, comments we have to listen to from people. 
33 I’ve been there with you and I appreciate what you’ve
34 done, how you handle yourself and represent Anderson
35 County very well.  Thank you very, very much.
36 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
37 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
38 unanimously.
39 Mr. Hogan, you and your family.
40 BIG APPLAUSE
41 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
42 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
43 be moving on now to item number 2(b), Resolution 2023-
44 034.  Honorable Ms. Cindy Wilson.  Ms. Wilson.
45 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
46 Chairman.
47 THIS IS A RESOLUTION RECOGNIZING THE
48 ACCOMPLISHMENTS OF THE SPECIAL OLYMPICS AREA 14
49 EQUESTRIAN SPORT TEAM.
50 WHEREAS, in May of this year, the Area 14 Anderson



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 1, 2023
5

1 County Special Olympics Equestrian Team competed in the
2 2023 Equestrian Show held by the Special Olympics of
3 South Carolina at the Lander University Equestrian
4 Center, and
5 WHEREAS, members of the Anderson County team
6 trained for a total of twelve weeks under the direction
7 of Equestrian Team Coach Lisa Hartman to prepare for
8 the competition, which would involve forty athletes
9 representing seven of the Special Olympics' sixteen
10 districts in the Palmetto State, and
11 WHEREAS, two Anderson County team members, Morgan
12 Bates and Nick Kendrick, were among those receiving
13 high honors in the competition, and
14 WHEREAS, Morgan, guiding her Black Tennessee
15 Walking Horse Abigail, came home with First Place
16 ribbons in Equitation, Trail Competition, and Pole
17 Bending, and earned a belt buckle for having the
18 fastest time in Pole Bending in her division, and
19 WHEREAS, Nick teamed with Pebbles, his Tri Colored
20 Paint Horse, to earn First Place honors in Trail
21 Competition, Second Place in Pole Bending, and Third
22 Place in Equitation within his division, and
23 WHEREAS, it is the desire of Anderson County
24 Council not only to congratulate these outstanding
25 athletes and their achievements, but also recognize the
26 support system that offers them and so many others the
27 chance to thrive.
28 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson
29 County Council hereby congratulates Ms. Bates and
30 Mr. Kendrick on their accomplishments, and also offers
31 its sincere appreciation to Lisa Hartman, Team Coach
32 and Director of the SHARE Therapeutic Riding Program,
33 as well as Kathy Schofield and Tessa Hilley of the
34 Anderson County Special Populations Recreation
35 Department, for all they do on a daily basis to ensure
36 that all members of our community have a chance to feel
37 joy, to thrive, and to shine.
38 And may I put that in the form of a motion, Mr.
39 Chairman?
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.  Do
41 we have a second?
42 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
43 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
44 Wright.  Any discussion?
45 CINDY WILSON:  May I quickly
46 point out, riding is a pretty difficult sport to begin
47 with, but these folks have overcome even greater
48 challenges than the rest of us every day.  So we’re
49 very grateful, and it’s so nice to see that we have so
50 many great people in our county.  Don’t we live in a



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 1, 2023
6

1 really special, nice county.
2 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.
3 CINDY WILSON:  So thank you.
4 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
5 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
6 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
7 unanimously.
8 CINDY WILSON:  And if we may
9 have everyone down front for our presentation.
10 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
11 APPLAUSE 
12 TOMMY DUNN:   That will
13 conclude this part of our Council meeting.  We’ll
14 reconvene back here at 6:30 to start our regular
15 Anderson County Council meeting.
16
17 (SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:14 P.M.)



7

State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING

AUGUST 1, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS - VIA ZOOM
JIMMY DAVIS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
JORDAN THAYER
RENEE WATTS



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
8

1 TOMMY DUNN:    At this time
2 I’d like to call the regular Anderson County Council
3 meeting of August 1st to order.  I’d like to welcome
4 each and every one of y’all here tonight, and thank
5 y’all for coming out and participating in your local
6 county government.  
7 First order of housekeeping, I’d like to do a
8 couple of things.  Councilmen Glenn Davis and Brett
9 Sanders are not here tonight.  Councilman Glenn Davis
10 is at the Association of Counties meeting.  Councilman
11 Brett Sanders is on vacation, but he’s going to join us
12 on Zoom, supposed to be.  He’s there, they say.  We’ll
13 be doing that.
14 So we’re going to lead in before I ask Honorable
15 Councilman Jimmy Davis to lead us in the invocation and
16 pledge of allegiance, I’d like for us all to rise and
17 take a minute of silence.  We had a long-time Anderson
18 County employee pass away this past week, Tommy
19 Seigler.  Mr. Seigler worked for Anderson County for
20 well over thirty years, I’m sure.  But he was the face
21 of Anderson County when you come in the courthouse down
22 there, a security guard.  He done a lot for us.  Let’s
23 keep his family in our thoughts and prayers.
24 Amen.  Mr. Davis.
25 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you.  Let
26 us pray.
27 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE BY JIMMY DAVIS
28 TOMMY DUNN:   At this time do
29 we have any corrections or changes to be made to the
30 minutes of June 20th?  Do we have a motion to move
31 these forward?
32 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
34 Wilson.  Have a second?
35 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
37 Councilman Wright.  All in favor of the motion show of
38 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
39 unanimously.  That was Councilman Sanders’ aye.  It’s
40 unanimous.  
41 The minute of July 18, 2023, we haven’t received
42 those yet.  
43 I’m going to move on now to item number 4, citizens
44 comments.  First go around, when Mr. Harmon calls your
45 name, it’s on agenda items only.  You have three
46 minutes.  Please state your name and district for the
47 record for our minutes.  Mr. Harmon.
48 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
49 first speaker is Brian Mozzarella (phonics). 
50 BRIAN MOZZARELLA:    Is this on?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
9

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
2 BRIAN MOZZARELLA:  Good evening,
3 ladies and gentlemen.  My name is Brian Mozzarella,
4 District 7, the Breckenridge Subdivision.  Looking at
5 item number 12, please.
6 Council members, thank you for your time today.
7 Before I continue, if you're from the Breckenridge
8 Community, could you stand up please, just so they can
9 get a visual of how many of us are here.  Thank you.
10 Appreciate it. 
11 Schools had a lot of open houses.  So there were a
12 lot of residents that wanted to be here. 
13 Unfortunately, they just couldn't and also given the
14 short notice of the memo coming out deterred a lot of
15 people from coming.  
16 We, regretfully, come to you this evening to
17 challenge the road acceptance and to share our concerns
18 about the roads, curbs and drains within Breckenridge. 
19 The memo dated 17 July specifically states that all
20 drainage facilities and roadways within this proposed
21 county right-of-way meet the county standards.  We
22 disagree.  At our homeowners association meeting on 20
23 May, I specifically addressed these issues with Mr. Tom
24 Craft our developer and our homeowners association
25 president, about the unsafe conditions and the gravel
26 roads that his development company and Mungo the
27 homebuilder is creating in our community.  His response
28 to that was that he would do his part and then the
29 county would have to deal with the rest of it.  
30 I specifically addressed the roads and curbs that
31 were already turned over to the county and currently in
32 an unsafe condition.  And his response was that it is
33 now the county's problem to deal with.  
34 On June 6, I sat in this very room and listened to
35 Matt Hogan brief the Council on the road study for
36 Anderson County while he discussed the astronomical
37 amount of taxpayers’ dollars that we -- that are needed
38 for the road repairs just in Anderson County alone. 
39 The roads are critical and a serious aspect of business
40 development, the tourism and the growth potential for
41 this county.  But most importantly, the condition of
42 these roads determine the safety of our families.  
43 On June 8, I attended the subcommittee meeting and
44 addressed the same issues again, specifically addressed
45 the concerns of Breckenridge Community, the substandard
46 conditions of the roads, curbs and drains that had
47 already been accepted by Anderson County Roads &
48 Bridges, the gravel parking lot being left behind by
49 Tom Craft and Mungo.  And again, I specifically shared
50 our collective concerns about the remaining roads being



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
10

1 accepted by Anderson County in an unsafe and
2 unsatisfactory condition. 
3 On June 13, Matt Hogan was polite enough to come
4 out -- as he got his award and you all attest that he’s
5 a professional -- he came out and he looked at all
6 these issues and agreed that there were significant
7 issues in the community.  He told me that this would be
8 addressed, and that there would be accountability to
9 ensure that the roads, curbs and drains would be in a
10 safe and satisfactory manner before the county would
11 accept the remaining roads. 
12 Unfortunately, now on July 17, only one month
13 later, Roads & Bridges published a memo stating that, I
14 quote, the roads of this phase of the subdivision are
15 now eligible to be considered for acceptance into the
16 county's maintenance system.  I'm no road professional.
17 But I know these roads are in no condition to anywhere
18 be accepted.  I've literally ---
19 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr.
20 Chairman. 
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
22 Appreciate it.  That’s time for this.  And I think Ms.
23 Wilson, your Council lady is well aware of this and got
24 some issues with it. 
25 Mr. Harmon.
26 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
27 Starling Underwood (phonics).
28 STARLING UNDERWOOD:  My name is
29 Starling ---
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Come on up to
31 the mic.  State your name and district for the record. 
32 Come on up.
33 STARLING UNDERWOOD:  My name is
34 Starling Underwood and I live in District 7.  And I am
35 a homeowner in Breckenridge.  And I'm just here to show
36 my support also, because I just don't see how Anderson
37 County would want to take over a road system that needs
38 a lot of repair work to it.  And I've heard several
39 people mention tonight about the budget.  
40 So I think the owner, Mr. Craft and Mongo, they
41 need to make -- these repairs need to be made before
42 the county take it over and spend money that we sound
43 like the county doesn't have.  Thank you. 
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  Mr.
45 Harmon.
46 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
47 Trenis Lack (phonics).
48 TRENIS LACK:   Mr. or Ms.
49 Lack?
50 LEON HARMON:  Ms.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
11

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Lack?  Oh,
2 you’re not.  Okay.
3 LEON HARMON:  Next is George
4 Lack.
5 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.
6 LEON HARMON:  Ann Mozzarella. 
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.
8 LEON HARMON:  Rick Tillman.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Tillman.
10 Okay.
11 LEON HARMON:  John McAgena
12 (phonics).
13 JOHN MCAGENA:  My name is John
14 McAgena, and I’m in District 7.  I’ve been a resident
15 of Breckenridge since April.  And my cul-de-sac has
16 been paved with asphalt twice since we’ve lived there. 
17 Why?  Because of the construction.  There are heavy
18 machinery -- there's heavy machinery there, earthmoving
19 vehicles, and they absolutely mutilate the asphalt.  It
20 is an eyesore to look at.  They've done it twice.  We
21 spoke with the contractor, the asphalt, he said, we'll
22 be back.  We'll be back because construction is
23 continuing.  So there was no point in doing it.  And
24 there's absolutely no point in turning this over to the
25 county in this condition.  The drainage is poor.  The
26 torrentials that we had, I think it was last week,
27 we’re at the bottom of a hill, and the water was so
28 heavy, we couldn't pull out of the driveway.  Something
29 has to be done about that.  Again, it's in no condition
30 to be handed over.  Thank you. 
31 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
32 Mr. Harmon.
33 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
34 Eric Plasterer (phonics).  
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
36 LEON HARMON:  Troy Plasterer.
37 Bria Plasterer.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.
39 LEON HARMON:  I think I
40 missed Michelle Plasterer.
41 MICHELLE PLASTERER:   I’m in District
42 7, as well.  And one of the things that I've noticed
43 is, every time there's a rain, they bring these long, I
44 don't know what they call them, flood control things,
45 and the workers will bring them out.  And every gutter,
46 they bring these warm things to control the flooding.
47 So if they're talking about the water’s under control,
48 every time there's raining, they’re bring these out to
49 control that.
50 The patch work that they're doing is all cracking



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
12

1 off.  If that's what we can -- we consider good work, I
2 don't know what we would consider bad work.  We've paid
3 good money for these houses and to have our roads
4 fallen apart.  Why they even paved it before they're
5 even done with the construction, I don't get.  
6 Supposedly they had a surplus of money and they thought
7 they were going to lose the money so they paved the
8 road.  And then they bring in these heavy machineries
9 and they destroyed the road, so it doesn't make sense. 
10 So that's what we're left with. 
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Harmon?
12 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
13 Debbie Marakovitch (phonics).  
14 Kim Marakovitch.  Kim Trombley (phonics). 
15 KIM TROMBLEY:  I thought this
16 was on topic about the RV parks, which is why I'm here.
17 My name is Kim Trombley.  I live at 130 Gemstone Trail
18 off of Asbury Park Road.  I am speaking out of despite
19 fear of retribution by a spiteful RV park landlord.
20 Going on my 15th year of homeowners that are shipping
21 Anderson, my local boat launch was completely clear
22 cut, logged for profit and burns daily for over 90
23 days.  Minimally.  When a neighbor did the same, she
24 shut him down with you can't launch your boat here if
25 you don't put out the fire.  
26 Every species of animal and reptile that lived at
27 that park now lives in my yard, including a groundhog
28 and armadillo that I've never seen in the 15 years I've
29 lived there.  There was no infrastructure in place for
30 semi truck traffic when building this park.  And none
31 added.  It's a dead-end street with no turn around, no
32 sidewalks, curbs or lighting.  I say this because she's
33 more interested in selling liquor than making
34 improvements to the park.  I've been forced to look at
35 a half a dozen storage container dumpsters rather than
36 a real fence.  There is zero oversight to an already
37 power hungry landlord, who has more interest in
38 throwing parties than traffic safety on Asbury Park
39 Road.  Her abuse of public servants is excessive and
40 uncalled for.  I've only called Animal Control once in
41 the 15 years I've lived here.  The behavior and park
42 condition to be grandfathered is absurd and reduces my
43 property value and quality of life.  Who do I reach out
44 to?  
45 Thank you for your time. 
46 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Harmon.
47 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
48 Bruce Reed. 
49 BRUCE REED:  Thank you,
50 Council folks, for allowing me to speak.  I'm not going



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
13

1 to reiterate what my fellow residents of Breckenridge
2 just talked about.  But I just want to give you a
3 little background.  I just came from the state of New
4 Jersey to this great state.  So far, I like it very
5 much.  I was involved in 911 up north.  Saw a lot of
6 politics, it was involved with politics.  And I think
7 this would be a great disservice to the community and
8 to the county at large to allow this to go through. 
9 Brian here has done a lot of work to bring this to
10 light.  And I think we should honestly evaluate that
11 and keep it in that light.  Thank you for your time.
12 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Harmon.
13 LEON HARMON:   Jill O'Connor. 
14 TOMMY DUNN:   You can wait
15 till then.  You don’t have to sign up for a public
16 hearing.  Go ahead.
17 LEON HARMON:  Sherry Holtz.
18 Dennis Early.  Joseph ...
19 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.  State
20 your name, too, for the record when you come up,
21 please.
22 JOSEPH JAZAKOWSKI (PHONICS):  Thank you for
23 having this meeting.  My name is Joseph Jazakowski.  I
24 came from Massachusetts.  Like Bruce, I like this
25 state.  The people are very nice in it.  I’m a friend
26 of Brian.  I live next door to Brian.  And he’s
27 absolutely right.  The roads are deplorable.  The
28 sidewalks, the curbs are bad.  And when we make
29 comments about the water that everybody talks about,
30 you know what they told me?  Water runs downhill.
31 That's absurd.  If they did it right the first time, we
32 wouldn't have this problem.  If they dug a trench, put
33 the water underground in a pipe to an offset, we would
34 not have this problem.  But like they say, what are you
35 going to do about it?  Do it yourself.  I had people
36 come in.  It's going to cost me like $5,000.  Every
37 time it rains, my backyard looks like a river.  And
38 they tell you water runs downhill.  Don't let them get
39 away with it.  Don't sign off.  Let them fix it.  Thank
40 you. 
41 LEON HARMON:  Amanda Pierce. 
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Pierce?
43 Move on.
44 LEON HARMON:  Kenneth
45 Jackson. 
46 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay. 
47 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
48 that's all that are signed up to speak at this point in
49 the meeting. 
50 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
14

1 Harmon.  One more you missed?  Okay, come on up.  You
2 ain’t got to what you call it.  It’ll be over by the
3 time that happens.  So come on.  Yes, sir.
4 CHRISTOPHER HAND:  I would like to
5 thank the Council for hearing us.  My name is
6 Christopher Hand.  I live in Breckenridge, District 7. 
7 And I think one thing that I haven't heard is that
8 there are still homes to be built.  And where my house
9 is right across from us, is still empty lots to be
10 built.  And the other day, when it was hot, we had a
11 cement truck come down the street, stopped in front of
12 the house and moved on and left a flat spot on the
13 road.  So what's going to happen when those lots across
14 from me get built?  All that construction equipment is
15 going to tear up the roads.  And I don't want the
16 county to have to pay for that.  I don't think it's
17 right that the taxpayers have to pay for that.  So just
18 please take that into consideration.  Thank you very
19 much. 
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, sir.
21 Mr. Harmon.
22 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
23 Debbie Hand is also signed up.
24 There are two others.  I guess we need to make sure
25 -- Jill O’Connor, you’re speaking later?  And looks
26 like Joe and Robin ... okay.  There may be another
27 person here with the first name Joseph.  I can't really
28 read the last name. 
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Is anybody else
30 here wanting to talk on public hearing anything on the
31 agenda, that signed up?  That their name hasn’t been
32 called.  Anyone at all?  
33 Going to move on to item number 5(a), Ordinance
34 third reading.  This is Ordinance 2023-017, an
35 Ordinance to amend the Code of Ordinances, Anderson
36 County, South Carolina, by adding a new section within
37 Chapter 24, Article II, Division 5 to address RV Park
38 Design Standards; and other matters related thereto. 
39 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to
40 speak to this matter, please step forward, state your
41 name and district for the record and address the Chair. 
42 You have three minutes.
43 JILL O’CONNOR:  Good evening,
44 Chairman Dunn and members of the Council.  My name is
45 Jill O’Connor from District 5.  Thank you for
46 considering and including some of my prior feedback
47 given for this RV park ordinance.  The addition of this
48 ordinance will be much appreciated.  With that said I
49 asked you please delay voting on third reading of
50 ordinance 2023-017.  



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
15

1 While the council has followed all the legal
2 procedures thus far, I plead to your reasonable side to
3 recognize that with so many changes to the second
4 reading draft that you should allow more time for
5 feedback on all the changes.  
6 It's been brought to my attention that an
7 organization submitted feedback after the published
8 second reading, and they were told it was too late in
9 the process to accept their feedback.  Here's some
10 reasons I find this discouraging. 
11 Number one, first reading of this ordinance was in
12 title only with no draft given out to the public for
13 review. 
14 Number two, if anyone did see a draft of the
15 ordinance from the special called meeting on May 8,
16 they would know there were going to be numerous changes
17 made from that draft.  There were many people in
18 attendance that gave verbal and written feedback at
19 that time. 
20 Number three, the second reading of this ordinance
21 was the first published draft to the public in regular
22 scheduled meetings. 
23 Number four, the second reading of this ordinance
24 had numerous and significant changes from the first
25 draft to the second draft that was given to the public. 
26 I’ve printed off a copy that was at the second reading,
27 which is I believe, no changes to the third reading.
28 From that first to the second, anywhere you see pink
29 are changes to that draft, not edits or feedback from
30 me, changes only.  As you can see, in all nine pages,
31 there are many changes from that draft, including one
32 section where nine sentences were removed, a whole
33 paragraph added.  Every page from this draft had
34 multiple changes.  And to proceed and not allow
35 comments after that doesn't seem right. 
36 Number five, if anyone wants to give written
37 feedback for the second reading, they only had two
38 business days to review and submit feedback.  And it
39 still would have been too late to get any changes into
40 that draft because an agenda had already been
41 published. 
42 Number six, if anyone wanted to give verbal
43 feedback at the second reading, they would only have
44 been allowed time during citizen comments being it was
45 not a public hearing at second reading.  What is the
46 point of three readings if no feedback is accepted
47 between second and third reading?  What is the point of
48 this public hearing today if input was too late last
49 week?  Even if you believe there has been sufficient
50 time, there are grammar and consistency errors in this



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
16

1 draft that I would think you want corrected before
2 proceeding.  
3 This is such an important ordinance due to the
4 increased number of RV parks being proposed in Anderson
5 County.  And I know you want it -- to make it a quality
6 ordinance that protects developers and citizens. 
7 Thank you for your consideration. 
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  Mr.
9 Harmon.  Oh, I’m sorry.  Anyone else?  This is a public
10 hearing on RV parks.
11 KENNETH JACKSON:  Good evening.
12 Keith Jackson, Fairplay, District 4.  Some of my
13 comments may be a slight repeat of this, but I think
14 they're still worth hearing, please. 
15 I'm speaking on behalf of Lake Hartwell
16 Association, as a member of their board and as vice
17 president regarding tonight's third reading of the RV
18 ordinance.  Lake Hartwell Association wants to
19 acknowledge and express appreciation to the Council and
20 the Planning Department for their foresight in
21 developing an RV ordinance for our county and for the
22 effort it has taken to put this together. 
23 However, Lake Hartwell Association requests that
24 this proposed third reading decision be tabled for a
25 couple of weeks.  The latest draft of the RV ordinance
26 went through the second reading at Council as you know,
27 and it was was mentioned a couple of weeks ago.  Lake
28 Hartwell Association submitted a letter last week with
29 suggestions of questions to the proposed or -- 
30 suggestions and questions to the proposed ordinance. 
31 We deliberately targeted getting our email in early so
32 Planning Department and Council had a bit of time to
33 review our input prior to this third reading tonight. 
34 Out of respect for counsel, we didn't want to just
35 show up at this third reading with comments allowing no
36 time for consideration.  The immediate response was
37 that there was no further time for our input and no
38 changes could be made prior to the third reading.  Lake
39 Hartwell Association takes issue with this for the
40 following reasons. 
41 One, as previously stated, if there's no
42 opportunity for changes between the third and -- second
43 and third readings, why bother with both?  Why just
44 move forward and approve it all with the second
45 reading? 
46 Second, was there a time line provided with a date
47 that no further input could be considered? 
48 Third, in the end, are we going for throughput or
49 quality of an important Council ordinance?
50 Four, and this is the significant one, to the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
17

1 credit of the Planning Department and the Council, the
2 draft of the RV ordinance associated and published as
3 part of that second reading was significantly changed
4 and improved over any previous versions.  Nothing prior
5 to that was even close to the second reading approved
6 version.  So in essence, though, that second reading
7 was actually the first reading of that from an official
8 standpoint, as far as what we could see. 
9 So the process should allow Lake Hartwell
10 Association's input into that latest version, which was
11 from the second reading.  Due to the above, Lake
12 Hartwell Association strongly suggests that the third
13 reading decision for tonight be deferred for a couple
14 of weeks to allow Lake Hartwell Association’s input, as
15 well as anyone else that might have any comments or
16 concerns regarding that latest, good draft.  In
17 essence, this would allow the latest RV ordinance from
18 the 18 July Council meeting to follow the procedural
19 process for public input and subsequent readings,
20 because that version was the first time that was
21 available as approved from Council.  
22 We think the questions and suggestions from Lake
23 Hartwell Association submitted early last week would
24 add to the quality of this upcoming ordinance.  Please,
25 for something as important as this, let's take a couple
26 of weeks for quality instead of throughput. 
27 LEON HARMON:  Time, Mr.
28 Chairman.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else
30 want to speak to this on public hearing?  Anyone?
31 Public hearing will be closed.  Do we have a motion to
32 put this on the floor or a motion?
33 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
34 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion to put
35 it on the floor.  Have a second?
36 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by Jimmy
38 Davis.  Now open the floor up for discussion.
39 CINDY WILSON:  May I point
40 out, while it may seem to some people attending tonight
41 that we rushed this through, we've had so many citizens
42 pushing hard to get something in place.  The input is
43 very helpful.  It's welcomed.  I think we'll certainly
44 be taking some time after we discuss that tonight to
45 carefully consider everything.  But there hasn't been 
46 -- I mean, this has been going on -- was it since
47 March?  February, March?  Yeah, we've been struggling
48 with it for a while.  And we certainly welcome the
49 input, but it's not been an overnight process. 
50 Thank you. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
18

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?  I
2 just want to make -- be perfectly clear.  Number one, I
3 don’t know where it come up that we don’t take no
4 input.  Now somebody might have misquoted something.
5 But don't nobody speak for the Council but Council
6 itself.  
7 When I got the -- number one, there was some
8 suggestions made when I put the committee together. 
9 And that committee had those suggestions.  They chose
10 to follow some of them, some of them they didn't go
11 with. 
12 The second thing is when I got the letter from this
13 association, Lake Hartwell Association, I made sure
14 every council member got a copy of that.  I've
15 contacted staff and went over it.  Now, you had input.
16 We might not agree with it, but you had input and we
17 listened.  And there'll be -- and we can change
18 anything that comes up on first reading, second reading
19 and third reading, any Council member’s go a right to
20 amend anything. 
21 And also I’d just like to say, I’ve studied this
22 and went over it, even had meetings today with staff on
23 it and went over it.  The main thing is, we've got
24 nothing now.  We’re going to get something.  And we
25 always can tweak something and go back and make
26 amendments.  It’s not set in stone.  But what we’ve got
27 here I think is pretty good that we can pass from
28 Council members.  We’re not going to go and outlaw the
29 RV business.  That ain’t what this was never about. 
30 And we put together a committee.  And Mr. Sanders might
31 want to talk about this.  He was chairman of that
32 committee and worked very hard on this.  And we’ve
33 added some things.  And I’ve got an amendment I’m going
34 to add tonight.  
35 But still, it’s got a thing -- and I’ll be glad to
36 meet with anybody, talk to anybody and discuss, because
37 some of the suggestions in the letter I got from the
38 Lake Hartwell Association is redundant and it was
39 already covered.  But I’ll be glad to sit down with you
40 and go over it.  Word for word, line for line. 
41 Anyone else?
42 Mr. Sanders, do you have anything?
43 BRETT SANDERS:  I think you
44 pretty much hit the nail on the head, sir.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.  Anymore
46 discussion?  
47 I make a motion to amend Section D -- move to amend
48 section 24-151, section D by adding the following
49 sentence to this section.  The RV park must comply with
50 all applicable building codes which have been adopted



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
19

1 and as provided within section 8-79 of Chapter 8 of the
2 Anderson County Code of Ordinances.  That covers
3 anything as far as the fire thing we have adopted on it
4 just to make sure it’s out there, anything NSPA that it
5 comes up and that we’ve adopted that and any building
6 codes that’s adopted on the county, it falls in this. 
7 Just to make it perfectly clear. 
8 I put that in the form of a motion.
9 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Jimmy
11 Davis.  Any discussion on the amendment?
12 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair,
13 would that also include any decking that would be built
14 for any RV?
15 TOMMY DUNN:   That would be
16 anything -- I wouldn’t think you could put any decking
17 on any RV’s in a park.  This is a moving thing.  But
18 anyway, anything that comes in, that’s exactly right,
19 anything in the code that we’ve adopted, falls under
20 this.
21 JIMMY DAVIS:  Okay.  Because
22 that was one concern there with safety if RV parks had
23 a central gathering place and they had a deck, that it
24 would be up to code.
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir. 
26 Anything build that had to be public, yes, sir.
27 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you.
28 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir. 
29 Anyone else?  All in favor of the amendment show of
30 hands.  
31 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
32 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed
33 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.  Show
34 Mr. Sanders voted in favor.  
35 Now go back to the original motion.  Any
36 discussion?  Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the
37 motion show of hands.  
38 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
39 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed
40 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.  Mr.
41 Sanders voting in approval of it.
42 Moving on now to item number (b), 5(b), 2023-020,
43 an Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson
44 County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by
45 amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to
46 rezone +/- 3.98 acres from R-20 (Single-Family
47 Residential District) to C-2 (Highway Commercial
48 District) on parcels of land, identified as 201 and 205
49 Memory Lane in the Denver-Sandy Springs Precinct shown



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
20

1 in Deed Book 15896 page 111 and Deed Book 15897 page
2 121.  The parcels are further identified as TMS
3 #93-06-01-005 and 93-06-01-007.  
4 Mr. Sanders.
5 BRETT SANDERS:  Yes, sir, Mr.
6 Chairman.  I need to recuse on 23-20 and 23-21, please,
7 sir.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.
9 Kris, he’s out?  Do we have a motion to move this
10 forward?
11 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
12 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
13 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Jimmy
14 Davis; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in
15 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
16 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
17 Moving on to item number 5(c), 2023-021, an
18 Ordinance to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson
19 County Zoning Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by
20 amending the Anderson County Official Zoning Map to
21 rezone +/- 2.28 acres from R-20 (Single-Family
22 Residential District) to C-2 (Highway Commercial
23 District) on a parcel of land, identified as Memory
24 Lane in the Denver-Sandy Springs Precinct shown in Deed
25 Book 16636 page 213.  The parcel is further identified
26 as TMS #93-06-01-001.  It’s in District 4.  Do we have
27 a motion to move this forward?
28 GREG ELGIN:  So moved.
29 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
31 Councilman Elgin; second by Councilman Jimmy Davis. 
32 Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
33 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
34 unanimously. 
35 Moving back on -- wait till Mr. Sanders comes back. 
36 You got Mr. Sanders back?  Okay.
37 Moving on to item number (d).  This will be
38 2023-024, an Ordinance to transfer an interest in real
39 property to William R. McClellion III; and other
40 matters related thereto. 
41 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to
42 speak to this matter, please step forward, state your
43 name and district to the Chair, and you’ve got three
44 minutes.  Anyone at all?  Seeing and hearing none, the
45 public hearing will be closed.  
46 Do we have a motion to move this forward?
47 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
48 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
49 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
50 GREG ELGIN:  Second.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
21

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
2 Elgin.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion
3 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Mr. Sanders? 
4 Mr. Sanders, you there?  Show Mr. Sanders abstained.
5 We’re going to move on to item number (e).  This
6 will be 2023-025, an Ordinance to provide approval for
7 Anderson County, South Carolina, to grant an easement
8 unto Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC across property owned
9 by Anderson County and bearing tax map number 047-03-
10 01-002 for installation of electric and communication
11 lines; and other matters related thereto. 
12 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to
13 speak to this matter, please step forward, state your
14 name and district and address the chair, please. 
15 Anyone at all?  Seeing and hearing none, the public
16 hearing will be closed.  Do we have a motion to move
17 this forward?
18 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
19 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by Mr.
21 Wright.  Do I have a second?
22 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
23 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by Mr.
25 Sanders.  He woke back up.  Any discussion?  Any at
26 all?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
27 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
28 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed
29 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.  Mr.
30 Sanders votes aye.
31 Moving on to item number 5(f), 2023-026, an
32 Ordinance to lease real property to the Anderson County
33 Disabilities and Special Needs Board; and other matters
34 related thereto.  
35 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to
36 speak to this matter, please step forward.  State your
37 name and district and address the chair.  You have
38 three minutes.  Anyone at all?  Public hearing closed.
39 Do we have a motion to move this forward?
40 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
41 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
43 Wright; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in
44 favor of the motion show of hands.  
45 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
46 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed
47 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.  Show
48 Mr. Sanders voted affirmative.  
49 Moving on to item number 6(a), second reading.  Be 
50 6(a), 2023-027, an Ordinance to amend an agreement for



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
22

1 the development of a joint county industrial and
2 business park (Workforce Housing) of Anderson and
3 Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park to
4 include certain property of Gordon Street Affordable,
5 LP; and other matters related thereto.
6 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
7 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
8 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
10 Wright; second Ms. Wilson -- motion Ms. Wilson; second
11 Mr. Wright.  Any discussion?
12 CINDY WILSON:  May I quickly
13 out that this project is in Greenville County and not
14 in Anderson.
15 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.
16 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Anymore
18 discussion?  Hearing and seeing none, all in favor of
19 the motion show of hands. 
20 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Show the motion
22 carries unanimously.  Mr. Sanders votes in the
23 affirmative.
24 Moving on to item number 7(a), ordinance first
25 reading, an Ordinance to amend section 8-79 relating to
26 the building codes of Anderson County ---
27 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, I
28 think you missed 6(b).
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Oh, I’m sorry.
30 6(b), 2023-028, an Ordinance authorizing the execution
31 and delivery of a special source revenue credit
32 agreement by and between Anderson County, South
33 Carolina and Soli Organic Inc, with respect to special
34 source revenue credits to be applied against fee in
35 lieu of tax payments related to certain investments in
36 the County; and other matters related thereto.
37 Do we have a motion to move this forward?
38 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
39 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
41 Wilson; second by Councilman Wright.  Any discussion? 
42 All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
43 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Show the motion
45 carries unanimously.  Mr. Sanders voting aye.
46 We’re going to move on now to item number 7(a),
47 Ordinance first reading, 2023-029, an Ordinance to
48 amend section 8-79, related to building codes, of the
49 Anderson County Code of Ordinances; and other matters
50 related thereto.  This will be 7(a).  



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
23

1 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
2 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by
4 Councilman Elgin.  Second?
5 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
7 Councilman Wright.  Open the floor up for discussion.
8 Mr. Harmon, do you just want to touch base on this
9 just -- or Jordan, I’m sorry.  I didn’t see you back
10 there.
11 JORDAN THAYER:  Good evening,
12 Council.  Yes, this is an amendment to the building and
13 codes.  Specifically what we’re changing here is the
14 International Property Maintenance Code.  We’re
15 specifically excluding some provisions of it because
16 they are covered through other maintenance codes or
17 building codes.  And we are specifically dispensing
18 with the requirement that we follow any administrative
19 policies from there.  And the reason for that is
20 because we already have an administrative process.  As
21 a government, we’re forced to follow due process.  So
22 we already have protections for citizens.  And it’s two
23 owners is what’s in the code currently.  And those are
24 the main, those are the main things.  So everything
25 that’s being dispensed with we agreed with.  I worked
26 with the new Buildings & Codes Enforcement Officer as
27 well as Barry and David Hendrix.  He worked with them
28 and they were all happy with this.  So we’re just
29 asking y’all to take a look at this for us.
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
31 motion to move this forward on first reading?
32 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
34 Councilman Elgin; second Councilman Wilson.  Any
35 discussion?
36 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
37 Chairman.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
39 CINDY WILSON:  I will be
40 studying this more extensively.  And I came by to visit
41 Mr. Thayer this afternoon to get better information. 
42 But I think one of the more disturbing things I
43 discovered about our having to adhere to the
44 International Building Codes by state law.  And what
45 we’re hearing is a lot of the developers are using
46 minimum standards.  And when people buy a home in this
47 county, they think because we’ve had people out
48 checking various parts of the construction that they --
49 and they get an occupancy permit that the house has a
50 clean bill of health, and that's not necessarily so.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
24

1 Our staff only inspects certain aspects.  And I think
2 this is quite an education curve for a lot of us. 
3 Thank you.
4 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
5 Anyone else?  Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the
6 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign. 
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Show the motion
9 carries unanimously with Mr. Sanders voting in the 
10 affirmative.
11  Moving on to item number 7(b), an Ordinance to
12 amend sections 10-20 through 10-36, related to
13 junkyards and open storage, of the Anderson County Code
14 of Ordinances; and other matters related thereto.
15 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
16 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
18 Jimmy Davis; second by Councilman Elgin.  Open the
19 floor up for discussion.  Mr. Thayer.
20 JORDAN THAYER:  Yes.  Good
21 evening, again, Council.  We are amending our already
22 adopted junkyards and open storage ordinance.  And the
23 main things we're doing here is a language swap.  We're
24 changing some names to make them applicable like code
25 enforcement officer, litter enforcement officer, change
26 in development, some regulatory code compliance office
27 to development standards office.  We're increasing
28 specificity and applicability, adding that the fences
29 need to be opaque and widening the applicability to
30 make sure that it's not just for businesses, but this
31 also applies to residents. 
32 And then finally enforcement, we widened the
33 enforcement, made it easier and more clear that the
34 codes enforcement officer will be enforcing this and
35 penalizing people for it. 
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
37 Anymore discussion?  
38 I just want to say, this boils down to helping --
39 to help our codes enforcement office, plus give him
40 some language in court to judges.  We’ve had some
41 trouble in the past, and hopefully open this up where
42 they can do some stuff, maybe not in magistrate’s
43 court, but in general sessions court.  
44 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
45 show of hands.  
46 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
47 TOMMY DUNN:   Show the motion
48 carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders voting aye.  
49 Thank you, Mr. Thayer, for all your work on this.  
50 We’re going to move on to item number (a),



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
25

1 Resolution 8(a), 2023-030, a Resolution to approve
2 revisions and amendments to the Anderson County, South
3 Carolina Stormwater Design Manual; and other matters
4 related thereto.
5 Ms. Wilson.
6 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
7 Chairman.  We have Mr. Batson with us tonight.  And we
8 have some members of the Board of Realtors.  And we
9 have concerned citizens.  So stormwater is certainly a
10 serious subject in our county, especially since we
11 started getting rain.  Mr. Michael Day worked hard with
12 Mr. Batson, our stormwater department director and Mr.
13 John Caime and a number of others.  And this is a
14 design manual resolution to update some of the
15 measures.  
16 If we might have Mr. Batson to come forward and
17 answer any questions.  But I think that this will be
18 far more helpful than what we've had.  The whole goal
19 is to keep heavy water episodes, keep the floods on
20 site and not eroding or flooding the neighbor.  I guess
21 that's probably the simplest way to put it.  So we have
22 some measures here that will help.  Thank you. 
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
24 Anyone have any questions or comments for Mr. Batson.
25 Mr. Batson, you got anything for Council?
26 JON BATSON:   No, sir.
27 TOMMY DUNN:   I want to thank
28 you for your work on this.  I know you’ve been working
29 on this with the committee for a good while.  I
30 appreciate all y’all’s work.  
31 Anybody got anything else?  I’d just like to make a
32 motion to make an amendment to change -- we’ve got one
33 fee that’s going from I think it’s almost five hundred
34 dollars, going to two thousand.  I’d like to make that
35 change to go to a thousand.  Put that in the form of a
36 motion.
37 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
38 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson
40 second.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion
41 show of hands. 
42 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
43 TOMMY DUNN:   All opposed
44 like sign.  Show Mr. Sanders votes affirmative.  
45 Now, do we have a motion to move this forward?
46 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
47 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
48 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by Mr.
49 Davis, Jimmy Davis; and second by Ms. Wilson.  Any
50 discussion?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
26

1 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
2 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
3 CINDY WILSON:  The purpose of
4 increasing the fees, as Mr. Batson pointed out to us,
5 we had a lot of developers coming in and basically
6 having our county staff revise their engineering at our
7 cost rather than the developer doing it, as they
8 should.  And this is a classical case of it should be
9 done right to begin with.  
10 And it needs to be pointed out that Mr. Batson and
11 all of our county staff, if a development proposal
12 comes in, everybody bends over backwards to try and
13 help get a proper application and follow proper rules
14 and procedures.  And that’s to end up with a good
15 product.  Thank you.
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
17 Anyone else?
18 JOHN WRIGHT:  Mr. Chairman.
19 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
20 JOHN WRIGHT:  I just want to
21 add to what Ms. Wilson said.  I know that this is
22 needed.  An ordinance a lot of times, or laws or
23 anything else, obviously are done because a few people
24 are not doing it the right way.  I think we have a lot
25 of quality projects happening in Anderson County.  And
26 so I hope that we’ll use good judgment with these fees,
27 and if somebody is trying to do it the right way, we
28 won’t penalize them.  But the ones that are trying to
29 skirt the system that, of course, we’ll use that
30 effectively.  Thank you.
31 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
32 Wright.  Anyone else?  All in favor of the motion show
33 of hands.  Mr. Sanders?
34 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
35 TOMMY DUNN:   All opposed
36 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
37 We’re going to move on now to item number 9, change
38 order approvals, number 9(a), bid number 23 ---
39 LEON HARMON:     Mr. Chairman,
40 you missed the second resolution 8(b).
41 TOMMY DUNN:  Yeah, I did.
42 You’re earning your money tonight, Mr. Harmon,
43 keeping me straight.  I’m just making sure that you’re
44 paying attention.  And you are so far.
45 LEON HARMON:  I’m awake so
46 far.
47 TOMMY DUNN:  Keep it up.
48 CINDY WILSON:  That comes
49 under the heading of having an aversion to having to
50 spend money.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
27

1 TOMMY DUNN:  This is
2 Resolution 8(b), 2023-032, a Resolution to express the
3 intention of Anderson County, South Carolina, to cause
4 Anderson County, South Carolina to be reimbursed with
5 the proceeds of tax-exempt obligations for certain
6 costs associated with the County's Historic Courthouse
7 Project; and other matters related thereto.
8 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
9 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved. 
10 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr.
11 Sanders.  Do we have a second?  By Ms. Wilson.  Now
12 open the floor up for discussion?  
13 Mr. Harmon, do you want to just hit this?
14 LEON HARMON:  Yes, Mr.
15 Chairman, and members of Council.  This involves the
16 historic courthouse, the building we’re sitting in
17 right now.  There’s a significant amount of renovation,
18 reconstruction and equipping work that needs to be done
19 to this building.  We think that it’s going to be in
20 the neighborhood of seven million dollars.  This
21 resolution is a reimbursement resolution that allows
22 for certain expenses to be charged against the bond;
23 for example, engineering services and that type thing,
24 prior to the bond actually being issued.
25 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
26 Anyone else?
27 CINDY WILSON:  May I, Mr.
28 Chairman?
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, ma’am.
30 CINDY WILSON:  It’s important
31 to note, not only is there a real need for this.  We
32 saw the rotten beams and the tile falling off the roof
33 and the brick needs to be repointed; our fear of
34 pedestrians getting hit with objects before long.  But
35 this bond will replace another bond that’s going off. 
36 So it would not mean that we have to increase taxes in
37 order to do this work.  Thank you.
38 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
39 Anyone else?  I just want to point out what Ms. Wilson
40 said.  This is not to add this or that or make the
41 courthouse any more fancy or nothing; just to maintain
42 what we’ve got here as far as structure-wise, roof,
43 inside, brick work that needs to be taken care of, to
44 maintain our building.
45 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  Mr.
46 Sanders.
47 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
48 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed
49 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
50 We’re going to move on now to item number 9(a),



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
28

1 change orders/bid approvals, 9(a), bid number 23-059
2 Six & Twenty WWTP Decommissioning.  
3 RUSTY BURNS:  Mr. Chairman,
4 we received three bids on this project.  The low bid
5 came in from Moorhead Construction, nine million
6 seventy-one dollars fifty-seven dollars and seventy-
7 five cents.  We’re using ARPA money that we received
8 from the federal government to complete this project.
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Do we have a
10 motion to move this forward?
11 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
12 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion by Mr.
13 Davis, Jimmy Davis, and second?  Councilman Elgin.  
14 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
15 TOMMY DUNN:  Any discussion? 
16 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair?
17 TOMMY DUNN:  Mr. Davis.
18 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Burns, if
19 I’m not mistaken, this came in a little bit cheaper
20 than we actually thought it was, and I’m glad to see
21 that.
22 RUSTY BURNS:  For once we got
23 a good price on a project, and that’s been very rare;
24 yes, sir.
25 JIMMY DAVIS:  For those that
26 don’t know, we’ve been talking about decommissioning
27 Six & Twenty for quite sometime and maybe doing some
28 other things that the county needs to out there.  So
29 I’m excited to see this moving forward.  Thank you.
30 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
31 Anyone else?  Go ahead, Ms. Wilson.
32 CINDY WILSON:  While it’s
33 being decommissioned, we did request that we preserve
34 the plant for future use.
35 JIMMY DAVIS:  Absolutely.
36 CINDY WILSON:  It’s only got
37 about half a million gallons capacity currently.  And
38 it was pumping up to that level.  It can be increased
39 to a million gallons, but we meanwhile have capacity in
40 the Rocky River Plant that is unused, which treats less
41 expensively.  And that’s the only way you got me to
42 vote for this.  Thank you.
43 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
44 Anyone else?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
45 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
46 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed. 
47 Show the motion carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders
48 voting in the affirmative.
49 Moving on to item number 9(b), bid number 23-040,
50 Historic Courthouse Roof Project.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
29

1 RUSTY BURNS:  We received a
2 bid, three million fifty-six, and we’re requesting
3 approval of this bid at this time.  This is with Lloyd
4 Roofing Company of Greenwood.  And that is for the
5 courthouse roof.
6 TOMMY DUNN:  Do we have a
7 motion to put this on the floor?
8 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
9 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
10 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion
11 Councilman Jimmy Davis and second Ms. Wilson.  Any
12 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands.  
13 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
14 TOMMY DUNN:  Show the motion
15 carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders voting in the
16 affirmative.
17 Moving on to item number 9(c), software for
18 Planning, Development Standards and Building & Codes.
19 RUSTY BURNS:  This is going
20 to be new software that’s going to be -- make it easier
21 for developers, citizens and our inspectors, primarily,
22 to provide a faster, more efficient service, with a
23 more detailed record-keeping system.  It’s going to
24 move us really where we should have been for sometime. 
25 We have a price from the contract, the GSA contract. 
26 We think the first year is going to be a $193,000.00. 
27 The preceding year -- I mean the year after is one
28 forty and the year after that is one forty.  We are
29 going to see if we can do something with that, but we
30 would like approval from Council to proceed and not to
31 exceed $193,000.00.
32 TOMMY DUNN:  Do we have a
33 motion to move this forward?
34 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
35 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
36 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion Mr.
37 Sanders; second Councilman Elgin.  Now open the floor
38 up for discussion.  Anyone?  
39 I just want to say I think this is greatly needed. 
40 This is going to bring us -- similar counties around us
41 has got this.  This is going to make it more streamline
42 and more efficient for our employees, plus the citizens
43 of Anderson County will get a benefit by this right
44 here and keep on.  So I think this is long overdue and
45 glad to see this done.  And staff put this together to
46 make this happen.  And the company that’s got this has
47 also bought out a company that we’re using in our
48 Cartegraph systems, so it’s going to be good.
49 Anyone else?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
30

1 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Chair?
2 TOMMY DUNN:  Yes, sir. 
3 BRETT SANDERS:  I’d just like
4 to say that I think this is a project that we
5 definitely need.  And with the -- it will more than pay
6 for itself on the expenditures that we’re going to have
7 to make.  And I’m excited to see us moving
8 progressively forward.  Thank you.
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
10 Again, I want to thank the staff for doing the
11 research, the hard work on this, and putting this
12 together and presenting it to us.  It’s going to be
13 headed up by our head building official, Mr. Holcombe
14 back there in the back.  Appreciate it, Mr. Holcombe.  
15 Anyone else?  All in favor of the motion show of
16 hands.  
17 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
18 TOMMY DUNN:  Any opposed? 
19 Show the motion carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders
20 voting in the affirmative.
21 We’re going to move on to item number 10.  Item 10
22 is Probate Court fee matter.  This is coming out of a
23 request from the probate judge.  He wants to get back
24 in the business of doing marriage ceremonies, and to do
25 that and cover his cost.  The fee was twenty-five when
26 they quit doing it and they want to go to a hundred
27 dollars.  Did I leave anything out, Mr. Jordan?
28 JORDAN THAYER:  No, sir. 
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Anybody -- do
30 we have a motion to put this on the floor?
31 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
32 GREG ELGIN:  So moved.
33 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion
34 Councilman Elgin; second Ms. Wilson.  Now, any
35 discussion?  Anybody got anything else?  Again, this is
36 coming from the probate judge’s office.  
37 Go ahead, Mr. Thayer.
38 JORDAN THAYER:  I just want to
39 add that this fee increase goes into the county
40 treasury.  It doesn’t go to the Probate Court or
41 anything.  It goes to the county.
42 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
43 Make sure he knows that.  
44 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  Mr.
45 Sanders.
46 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
47 TOMMY DUNN:  All opposed? 
48 Show the motion carries unanimously.
49 We’re going to move on now to item number 11,
50 requests by Council members.  Councilman Davis.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
31

1 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
2 Chair.  From the District 6 special appropriations
3 account, I’d like to appropriate the total of $5,000
4 for Powdersville Play which is the youth athletic
5 organization for Powdersville.  I make that in the form
6 of motion. 
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a
9 motion by Jimmy Davis and second by Councilman Sanders. 
10 Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
11 hands.  
12 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
13 TOMMY DUNN:  Any opposed? 
14 Show the motion carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders
15 voting in the affirmative.
16 Anything else, Mr. Davis?
17 JIMMY DAVIS:  Nothing
18 further.
19 TOMMY DUNN:  Moving now to
20 item number -- I’m sorry, Councilman Elgin from
21 District 3.
22 GREG ELGIN:  Yes, sir. 
23 Thank you.  From the District 3 special appropriation
24 account, I’d like to appropriate $500.00 to the Starr
25 Fire Department to help with reimbursement for their
26 annual fireworks show.  Put that in the form of a
27 motion.
28 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
29 TOMMY DUNN:  Motion by Mr.
30 Elgin; second by John Wright, Councilman Wright.  Open
31 the floor up for discussion.  Didn’t take long for them
32 to find out you was back in business; did it?  All in
33 favor of the motion show of hands.  
34 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
35 JIMMY DAVIS:  All opposed. 
36 Show the motion carries unanimously. 
37 Moving on now to Councilman Wright.
38 JOHN WRIGHT:  Nothing at this
39 time, Mr. Chairman.
40 TOMMY DUNN:  Councilman
41 Wilson.
42 CINDY WILSON:  Not at this
43 time.  Thank you.
44 TOMMY DUNN:  And Councilman
45 Glenn Davis asked for his requests for his two to be
46 pulled off tonight.  He’ll take care of it later on.
47 TOMMY DUNN:  We’re going to
48 move on now to item number 12, 12(a), road acceptance
49 into the county inventory, Breckenridge Subdivision.  
50 Ms. Wilson, do you have a motion?



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
32

1 CINDY WILSON:  I do.  I
2 greatly appreciate the citizens and residents from this
3 development coming out and providing us information. 
4 And I appreciate the Roads & Bridges Department working
5 on this.  So my motion will be to table this item until
6 these measures can be resolved. 
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:  We have a
9 motion to table and second by Councilman Sanders.  All
10 in favor of the motion show of hands.  
11 BRETT SANDERS:  Aye.
12 TOMMY DUNN:  Show the motion
13 carries unanimously, with Mr. Sanders voting in the
14 affirmative.
15 The reason I didn’t open the floor up is people
16 know about discussion.  There is no discussion when
17 someone makes a motion to table. 
18 We'll be moving on to Administrator's report.
19 RUSTY BURNS:  Nothing at this
20 time. 
21 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.
22 Moving on to citizens comments.  When Mr. Harmon
23 calls your name, please step forward, state your name
24 and district for the record and address the chair, and
25 you have three minutes.
26 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, I
27 think all the folks who had been signed up under other
28 matters ---
29 TOMMY DUNN:  I know we’ve
30 got one or two.
31 INAUDIBLE COMMENT FROM AUDIENCE
32 TOMMY DUNN:  She signed up
33 and wanted to speak again.  Yeah, she said so a while
34 ago.  That’s fine.
35 LEON HARMON:  Okay.  Jill
36 O’Connor.
37 JILL O’CONNOR:  Thank you.
38 Again, I'm Jill O'Connor from District 5.  And I want
39 to say thank you for passing an RV park ordinance.  I
40 do agree that this ordinance is better than none at
41 all.  And there are many coming, and I think it's going
42 to be a good thing. 
43 With that said, I want to clarify a couple of
44 points from earlier.  And that while you all may have
45 started it in February or March, I do want to be clear
46 unless I don't know about it, the only time that it
47 ended up to the public was on the May 8 special
48 meeting, was the first draft given to the public. 
49 Also, I believe in Mr. Burns’ July 2023 monthly
50 recap, he had mentioned that there was public hearings



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
33

1 and special meetings regarding this RV park.  If there
2 were others, I don't know whether those were given to
3 the public or notification for those. 
4 Although LHA does realize that it may not have
5 their input used, they were told that their feedback
6 was too late.  LHA heard no reply from any board member
7 -- excuse me -- from any council member since that
8 time.  Thank you very much. 
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Anyone else
10 signed up?  Did you sign up on the ... 
11 INAUDIBLE COMMENT FROM AUDIENCE
12 TOMMY DUNN:  I'll be glad to
13 meet you after this meeting.  Anyone else?
14 INAUDIBLE COMMENT FROM AUDIENCE
15 TOMMY DUNN:  Well, you can
16 sign up next week then.  We’ve got a procedure to go
17 through.  Anyone else?
18 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman, I
19 think the other folks spoke initially.
20 TOMMY DUNN:  Okay.
21 Moving on, remarks from council members.  Ms.
22 Wilson.
23 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
24 Chairman.  I'm sad to report that we've had Mr. Tommy
25 Seigler pass away.  He was a fixture of this courthouse
26 and a legend really.  And I just found out today that
27 Mr. Alton Thompson, who's one of the founders of the
28 Cheddar Fire Department and very staunch community
29 activist in the Cheddar area, he also passed away.
30 We're losing a lot of our hardworking citizens, and
31 that's really sad.  But hopefully we can try to fill
32 some of the efforts that they made. 
33 I wanted to point out, we had a county
34 comprehensive land use mapping and planning session at
35 Spearman Elementary Thursday, three districts, and we
36 only had about 25 people to show up.  It's very vital
37 that our citizens know about this and become informed
38 and get involved in it.  This is the five-year
39 statistical update.  And we will now begin, after we
40 finish this, the 10-year state mandated plan.  And in
41 District 7, we're trying to kind of jumpstart because
42 we have absolutely the hottest growth in the upper part
43 of the District.  And slower, more sustainable growth
44 in the lower part. 
45 One suggestion is, we've had people who wanted to
46 find out when meetings were and so forth.  If they will
47 -- if you will call our clerk to council, she'll put
48 you on the email list and email you when there are
49 committee meetings and so forth.  
50 In this day and age, media is so unreliable.  You



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
34

1 know, smart phones were supposed to be the end all of
2 communications.  And unfortunately, it's worse now than
3 ever, and I've been in public service for 20 years. 
4 And it seemed like back then we were able to
5 communicate and get people to meetings better than we
6 do now.  But it's not by any lack of effort on our
7 part; I get on the phone and call folks too. 
8 Anyway, we've got a lot to be thankful for.  And I
9 do thank everyone who worked with us, and especially
10 Mr. Batson, on the Stormwater Design Manual updates.
11 Hopefully this will eliminate some of the problems that
12 this group of citizens pointed out.  And to be honest
13 with you, my job would be so easy if we had good
14 development.  We've got complaint after complaint with
15 roads and stormwater runoff.  
16 And, Mr. Wright, you're going to be having the joy
17 of dealing with short term rentals shortly.  
18 I guess, along with the good news, we're such a
19 good county and so desirable, a lot of people are
20 coming here and that's causing us to have to pay better
21 attention to matters in that regard.  Thank you. 
22 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
23 Councilman Wright. 
24 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
25 Chairman.  Just very briefly, I want to thank Mr.
26 Burns, his staff, Ms. Adrienne Cole, Mr. Josh Hawkins,
27 everybody knows that we have Upcountry Fiber and the
28 work they've done in providing broadband to several
29 parts of Anderson County.  And they sponsored the
30 concert Friday night out of the civic center with
31 Darius Rucker; a huge turnout.  I've heard, Mr. Burns,
32 what, seven, eight, nine thousand people showed up
33 Friday?  Nine thousand people showed up Friday night. 
34 It was a great showing for Anderson County.  Of course,
35 Mr. Elgin and Mr. Jimmy Davis were both there.  And
36 just it was a really, in my opinion, a shining moment
37 for Anderson County.  And good to see good quality
38 artists back at the Civic Center.  And hope we’ll
39 continue to make that a priority and making an
40 investment in the Civic Center and continue to attract
41 good talent.  Thank you. 
42 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
43 Councilman Elgin.
44 GREG ELGIN:  Thank you, Mr.
45 Chairman.  I just want to say thank you to all our
46 Anderson County employees.  The last couple of weeks I
47 know it's been pretty hot.  If anybody watched the news
48 over this last weekend, we had several incidents over
49 the weekend with some drownings and some other stuff
50 happen.  So just wanted to give a shout out to all the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
35

1 emergency management, all the emergency service people
2 who had to deal with that over this past week and
3 weekend.  And as always, I know it’s -- I know because
4 I did it for years and still do, it’s a very tough,
5 very hard job.  And we appreciate what all of our
6 employees do, especially our emergency services and
7 what we've had to deal with the past couple of weeks,
8 so just wanted to say thank you to all those. 
9 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you,
10 Councilman Elgin.  
11 Councilman Sanders. 
12 BRETT SANDERS:  Nothing at this
13 time, sir. 
14 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you. 
15 Councilman Jimmy Davis. 
16 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
17 Chair.  I just want to echo some of the comments from
18 my fellow council representatives to Mr. Burns and your
19 entire staff.  I mean, Anderson County truly shined
20 last week.  Not only did we have a wonderful event at
21 the civic center Friday night, but we also had a jam-up
22 high school bass fishing tournament going on at the
23 same time.  So they were, they were stretched pretty
24 thin all across the county last week.  And Anderson
25 County really, really showed out.  I mean, I'm really
26 proud of everyone.  We've got the best team in the
27 world.  Wouldn't take anything for any of you.  
28 And I really appreciate you, Mr. Burns, and your
29 leadership with the staff.  And just please echo the
30 council's comments to your entire staff and employees
31 that we're nothing without them.  And they're what
32 makes Anderson County really shine in these events.
33 I'm excited to see what we’ve got coming down the
34 road.  We’ve got Martina McBride.  We’ve got Pit Bull
35 coming.  I’m sorry, I’ll be on vacation.  I won’t be at
36 that one.  But I’m excited about what we have going on. 
37 And I’m thankful that we have a good Council that we
38 can sit down and get some of these changes ironed out. 
39 And we're going to move forward and get better every
40 day.  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
41 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.
42 CINDY WILSON:  Mr. Chairman,
43 may I quickly add?  The two young men from Palmetto
44 High School were second in the nation.  And the boys
45 from Spartanburg won the national championship.  We’ll
46 be getting the Palmetto boys back to recognize them. 
47 Thank you.
48 TOMMY DUNN:  Thank you.  
49 I just want to appreciate everybody, all the hard
50 work they do.  And meeting be adjourned.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 1, 2023
36

1
2 MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:35 P.M.



State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING

AUGUST 15, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT 
GLENN DAVIS
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS
JIMMY DAVIS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
RENEE WATTS
    



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 15, 2023
2

1 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
2 start our meeting of -- special presentation meeting of
3 August 15th.  Call it to order.  I’d like to welcome
4 each and every one of y’all here tonight.  And thank
5 y’all for coming.
6 If there’s no objections, Council, we’re going to
7 flip the order around just a little bit.  I was told
8 there’s some folks from Crescent that’s having a little
9 bit of trouble finding parking places.  I’m going to
10 try to give them time to get here.  Okay?  
11 So if it’s all right with Ms. Wilson, we’re going
12 to do Resolution (b) -- we’re going to move it to (a),
13 and that’s 2023-035.  Ms. Wilson. 
14 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
15 Chairman.  Let me get this turned on.  This is a
16 wonderful occasion to, once again, recognize and honor
17 the Palmetto High School Air Force Junior ROTC upon
18 receiving the Air Force Junior ROTC 2022-23
19 Distinguished Unit Award and the Air Force Junior ROTC
20 2022-23 Silver Star Community Service with Excellence
21 Award; and other matters related thereto.
22 Whereas, the objectives of the Junior ROTC
23 program—located in close to 870 high schools across the
24 United States and abroad with an enrollment of more
25 than 100,000 cadets who complete more than 1.6 million
26 hours of community service each year—are to educate and
27 train high school cadets in citizenship and life
28 skills, promote community service, instill
29 responsibility and self-discipline through character
30 education, and to provide instruction in air and space
31 fundamentals; and
32 Whereas, the Palmetto High School Air Force Junior
33 ROTC is open for enrollment to middle and high school
34 students who are in the 8th to 12th grades; and
35 Whereas, for the sixteenth year, the Palmetto High
36 School Air Force Junior ROTC has won the Air Force
37 Junior ROTC Distinguished Unit Award.  This award
38 recognizes units that have performed well above and
39 beyond normal expectations, and that have distinguished
40 themselves through outstanding service to their school
41 and community while meeting the Air Force Junior ROTC
42 citizen development mission for America.  The “Silver
43 Star” Community Service with Excellence Award
44 recognizes the top 5 percent of all Air Force Junior
45 ROTC units, and this is the eighth year the school has
46 received this prestigious award.
47 Now, therefore, be it resolved that the Anderson
48 County Council hereby congratulates the Palmetto High
49 School Air Force Junior ROTC, instructors Lt. Col Mike
50 Creamer and Master Sergeant David Livingston, expresses



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 15, 2023
3

1 the community’s pride in their accomplishments, and
2 thanks them for representing Anderson County so well in
3 service to their community and country.
4 Resolved in a meeting duly assembled this 15th day
5 of August 2023.
6 May I put that in the form of a motion?
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am. 
8 Have a motion.  Do I have a second?
9 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
11 Councilman Jimmy Davis.  Any discussion?
12 CINDY WILSON:  We’re just so
13 proud of them.  And if we can vote and have everybody
14 come forward.  
15 TOMMY DUNN:   All in favor of
16 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
17 the motion carries unanimously.  Ms. Wilson.
18 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
19 APPLAUSE
20 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
21 move on now.  We’ll put (c) where (b) is.  We’re going
22 to move on to 2023-036.  Ms. Wilson.
23 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you. 
24 This is another proud moment in District 7 in Anderson
25 County’s history.
26 THIS IS A RESOLUTION CONGRATULATING THE TOWN OF
27 WEST PELZER FOR BEING AWARDED THE MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION
28 OF SOUTH CAROLINA’S ACHIEVEMENT AWARD FOR SUPERIOR AND
29 INNOVATIVE EFFORTS IN LOCAL GOVERNMENT.
30 Whereas the Town of West Pelzer has a rich history
31 as a healthy place to live, work, and play, and—as a
32 progressive municipality that builds relationships and
33 community in residents’ lives and Anderson County as a
34 whole—is forever being revitalized, rejuvenated, and
35 re-energized through new businesses and growth of core
36 values and vision; and
37 Whereas the Municipal Association of South Carolina
38 (MASC) accepts award entries each spring from member
39 municipalities to provide officials and employees the
40 opportunity to receive deserved recognition for
41 superior and innovative efforts and to share the best
42 public service ideas in South Carolina; and
43 Whereas the Town of West Pelzer received the MASC
44 award for excellence in planning and implementation
45 that “[aims] to reverse the decline of its downtown
46 Frankville Business District and transform it into a
47 vibrant commercial space...[seeking] to reinvigorate
48 commerce, reinvent existing spaces and encourage
49 intentional growth...[obtaining] more than $75,000 in
50 grant funds [to] guide...such projects as passive



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 15, 2023
4

1 parks, new downtown public spaces, landscaping,
2 and on-street parking;”
3 Now, therefore, be it resolved, in a meeting duly
4 assembled this fifteenth day of August 2023, that the
5 Anderson County Council congratulates the Town of West
6 Pelzer on this statewide recognition and expresses
7 gratitude to the Town’s officials, staff, and residents
8 for the great partnership between the County and the
9 Town, which makes possible a higher level of service to
10 the residents of Anderson County.
11 And may I put that in the form of a motion?
12 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
13 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes.  Second by
14 Councilman Jimmy Davis.  Any discussion?
15 CINDY WILSON:  May I very
16 quickly point out, I first became acquainted with Mayor
17 Blake Sanders when he called -- gosh, I guess it was in
18 2001 -- seeking for some trail efforts in our county. 
19 And it’s just remarkable to see what this young mayor,
20 both professionally and in the town of West Pelzer has
21 accomplished.  We are very grateful to him and Ms.
22 Paula Peyton and the many wonderful people in West
23 Pelzer.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
25 Anyone else?
26 JOHN WRIGHT:  Mr. Chairman,
27 if I may?
28 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
29 Wright and then we’ll go to Councilman Davis.
30 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you.  If
31 I could just to echo Ms. Wilson’s comments.  Mayor
32 Sanders, I’ve had the opportunity to work with you on a
33 number of fronts, consider you a friend and really
34 admired the great work that you and Ms. Peyton have
35 done over there in West Pelzer and everything that
36 y’all have done.  And appreciate the great work.  And
37 look forward to continuing to work with you in other
38 facets moving forward.  Thank you.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
40 Councilman Jimmy Davis.
41 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
42 Chair.  I just want to say congratulations and thank
43 you to the town of West Pelzer.  Having grown up in
44 northern Anderson County, I’m a frequent traveler
45 through and in West Pelzer and enjoy seeing the
46 progress that’s taking place.  And Mayor Sanders, you
47 and your staff and the whole town, I mean, you guys
48 have just done a phenomenal job of making Anderson
49 County proud.  And I appreciate you and the whole town
50 there and we look forward to what the future holds for



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 15, 2023
5

1 West Pelzer and what the future holds for you, Mayor
2 Sanders.  Thank you.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?
4 I just want to say congratulations, also.  And
5 Mayor, I’m glad to see you up and about.
6 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
7 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
8 unanimously. 
9 Ms. Wilson.
10 CINDY WILSON:  May I have
11 everyone down front.
12 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
13 APPLAUSE
14 TOMMY DUNN:   Now we’re going
15 to move on to the item that was originally (a) and now
16 it’s (c), resolution 2023-026.  Councilman Elgin. 
17 Councilman.
18 GREG ELGIN:  Thank you, sir. 
19 THIS IS A RESOLUTION HONORING AND RECOGNIZING THE
20 CRESCENT ELITE SHOOTERS TEAM FOR THEIR MANY SUCCESSES;
21 AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.
22 Whereas, the Crescent Elite Shooters sporting clays
23 team brings its school and the wider community great
24 pride and recognition year after year; and
25 Whereas, the team’s student competitors, the
26 coaches, the volunteers, and everyone in the community
27 who supports the team are to be commended for providing
28 young people with such a meaningful community within
29 which they flourish and prepare to be the future
30 leaders our county needs; and
31 Whereas, following two national championships in
32 2022 and 2023, the team has continued to compete at an
33 extremely high level this season, honoring and carrying
34 on the singular spirit of their former head coach, the
35 late Lester Brock, who recently passed away;
36 Therefore, be it resolved, in a meeting duly
37 assembled this fifteenth day of August 2023, that the
38 Anderson County Council hereby congratulates the
39 Crescent Elite Shooters for their accomplishments and
40 wishes each of you great success in your future
41 endeavors.
42 I make that in the form of a motion.
43 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion;
45 have a second?  Ms. Wilson seconds it.  Any discussion?
46 GREG ELGIN:  Yes.
47 TOMMY DUNN:   Go ahead,
48 Councilman Elgin.
49 GREG ELGIN:  I just want to
50 say I know we’ve been trying to get y’all here for a



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - August 15, 2023
6

1 while, so we appreciate it.  And in the meantime, I
2 know we had the 2022 and we’ve had another one again. 
3 So we do appreciate everything y’all do.  Y’all are a
4 very good asset to our community and the Starr-Iva
5 area.  So thank y’all so much for what you do.  I know
6 many students and many people have come through there,
7 people that I’ve known that have done very, very well. 
8 It’s just great that we have this and that y’all are
9 doing a great job with it.  So thank y’all so very much
10 for what you do.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
12 Anyone else?
13 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
14 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
15 CINDY WILSON:  We’re so proud
16 of y’all, and just your great testimony to Mr. Brock’s
17 faith and hard work in coaching y’all.  And I believe I
18 need to take a few shooting lessons from y’all.  We’re
19 so proud of you.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Yeah.  Anybody
21 else?  I just want to congratulate y’all, too.  Thank
22 y’all very much.  Y’all represent Anderson County very,
23 very well.
24 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
25 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
26 unanimously. 
27 Councilman Elgin.
28 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
29 APPLAUSE
30 TOMMY DUNN:   That will
31 conclude this part of our meeting.  We’ll reconvene
32 back here at 6:30 for our regular Council meeting.
33
34 (SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:16 P.M.)



7

State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING

AUGUST 15, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT
GLENN DAVIS 
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS
JIMMY DAVIS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
JORDAN THAYER
RENEE WATTS



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
8

1 TOMMY DUNN:   I’d like to
2 call the regular Anderson County Council meeting of
3 August 15th to order.  I’d like to welcome each and
4 every one of y’all here tonight.  And thank y’all for
5 coming out.
6 First order of business is we’re going to have the
7 invocation and pledge of allegiance by Councilman
8 Wright.  
9 Before we do that, let’s all stand and have a
10 moment of silence and prayer and keep the Kinley family
11 in our thoughts and prayers.  He’s the young man that
12 passed away in that tree accident last week.  He was a
13 volunteer firefighter at Broadway Fire Department. 
14 Let’s keep him and his family in our thoughts and
15 prayers, please.
16 MOMENT OF SILENCE
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Amen.  
18 Mr. Wright.
19 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE BY JOHN WRIGHT 
20 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
21 move on now to approval of the minutes of the July 18th
22 meeting.  Are there any corrections to be made to
23 those?  Do we have a motion to move these forward?
24 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
25 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
27 Wilson; second by Councilman John Wright.  All in favor
28 of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign. 
29 Show the motion carries unanimously. 
30 We’ll move on now to item number 4, citizens
31 comments.  When Mr. Harmon calls your name, please step
32 forward, state your name and district for the record. 
33 You have three minutes on agenda items only this go-
34 around and address the chair, please.  Mr. Harmon.
35 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
36 first speaker is John Barrett.
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Barrett. 
38 Right over there will be fine.
39 JOHN BARRETT:  My name is John
40 Barrett.  I live ---
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Step right
42 there to that mic.
43 JOHN BARRETT:  My comment is
44 regarding the proposed I believe fee structure for The
45 Shores of Asbury.  First of all, let me begin, I am not
46 a CPA which might go a long way to explain my
47 confusion.  As I have been reading through the sublease
48 agreement and other related documents to that, my
49 understanding is that the fee structure is going to be
50 3% of gross sales.  If the gross margin is 15% or



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
9

1 above, but 3% of net sales, if it's 3%, or if it's 15%
2 or lower.  That led me to the definitions that were
3 used in the sublease agreement of what is gross sales
4 and what is net sales.  My understanding is that net
5 sales are gross sales minus returns, discounts and
6 allowances.  All right.  It’s defined in the sublease
7 agreement as being that less all the operating expenses
8 combined, which didn't make a whole lot of sense to me. 
9 What it sounded like to me was that the sublease
10 agreement was saying that net sales were equivalent to
11 the profit margin.  Those two can't be the same.  Just
12 for an example, if the margin fell below 15% and went
13 to a 3% fee of net sales, then basically you're handing
14 the operator the keys to the kingdom.  And if I were
15 that operator, I would make sure that my expenses were
16 at least 86% every day and month to escape that.  
17 All right.  So I just needed to make a comment of
18 saying, for me, I'm confused.  I don't know if you can
19 answer that right there or just put it down there, but
20 there's got to be some consistency between what is
21 gross sales and what is net sales, if that makes any at
22 all sense.  I mean, for example, if it turns out to be
23 3%, if they get close to the end of an operating
24 quarter, or whatever else, and their gross margin is
25 18%, if I had this deal, and net sales were defined as
26 they are in the sublease agreement, I'd give my CEO a
27 $10,000 bonus to get myself underneath that 15%.  If in
28 fact, the definition that is in the sublease agreement
29 holds.  So that's basically my comment. 
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, sir.
31 Next.
32 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
33 Jeanne Norse. 
34 JEANNE NORSE:  Good evening,
35 my name is Jeanne Norse.  And again I'm with the
36 Ordinance regarding Hartwell Lake Development Group. 
37 I’m concerned about the cost that incurs to the town to
38 deal with the road systems and the heavier traffic
39 after you get -- after net sales.  You could
40 potentially end up having less tax revenue coming from
41 them than what I'm paying on my residential lot of less
42 than an acre. 
43 So under the leadership of the Council and the
44 county as a business entity, hopefully the county will
45 make the best business deal possible so that we will
46 actually see revenue.  With that thought, if Lake
47 Hartwell Development Group or the deal that they have
48 with the county areas that we’ve subleased off of the
49 Corps, that if there is not a profit shown adequate to
50 cover the costs of roads and other infrastructure that



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
10

1 gets destroyed in the way, I propose that you suspend
2 their access to the other properties until a decent
3 profit is noted to the county.  
4 So the county can make a good profit if it manages
5 it and has day passes such as River Fork.  It’s really
6 nice out there.  But I would like to see the county
7 make a profit and have the residents have good access
8 for an inexpensive place to go.  Instead of $36 per kid
9 for two hours.  The rates are pretty high.  Hopefully
10 that will get worked out.  Thank you.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Harmon. 
12 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
13 Marie or Maris Hollis. 
14 MARIA HOLLIS:  I'm Maria
15 Hollis.  I am from Piedmont Emergency Relief Center. 
16 We’re a local food bank in District 6.  And I just want
17 to thank you for putting me on the agenda. 
18 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
19 Mr. Harmon. 
20 LEON HARMON:  Next speaker is
21 Charlene Speltz.  
22 CHARLENE SPELTZ:  Hi, Charlene
23 Speltz, Piedmont, South Carolina and I'm a District 6
24 voter.  I want to thank you for putting us on the
25 agenda with the Piedmont Historic Preservation Society.
26 And of course, our Piedmont Emergency Relief.  I am a
27 board member of both of these societies.  And what we
28 are doing in Piedmont is incredible.  And so much of
29 what we're doing we have this Council to thank.  We
30 have you as a council, we have Anderson County, our
31 Councilman Jimmy Davis.  Y'all have been behind us all
32 the way.  We are so excited about the Riverfront Park
33 that's coming in.  Things are happening in Piedmont.
34 And if you haven't been down there to see us, please
35 do.  Give me a call.  We will take you on a little tour
36 of everything that's going on.  But I thank you, lady
37 and gentlemen for everything that you do and allow us
38 to do in Piedmont. 
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
40 Mr. Harmon. 
41 LEON HARMON:  No one else is
42 signed up, Mr. Chairman. 
43 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
44 Harmon. 
45 We’re going to move on now to item number 5,
46 Piedmont Historical Preservation Society presentation.
47 Mr. Hursey.  Help him out, Mr. Burns, so he can go
48 wherever he needs to go.
49 JOE HURSEY:  Thank you. 
50 Appreciate it.  Okay, I'm Joe Hursey from the Piedmont



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
11

1 Historical Preservation Society and why we're here and
2 why we're talking about a museum.  I also teach history
3 at a college here, and this is American history.  I've
4 got a volume one and volume two.  The book heavily
5 leans on textile industry in the north.  It doesn't
6 mention our contribution to the south.  Doesn't talk
7 anything about that.  This is really short -- we're
8 being shorted here of all the great things we did in
9 this industry that made this upstate here and really
10 turned it around.  And unfortunately, there's no
11 mention -- and this thing covers chapters and chapters
12 and chapters and it's all about mostly in
13 Massachusetts.  
14 So again, why is this important to us here?
15 Piedmont mills were the first mills constructed in the
16 Upstate, playing a part in the areas of industrial
17 movement after the Civil War.  The Piedmont mill also
18 had the new South movement within this area.  The
19 successes of that mill specifically demonstrated the
20 economic importance of building more mills such as the
21 mills even here in Anderson, and many other mills that
22 you see throughout the Upstate.  There’s many articles
23 that these other industrialists watched Hammett to see
24 what Henry P. Hammett, the builder of Piedmont, what he
25 did, what his successes were and he even educated them
26 and guided them to build all these other mills you see
27 around here.  And then H.P. Hammett, founder of the
28 manufacturing, very little is written about him.  This
29 was an industrialist of the South.  He's considered the
30 big four of South Carolina industrialists.  And you
31 will find no more written about this man than a one
32 page article.  There's nothing extends past one page. 
33 If you go all the way back from now to his birth, it is
34 not there.  And also this ignores his accomplishments
35 as well as the people that worked there, these mill
36 people, the local people of these towns, it ignores
37 their accomplishments here and their contributions to
38 the textile mills and American history on a national
39 level here.  
40 And so we're doing our work here at Piedmont.  You
41 see a lot of people that are here that represent and
42 support me and these are also volunteers and we are in
43 there at least once a week, if not more than that,
44 working towards this here.  So far we have raised
45 $330,000.  We've raised $330,000.  We’ve raised
46 $330,000 to purchase our building which we have done. 
47 This building, the exterior renovation is completed. 
48 Now we're working on raising money to finish the
49 interior ... 
50 MR. HURSEY IS NO LONGER AT MIC, 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
12

1 THUS SOME COMMENTS ARE INAUDIBLE
2 Also the building you're looking at is the oldest
3 standing YWCA building ... And we're not just sitting
4 there and taking care of the building ...  We're
5 actually doing a lot of work here.  This slide right
6 here you see is a completed project here.  Last
7 September, we applied for and were awarded a $4,400
8 grant through the state ... first founders coming into
9 that area all the way up to 2000.  This took us about
10 six months and about two dozen hands to get this done
11 here.  But now it’s organized here.  It’s organized to
12 the point that we have an itemized listing.  If you
13 look for a specific document you will find that on our
14 itemized listing which is online. ... ready for
15 research.  And what I mean ready for research, we’ve
16 had researchers in every day using that material since
17 the first week of June up until even today we had
18 researchers.  People are looking for this type of
19 material.  It has a lot of historical value there.  
20 And so with that there, I'll move on here.  With
21 that, we also ... formed a partnership with USC.  They
22 reached out to us; they saw the material we had, just
23 out of coincidence here, and we developed a firsthand
24 ... internship ...  They turned around and helped us
25 there to finish the grant.  They also ... 
26 I’m sorry.  Sorry about that, guys.  So with that
27 though, the teacher here, Kelly Pike (phonics), she won
28 an academic award through USC for that work there.  And
29 she's going to continue that course again through next
30 semester here.  She says she will continue working this
31 until the end of time because of the quality of this
32 type of historical documents for her history students. 
33 And with her history students, we were talking about
34 that, they went ahead and -- two of her students went
35 ahead and created a digital online exhibit -- our
36 museum is not open, so what can be offered to the
37 public until then.  Her students went out and they
38 created an online exhibit based on historical materials
39 from our collection there.  The virtual exhibit is on
40 the history of a local Piedmont family and their
41 relationship and their actions during World War Two. 
42 And so these two students also won academic awards
43 through their university for this project here and is
44 recognized for the depth and the significance of the
45 material in there and their work with that there.  
46 So again here, why is this important to Anderson
47 County and to you guys here?  You already have a museum
48 here.  It is a fine museum.  I've been down to it, and
49 I really like it.  I've met the people down there.  But
50 Piedmont’s focus is not on collecting general Anderson



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
13

1 County history.  You've already got a fine museum and
2 staff doing that.  Our focus is trying to gather up all
3 this loose mill history documentation that is floating
4 out there and assemble a one place -- one stop place
5 where people can come and research and we can display
6 exhibits and we can teach about this incredible history
7 of South Carolina.  And we're doing that.  Right now we
8 probably have about 100,000.  We have about another
9 50,000 more documents coming and documents are coming
10 in every day.  People are dumping them in there every
11 day we are open.  And so we are assembling them as fast
12 as we can.  And so our purpose is going to be to
13 protect, preserve and tell this history there.  
14 If you look at the Smithsonian Museum, you go
15 downtown Washington, DC, there’s 17 Smithsonians there. 
16 Why are they all grouped together?  Because you can go
17 to one place at one area and you see multiple museums. 
18 This will be a benefit also for Anderson County as well
19 as us.  We are so close visitors will come.  They can
20 make a day trip by hitting multiple museums.  And this
21 is something that is really important.  And vice versa. 
22 They can go from Piedmont to Anderson or Anderson to
23 Piedmont there.  And so besides protecting and sharing
24 this history for you all, Councilmen, why is this
25 important to you?  This also has to be is that the
26 great thing about museums is that they are a great
27 source of tax revenue.  And instead of local taxes,
28 these are visitor taxes.  And what's better than
29 someone else's money?  You know, exactly.  You've got
30 visitors that are going to come in, they're going to
31 visit, they're going to enjoy and see the great sites
32 that we have to offer here.  And they're going to turn
33 around and spend their money and they're going to
34 leave.  This is wonderful here.  And so according to
35 your Chamber of Commerce, the average visitor drops in
36 about $75 when they visit this area here.  And with
37 that there, this museum when it opens up, it will bring
38 in at least 500 visitors, and that's just an easy
39 estimate, that will come in annually here.  And so with
40 that there that's about -- with $75, you're talking
41 about $40,000 a year to be dropped into the local area. 
42 I've done this before.  I was out in Kansas before I
43 started with my other job here.  At my other job we
44 built -- did the same thing and they gave us 11,000 a
45 year and we were able to show we were bringing in about
46 45,000 a year in revenue within our first year.  So
47 this thing is not only just an amenity, but also a
48 benefit to the community there.  
49 And so with that there, here's one of my last
50 slides here.  H.P. Hammett actually went to this same



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
14

1 Council in 1877.  Hopefully we don't have to wait 150
2 years to come to you all and ask for help.  But this is
3 1877, he actually came here and actually was a line
4 item on y’all’s budget here.  And he was actually the
5 largest line item of $500 for that bridge that bridged
6 both sides of Piedmont together there and that
7 community together.  This is the article I found there. 
8 And so with that there as you can see, we're
9 working hard.  We're putting something together.  We've
10 got something real.  We've got the building.  We've got
11 the material, the archives, we're just trying to finish
12 up and get the remaining money so we can finish the
13 interior and open this great building up.
14 And again, like I say, I've been a volunteer with
15 this museum for approximately two and a half years. 
16 Before that I left my position in Washington, DC with
17 the Smithsonian and I was a historian within the
18 archives.  And so with this type of material that we're
19 working with and what I'm talking about here, and the
20 quality of it, it is on a Smithsonian level.  It is
21 incredible material.  I invite y'all to come down and
22 see it.  Y'all would be blown away.  This stuff
23 actually sat in people's closets and attics and drawers
24 and whatever and now we have it and it's in the
25 condition it is.  And so based on my experience, my job
26 was I worked with visiting researchers to help them 
27 research.  This is the material people want to see. 
28 And this is what they want to see and they will come
29 far and large once we get this open and we're able to
30 support this type of research here. 
31 So again, if you have any questions, please let me
32 know.  You have a package for our grant request sitting
33 in front of y'all.  And I appreciate the time that you
34 all have given to us here.  And again, our goal is to
35 open by 2024.  We appreciate any support you can give
36 us there.  Thank you very much. 
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Appreciate it.
38 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair, if I
39 may ---
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
41 JIMMY DAVIS:  --- just add
42 one thing to Mr. Hursey’s -- if you didn’t know, at one
43 time Piedmont Manufacturing was the most
44 technologically advanced textile mill in the world.  
45 JOE HURSEY:  It was.  It was
46 actually the first ---
47 JIMMY DAVIS:  My granddaddy
48 was a floor sweeper there.
49 JOE HURSEY:  Sir?
50 JIMMY DAVIS:  My granddaddy



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
15

1 was a floor sweeper there and somebody talked him into
2 running for office.  And he won.
3 JOE HURSEY:   It was actually
4 the first and only mill in the south that actually sold
5 to Asia by 1880s under their own brand name.  So they
6 were very a impressive mill at the time.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Appreciate it.
8 We’re going to move on now to item 6(a), Ordinance
9 third readings.  This will be 2023-027, an Ordinance to
10 amend an agreement for the development of a joint
11 county industrial and business park (Workforce Housing)
12 of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge
13 the park to include certain property of Gordon Street
14 Affordable, LP; and other matters related thereto.
15 Like I said, this is third reading.  Mr. Nelson,
16 would you speak on this before we go into a public
17 hearing?
18 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
19 Chairman, members of Council.  This is a Greenville
20 County project and goes into the multi-county
21 industrial park.  It allows them opportunities to
22 garner state incentives, as well as to structure their
23 fee agreement that they have in working out their
24 project in the housing -- work force housing unit that
25 they’re building over there.
26 Of course, this comes to Council as a
27 recommendation from us, but as a courtesy and request
28 from Greenville County Council.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
30 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to speak
31 on this matter, please step forward, state your name
32 and district for the record, address the chair, and
33 you’ve got three minutes.  Public hearing.  Anyone at
34 all?  Hearing and seeing none, the public hearing will
35 be closed.  Do we have a motion to put this on the
36 floor?
37 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
38 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
40 Councilman Jimmy Davis; second Ms. Cindy Wilson.  Any
41 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands.
42 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
43 unanimously. 
44 We’re going to move on to item number 6(b),
45 2023-028, an Ordinance authorizing the execution and
46 delivery of a special source revenue credit agreement
47 by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and Soli
48 Organic Inc, with respect to special source revenue
49 credits to be applied against fee in lieu of tax
50 payments related to certain investments in the County;



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
16

1 and other matters related thereto. 
2 Again, this is third reading.  Mr. Nelson, if you
3 would, before we go into public hearing, say a few
4 things.
5 BURRISS NELSON:  Yes, sir, and
6 thank you, Mr. Chairman.  This is actually a name
7 change from the original project that was Project Flay. 
8 It’s Shenandoah Growers and they have a project called
9 That’s Tasty.  If you go to the grocery store, those
10 little plastic sleeves that have cilantro and all fresh
11 spices and those kinds of things in the vegetable case. 
12 But this is the same company.  It’s just a name change. 
13 And this is to correct -- or to make the name change to
14 Soli and allow them to be able to -- it didn’t change
15 the company, even their IEN, their tax number is still
16 the same.  It’s just a name change within that, and
17 this allows that name change.
18 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
19 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
20 Chairman.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
22 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to speak
23 to this matter, please step forward and state your name
24 and district and address the chair, please.  You’ve got
25 three minutes.  Public hearing.  Anyone at all?  Seeing
26 and hearing none, the public hearing will be closed. 
27 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
28 GREG ELGIN:  Motion.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
30 Councilman Elgin; second Councilman Sanders.  Open the
31 floor up for discussion.  All in favor of the motion
32 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
33 carries unanimously.
34 We’re going to move on now to item number 7(a),
35 Ordinance second reading, 2023-029, an Ordinance to
36 amend section 8-79, related to building codes, of the
37 Anderson County Code of Ordinances; and other matters
38 related thereto.
39 I’m going to ask Mr. Thayer if he’ll step forward
40 and explain this a little bit for the folks that don’t
41 know.
42 JORDAN THAYER:  Thank you, Mr.
43 Chairman and Council.  This Ordinance relates to our
44 Building and Codes, specifically the International
45 Property Maintenance Code.  We’re defining specifically
46 what sections we are adopting and not adopting and
47 clarifying that we haven’t or are not adopting the
48 administrative procedure because the courts in this
49 state already require us to give due process to people
50 and that is sufficiently fair because the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
17

1 administrative procedures in the International Property
2 Maintenance Code can be quite burdensome.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
4 Thayer.  Keep in mind, this is the maintenance code,
5 not building code.  Do we have a motion to move this
6 forward?
7 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
8 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
10 Sanders; second Councilman John Wright.  Any
11 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
12 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
13 unanimously.
14 We’re going to move on now to item number 7(b),
15 second readings, 7(b), 2023-030, an Ordinance to amend
16 sections 10-20 through 10-36, related to junkyards and
17 open storage, of the Anderson County Code of
18 Ordinances; and other matters related thereto.
19 Again, I’m going to ask counsel, our legal counsel,
20 Mr. Thayer if he would hit the highlights on this for
21 us, please.
22 JORDAN THAYER:  Thank you, Mr.
23 Chairman and Council.  This relates to junkyards and
24 open storages.  We’re going through and expanding the
25 applicability.  We’re also changing some terms because
26 we have a codes enforcement officer, so we’re making
27 sure that the names are consistent throughout the
28 statute.  And we’ve also added an enforcement provision
29 that will make it easier for our new codes enforcement
30 officer to enforce these junkyards and open storage
31 rules.
32 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  Do
33 we have a motion to put this on the floor?  Motion by
34 Councilman Elgin.  Do I have a second?
35 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by Mr.
37 Councilman Sanders.  Any discussion?
38 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
40 CINDY WILSON:  I know we need
41 this badly, but under junkyard definition, this
42 definition does not include litter, trash or other
43 debris scattered along or upon the highways or
44 temporary operations and outdoor storage of 90 days or
45 less.  I was kind of curious about the ninety days are
46 less for trash on the highway.
47 JORDAN THAYER:  I think
48 specifically that’s maybe trying to distinguish between
49 litter and open storage.  That’s a big problem that we
50 have.  Some people’s litter they would consider their



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
18

1 storage and their property than someone else may
2 consider it.  But I can specifically look at that
3 provision and give you a more specific answer if I
4 could have time to look at the definition.
5 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you.
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
7 Anyone else?  I just want to say, I appreciate all your
8 hard work on this, Mr. Thayer, and working with our
9 code enforcement officer and our building codes
10 official.  This is something badly needed, especially
11 in the court system.  We’ve had some cases come up and
12 judges look the other way.  Appreciate you working on
13 this and helping with this to clean up Anderson County.
14 JORDAN THAYER:  Thank you, sir. 
15 I’ve got to admit that Matthew Stipe has been a great
16 help in this and he’s made this possible for me, as
17 well as the other people in the Planning Department.
18 TOMMY DUNN:   He’s a great
19 hire.  All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
20 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
21 unanimously. 
22 We’re going to move on now to item (a), Ordinance
23 first reading.  It’s going to be 2023-031, an Ordinance
24 authorizing the execution and delivery of a special
25 source credit agreement by and between Anderson County,
26 South Carolina, Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC,
27 D/B/A The Shores of Asbury with respect to certain
28 economic development property in the County, whereby
29 such property will receive certain special source
30 credits in respect of investment in related
31 infrastructure; and other matters related thereto. 
32 Mr. Harmon.
33 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman
34 and members of Council, the next four items on the
35 agenda involve the Asbury Park Project.  So I’ll begin
36 with a short introduction of what’s been going on with
37 this project.
38 It’s been going on for several years.  The Corps of
39 Engineers ceased operation of a number of recreation
40 facilities on Lake Hartwell in Anderson County,
41 including Asbury, River Forks and Weldon Island Parks. 
42 The county entered into a long term lease agreement
43 with the Corps for these facilities.  We did that --
44 and then we looked at entering into a sublease
45 agreement.  And the way we did that was to put out an
46 RFP for the red zone projects around Lake Hartwell.
47 The county received one proposal from Lake Hartwell
48 Development Group.  The county’s lease with the Corps
49 was executed on October 7, 2020.  Our sublease with
50 Lake Hartwell Development Group, which was for Asbury



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
19

1 Park, was executed on December 15, I believe, of 2020. 
2 Development planning and construction commenced after
3 that sublease agreement was in place.  The sublease
4 agreement itself provided that a fee agreement would be
5 developed and the project would be placed in a multi-
6 county park agreement.  Very similar to the previous
7 one we talked about with Greenville County.  This
8 approach would allow the company to pay a fee in lieu
9 of ad valorem property taxes on this project.  And the
10 way that works is -- and I think any fee in lieu
11 agreement works this way -- it is paid one time a year,
12 just like if the property taxes were ad valorem taxes.  
13 So the first item before you is Ordinance 2023-031. 
14 This Ordinance approves a special source credit
15 agreement for the Asbury Park Project.  The agreement
16 provides a fee in lieu of ad valorem property tax.  I'd
17 like to point out to the Council that two definitions
18 have been modified, those being the definitions of
19 gross sales and the definition of net sales.  Those
20 were -- have been modified to include -- or to make
21 sure that rents from ancillary business in -- with
22 gross sales are a source of revenue that would be
23 included in any calculation that is made.  
24 The net sales definition was modified to remove
25 selling general and administrative expenses so as to
26 clear up some of those concerns about the company may
27 be controlling the way the formula would work, that is
28 whether the profits would be above 15% or under 15%.  
29 I would like to also note that exhibit B contains a
30 fee payment certification and the methodology for
31 calculating the fee each year.  That's a summary of the
32 ordinance that you have before you now.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
34 motion?
35 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
36 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
38 Sanders; second by Mr. -- Councilman Wright.  Any
39 discussion?  Councilman Sanders.
40 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Harmon,
41 prior to them taking over, the Corps, we didn’t receive
42 any tax revenue on any of those, have we?
43 LEON HARMON:  No, we don't.
44 And, of course, the Corps still owns the property.  We
45 have a long term lease with the Corps.  So the real
46 property itself would not be taxed.  But this would be
47 a method by which we would get tax revenue off of this
48 property by having a private company operate the
49 facility. 
50 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, sir.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
20

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?
2 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
4 CINDY WILSON:  On, well, it’s
5 the first page of the special source credit agreement,
6 that date hasn't been changed from ‘22 to ‘23.
7 LEON HARMON:  I'm sorry, the
8 first page of?
9 CINDY WILSON:  It's part of
10 this ordinance ---
11 LEON HARMON:  The actual
12 special source credit agreement itself?
13 CINDY WILSON:  It's still
14 dated 2022.  Let me find it again. 
15 LEON HARMON:  Well it’s --
16 the page I'm looking at has 2023 on it.  I may be
17 looking -- you may be -- I see the one you're looking
18 at.  It's actually in the introduction.  I missed that. 
19 We'll make that correction for next time.
20 CINDY WILSON:  Well, it’s very
21 confusing to read through.  So I really appreciate the
22 better definitions.  And I'll be studying it more
23 closely.  Thank you. 
24 LEON HARMON:  Yes, ma'am. 
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else? 
26 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
27 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
28 We're going to move on item number 8(b) ---
29 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
30 that is Ordinance number 2023-32.  This is basically a
31 standard Multi-County Park Ordinance that is typically
32 used for economic development projects.  I mentioned
33 that earlier when I talked generally about these four
34 items that are before the Council.  This provides a
35 mechanism for payment of a fee in lieu of ad valorem
36 taxes and how the fee itself will be distributed. 
37 There will be a similar Ordinance to this that would go
38 through Greenville County.  Greenville County would get
39 1% of the revenue off the project, just like Greenville
40 projects give us 1% of revenue off projects that are
41 done in Greenville County.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
43 motion?
44 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
46 Wilson.  Have a second?
47 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
48 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
49 Councilman Wright.  Any discussion?  Mr. Davis,
50 Councilman Jimmy Davis.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
21

1 JIMMY DAVIS:  Does anybody
2 have any projections of what this is really going to
3 mean for us?  
4 LEON HARMON:  I don't have a
5 -- if you want in terms of actual numbers, no, I don't
6 have a projection.  I can -- I will see if we can't
7 work some options up as to what this might look like
8 for next meeting.  I just wasn't -- in getting all
9 these documents put together wasn't able to get that
10 prepared for this particular meeting. 
11 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you. 
12 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?
13 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
14 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
15 We’re going to move on to item number 8(c), 2023-
16 033.  Mr. Harmon.
17 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
18 this ordinance approves an amendment to the sublease
19 agreement to clarify that the sublease itself is with
20 Lake Hartwell Development Group, LLC, doing business as
21 The Shores of Asbury.  This has resulted from an issue
22 raised by the Corps of Engineers when the concession
23 agreement, which is the next item on the agenda, was
24 used -- when the company in that agreement used the
25 company name of The Shores of Asbury, LLC.  And since
26 our sublease agreement only has Lake Hartwell
27 Development Group, LLC on it, the Corps of Engineers
28 only wanted one corporate entity on that agreement. 
29 And so this change will allow the company to use its
30 branding of the project as The Shores of Asbury with
31 the name of the company itself being Lake Hartwell
32 Development Group, LLC, doing business as The Shores of
33 Asbury. 
34 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
35 Thank you, Mr. Harmon.  Do we have a motion to move
36 this forward?
37 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
39 Councilman Wright.  Do we have a second?
40 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
42 Councilman Glenn Davis.  Open the floor up for
43 discussion.  All in favor of the motion show of hands.
44 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
45 unanimously. 
46 We’re going to move on to item number 10.  Mr.
47 Harmon.
48 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
49 this item is the approval of the concession sublease
50 agreement between Lake Hartwell Development Group, LLC



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
22

1 doing business as The Shores of Asbury with Saliedo
2 doing business as El Arriero.  And I’m not very good at
3 Spanish.  I’m really not very good at English, but
4 that's beside the point -- at The Shores of Asbury. 
5 Shores of Asbury was left out.  One thing that I would
6 note to begin with, this is not an agreement with the
7 county itself.  It is an agreement between Lake
8 Hartwell Development Group doing business as The Shores
9 of Asbury and El Arriero at The Shores.  The amendment
10 to this agreement replaces The Shores of Asbury LLC
11 with Lake Hartwell Development Group, LLC, doing
12 business as The Shores of Asbury, which I explained
13 earlier, as to the reasons why the Corps asked for that
14 change.  And certainly, we wanted to address that issue
15 and the Corps asked that we actually approve the
16 agreement to provide notice that the county has --
17 knows about this agreement and has included it in the
18 overall operation. TOMMY DUNN:  
19  Thank you, Mr. Harmon.  Do we have motion on the
20 floor?
21 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
22 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
24 Sanders; second Councilman Wright.  Now open the floor
25 up for discussion. 
26 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
27 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma'am. 
28 CINDY WILSON:  Through all of
29 these agreements, when it comes to the insurance, it
30 seems like in today's litigious society, maybe a
31 million dollars per claim might be -- might not be
32 adequate.  Do we need to look at that across all of
33 these agreements?
34 LEON HARMON:  I’m not sure
35 which agreement you're talking about, Ms. Wilson.  If
36 you're talking about the concession agreement, that's
37 not an agreement with the county.  That's an agreement
38 between The Shores -- well, let me back up and be
39 correct -- perfectly correct about this.  It’s an
40 agreement between Lake Hartwell Development Group doing 
41 business as The Shores of Asbury and the concession El
42 Arriero at The Shores who is operating the restaurant
43 out there. 
44 CINDY WILSON:  Right.  In the
45 previous agreements, it's still a million dollars.  And
46 I just wonder if we might ought to look into that
47 before we come for the second reading. 
48 JOHN WRIGHT:  I think she’s
49 referring to the agreement between us and Shores of
50 Asbury, it does list a million. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
23

1 LEON HARMON:  Yeah, this is 
2 -- you’re talking about the sublease agreement now ---
3 CINDY WILSON:  The previous
4 one, too.
5 LEON HARMON:  I believe the
6 first sublease agreement, the original sublease
7 agreement, if you will, had a million dollars in it, as
8 well.  I just point that out to you.  But yes, we can
9 take a look at that. 
10 CINDY WILSON:  I looked
11 through all of that and then I remembered seeing that.
12 That was one of the questions I had hoped to ask you
13 about this afternoon, but we weren't able to make a
14 connection.  My concern is that if a child is hurt,
15 heaven forbid, because it sounds like a wonderful
16 facility, but some of the medical costs for injuries
17 now would exceed a million.  So it would be prudent, I
18 think, for us to look at that carefully.  Thank you. 
19 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else? 
20 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
21 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
22 We’re going to move on to item number 11, opioid
23 recovery fund proposal.  Mr. Burns. 
24 RUSTY BURNS:  Mr. Chairman,
25 as you know the County currently has $3.56 million.  We
26 received that from the opioid recovery settlement.  We
27 have placed before Council tonight two items.  One is
28 to start a detention center treatment program.
29 Currently under the Mental Health provisions we have at
30 our jail we only received six hours of mental health
31 and/or drug education a week.  We would like to change
32 that by using this money.  With the opioid program, we
33 would expand the existing medication assisted
34 treatment, health and wellness programs offered to
35 inmates suffering from addiction and to support
36 contractual services that will provide licensed mental
37 health and behavioral services on a full time basis at
38 the detention center.  The medication assisted
39 treatment program is 22,650.  Medical staff expansion
40 that will give us two more days of professional medical
41 services at $33,174.  And then we would have contracted
42 mental health behavioral services 40 hours a week at
43 115,000.  Total project cost with that item is 170,824.
44 We've also worked with two treatment programs in
45 Anderson County.  One is the Bridge Center.  That is
46 for males.  Shalom House, that is for females.  What
47 we're trying to do is establish a bridge that when you
48 get out of our jail, if you are court directed or you
49 voluntarily want to go there that we would provide 10
50 scholarships for the Bridge Center and ten scholarships



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
24

1 for Shalom House.  That total cost would be $98,000. 
2 Total amount that we're proposing is $268,824. And
3 that's what we would like to do.  
4 And we will be bringing another proposal next week
5 that we're working on with the coroner's office, and
6 that will do an education component in schools.  It
7 will also be paid by this and it was also with the new
8 coroner that was approved.  And with the grant money we
9 received from that, that person will also be involved
10 in that effort.  So we think that we will have an
11 outreach to the schools, civic groups and we'll also
12 have a place for people to go, plus increased help for
13 people while they're in our detention center.  So
14 hopefully they'll have a better chance.  And the whole
15 idea is to stop addiction and stop people from
16 revisiting the Anderson County Detention Center.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  Do
18 we have motion?
19 JOHN WRIGHT:  So moved.
20 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
22 Councilman Wright and second Councilman Sanders.  Open
23 the floor up for discussion?
24 JOHN WRIGHT:  Mr. Chair?
25 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
27 Wright and then Ms. Wilson.
28 JOHN WRIGHT:  I was just
29 going to say, Mr. Burns, appreciate you and your staff. 
30 I know there were some strings attached, some
31 restrictions on that money, but The Bridge Center and
32 Shalom House are two outstanding organization that we
33 have right here in our county.  So excited to see that
34 be put to good use.  Thank you. 
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
36 Ms. Wilson. 
37 CINDY WILSON:  And I echo Mr.
38 Wright’s sentiments.  Three or four years ago, a lady
39 who was the stepmother of a young woman who went
40 through the Shalom House program contacted me telling
41 me how wonderful that program was.  And the young
42 person in her life came out clean, on a good path to
43 recovery.  And the last I heard things are still going
44 well.  So that is a very encouraging opportunity for
45 people who have these problems to take advantage of.
46 Thank you. 
47 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
48 Anyone else?  I just want to say I want to appreciate
49 and thank staff to come up with this.  We’ve got a
50 small, not near enough, to help out as far as mental



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
25

1 health at our jail facility and this is going to be a
2 big help.  And it’s a program that’s worked; it’s
3 proven it’s worked.  And if it’ll help to keep somebody
4 from being re-incarcerated and getting out, that the
5 trouble with too many things now, people are mentally 
6 -- they need something besides jail.  So I’m glad to
7 see us getting this thing out.
8 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
9 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
10 unanimously. 
11 We're gonna move on item number 12, approval of a
12 purchasing card.  Ms. Davis, you want to step up? 
13 RITA DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
14 Chairman.  This is just ---
15 TOMMY DUNN:   Explain how you
16 figured out how to spend some more money?
17 RITA DAVIS:  Sir, this is --
18 our county treasurer is changing bank accounts.  And
19 this is just in order so that we can transfer our P
20 cards and our credit cards to Synovus Bank probably
21 around the first of September if our board approves it
22 tonight. 
23 TOMMY DUNN:   And this is the
24 Anderson County Treasurer's decision, which is his
25 thing to do this?
26 RITA DAVIS:  Most
27 definitely.  Yes, sir.  But your authority is the one
28 that allows us to do so. 
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Yep.  Thank
30 you.  We have motion?
31 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved. 
32 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
34 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Open the floor up for
35 discussion.
36 JOHN WRIGHT:  Mr. Chairman?
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
38 Wright.
39 JOHN WRIGHT:  If I could, I
40 understand this is the treasurer's, you know, desire
41 wanting to do this?  Only comment I had, I see this is
42 Synovus Bank and it's more of a credit line.  But we're
43 going to move some accounts over to Synovus; is that
44 right? 
45 RITA DAVIS:  What about ---
46 JOHN WRIGHT:  Moving accounts
47 over to Synovus Bank.  Is that right?  Some of these
48 accounts are being moved from TD to Synovus, I think I
49 read.  Okay.
50 RITA DAVIS:  We’ll still



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
26

1 have some accounts at TD, but the majority of them, our
2 major accounts will transfer to Synovus.
3 JOHN WRIGHT:  Only comment I
4 would have is just I know that Synovus closed a branch
5 here.  I don't know if they have any physical branches
6 in Anderson County.  So it might be something that we
7 asked the treasurer to look into, is keeping those
8 options here local.
9 RITA DAVIS:  Most
10 definitely, sir.  He's very aware of that. 
11 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you.
12 TOMMY DUNN:   Good point,
13 Councilman Wright.  Appreciate it.  
14 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
15 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
16 carries unanimously. 
17 Thank you, Ms. Davis.
18 Moving on now next is tax levy certification.  Up
19 again.
20 RITA DAVIS:  Yes, sir.  We
21 do this every year.  This is just Council certifying
22 the levy.  These are the numbers that was adopted in
23 our budget anyway, but for our county auditor in order
24 to set the upcoming fall tax levy.  We have no tax
25 increase.  We would just like to point out to the
26 Council.  We’d just like you to raise your hand and
27 prove this, please, sir. 
28 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
29 motion to move this forward?
30 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
31 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
32 Councilman Sanders and second by Councilman Wright. 
33 Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
34 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
35 unanimously.  
36 And thank you, Ms. Davis, you and your staff.
37 RITA DAVIS:  Appreciate it.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
39 move on to item number 14, change order bid approvals.
40 Bid 14(a), bid number 24-001, Anderson County
41 Transportation Committee, Number 132, Resurfacing
42 Project.  Mr. Burns.
43 RUSTY BURNS:  Mr. Chairman,
44 we had two people bid on this project, King Asphalt of
45 Liberty, South Carolina got it.  Total price is
46 $2,696,495.85.  Council will look at the last page and
47 you will see the roads that are going to be paved. 
48 We’re going to pave these roads.  We’ll probably have
49 two other requests from the ATCT to pave even more
50 roads in Anderson County.  But you can see the miles of



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
27

1 road, the Farms at Spearman, Stepping Stone, Vining
2 Crossing, Hawk’s Nest, Natural Springs, Sorrell Oaks,
3 Sentinel Ridge, Roper Road, Hamlin Road, Hamlin Road
4 sections 2 and 3.
5 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
6 motion to move this forward?
7 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
8 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion
10 Councilman Jimmy Davis and second Ms. Wilson.  Open the
11 floor up for discussion.  I just want to clarify one
12 thing.  They are out of Liberty, but they do have a
13 place on McGee Road in Anderson now.
14 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
15 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
16 carries unanimously. 
17 We’re going to move on now to appointments, what
18 not.  We’ll start with Mr. Davis, Mr. Jimmy Davis.
19 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
20 Chair.  It is my honor and privilege tonight to make a
21 motion to appoint Ms. Wendy Tucker to the District 6
22 Library Board position.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
24 motion by Mr. Jimmy Davis.  Do we have a second?
25 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
27 Councilman Sanders.  Any discussion?  All in favor of
28 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
29 the motion carries unanimously.
30 Mr. Sanders, do you have any appointments?
31 BRETT SANDERS:  No, sir.  Not
32 at this time.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Glenn
34 Davis, you got any appointments?
35 GLENN DAVIS:  Not at this
36 time.
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Elgin, do
38 you have any?
39 GREG ELGIN:  No, sir.
40 JOHN WRIGHT:  No, sir.
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
42 Wright does not.  Ms. Wilson.
43 CINDY WILSON:  I do.  Thank
44 you.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.
46 CINDY WILSON:  Tonight
47 District 7 would like to appoint Sara Crocker for the
48 Anderson County Library Board of Trustees.  Make that
49 in the form of a motion.
50 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
28

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson
2 makes a motion.  We  have a second by Councilman Jimmy
3 Davis.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion
4 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
5 carries unanimously.
6 We’re going to move on to item number 16, requests
7 by Council members.  We’ll start with Ms. Wilson.  Ms.
8 Wilson.
9 CINDY WILSON:  Oh, boy, do you
10 want to start with me?  I’ve got a load of them
11 tonight.  Thank you.  District 7 would like to
12 appropriate from our recreation account $500.00 to the
13 Piedmont Historical Preservation Society; $500.00 for
14 the Anderson County Chapter of South Carolina
15 Genealogical Society; and $5,000.00 each for the four
16 towns in District 7, that would be Pelzer, West Pelzer,
17 Williamston, Honea Path for their parks and
18 recreational programs and needs; and $3,500.00 for the
19 Cheddar Youth Center.  And I put that in the form of a
20 motion.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
22 motion by Ms. Wilson.  Do we have a second?
23 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
25 Councilman Sanders.  Any discussion?  All in favor of
26 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
27 the motion carries unanimously.
28 Anything else, Ms. Wilson?
29 CINDY WILSON:  That just about
30 took all of it.  Thank you.
31 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
32 Wright.
33 BRETT SANDERS:  We’re just
34 getting started, Ms. Wilson.
35 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
36 Chairman.  From the District 1 special rec account, I’d
37 like to appropriate $1,000.00 to the Piedmont
38 Historical Preservation Society; $500.00 to the
39 Anderson County Chapter of the South Carolina
40 Genealogical Society; and $1,000.00 to South Main
41 Chapel and Mercy Center.  I’d like to put that in the
42 form of a motion.
43 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by Mr.
45 Wright and second by Councilman Wilson.  Any
46 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
47 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
48 unanimously.
49 Councilman Elgin?
50 GREG ELGIN:  Yes, sir.  From



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
29

1 District 3's special appropriations account, I’d like
2 to do $500.00 to the Piedmont Historical Preservation
3 Society; $250.00 to the Anderson County Chapter of
4 South Carolina Genealogical Society; and $500.00 to
5 South Main Chapel and Mercy Center.  Make that in the
6 form of a motion.
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion
9 by Mr. Elgin, Councilman Elgin, and second by
10 Councilman Sanders.  Any discussion?  All in favor of
11 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
12 the motion carries unanimously.
13 Councilman Glenn Davis.
14 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
15 Chairman.  If I may do all of these at one time,
16 please.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
18 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, sir. 
19 Out of District 2 special rec account, I’d like to
20 appropriate $1,000.00 to Piedmont Historical
21 Preservation Society; $500.00 to the Anderson County
22 Chapter of the South Carolina Genealogical Society; and
23 $2,500.00 to South Main Chapel and Mercy Center.  Put
24 that in the form of a motion, please.
25 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
27 Glenn Davis and second Ms. Cindy Wilson.  Anymore
28 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
29 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
30 unanimously. 
31 Councilman Sanders.
32 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, Mr.
33 Chairman.  Out of my special appropriations account, if
34 I may I’d like to combine them.
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
36 BRETT SANDERS:  Piedmont
37 Historical Preservation Society $1,000.00; Anderson
38 County Chapter of the SC Genealogical Society $400.00;
39 South Main Chapel and Mercy Center $500.00; CESA Tri-
40 County $3,500.00.  And I put that in the form of a
41 motion, sir.
42 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
43 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
44 motion by Mr. Sanders and second by Councilman Wright. 
45 Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
46 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
47 unanimously.
48 Out of District 5's special appropriation account
49 I’d like to appropriate $1,000.00 for the Piedmont
50 Historical Preservation Society; $500.00 to the



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
30

1 Anderson County Chapter of the South Carolina
2 Genealogical Association; and $1,000.00 for South Main
3 Chapel and Mercy Center.  I put that in the form of a
4 motion.
5 JOHN WRIGHT:  Second.
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
7 Councilman Wright.  Any discussion?  All in favor of
8 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
9 the motion carries unanimously.
10 Moving on now to Councilman Jimmy Davis.
11 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
12 Chair.  If I may, I’ll make this -- I need to catch up
13 here on the genealogical, what were they asking for? 
14 Are we there?  
15 So from District 6's special appropriations
16 account, I would like to appropriate $5,000.00 to
17 Piedmont Historical Preservation Society; to Piedmont
18 Emergency Relief Center I’d like to appropriate
19 $2,500.00; to the Anderson County Chapter of the SC
20 Genealogical Society $500.00; South Main Chapel and
21 Mercy Center $1,000.00; and CESA Tri-County Soccer
22 $3,500.00.  I make that in the form of a motion.
23 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion
25 by Mr. Jimmy Davis, Councilman Davis, and second by Ms.
26 Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion
27 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
28 carries unanimously.
29 We’re going to move on now to the Administrator’s
30 report. 
31 RUSTY BURNS:  Nothing at this
32 time, Mr. Chairman.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
34 We're going to move on now to citizens comments.  When
35 Mr. Harmon calls your name, please step forward, state
36 your name and district.  You have three minutes and
37 address chair, please.  Mr. Harmon. 
38 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
39 first speaker is Jill O'Connor. 
40 JILL O’CONNOR:  Good evening. 
41 My name is Jill O'Connor from District 5.  Thank you
42 Council members for hearing my comments this evening. 
43 I came with a number of them.  I appreciate that many
44 were addressed this evening.  I still have just a few. 
45 First on the agenda item Ordinance 2023-33.  Thank
46 you for reviewing this sublease and enforcing the
47 lessee to adhere to it. 
48 Next on the approval of the concession agreement,
49 thank you for making sure an authorized entity is
50 listed on the agreement before approval.  Thank you for



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
31

1 also ensuring this updated agreement is now in line
2 with connecting leases and lessee is adhering to their
3 sublease with Anderson County. 
4 As I -- one question, Mr. Harmon had mentioned that
5 in the definition of net sales that was included in
6 2023-013, that there was the removal of selling in
7 general and administrative expenses.  I wonder still
8 about the taxes, interest and depreciation.  If these
9 are still to be included in that, that still allows the
10 lessee to reduce their margin such that they could get
11 that margin below 15%.  I don't understand where this
12 15% came from.  What was originally stated and said at
13 a Council meeting was 3% of sales.  If you are going to
14 include this profit margin that significantly reduces
15 the net sales.  And somebody else asked about some
16 estimated numbers.  If you remember from the proposal,
17 her estimated sales were I want to say around 153,000 a
18 month, maybe not so much in the winter months,
19 anywhere, coming to about a million and a half.  If you
20 think about that in a 3% of gross sales, that could be
21 $45,000.  If you start reducing this with expenses, and
22 you take 3% of net sales, because also in that
23 proposal, they projected their profit margin to be five
24 to six percent.  This is numbers coming from Lake
25 Hartwell Development Group, not from myself.  Again,
26 look at the proposal if you have any questions on that. 
27 If they're estimating their profit margin to be between
28 five and six percent, they'll never get above that 15%,
29 most likely.  And if they do, then they can add
30 additional expenses in if taxes, interest and
31 depreciation is included in that.  So I urge you to
32 please look at this further, when what was really sold
33 was 3% of sales.  All sales coming into the project. 
34 Thank you very much. 
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Harmon.
36 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
37 next speaker is Dan O'Connor.  
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Next.  
39 LEON HARMON:  That's all that
40 are signed up, Mr. Chairman. 
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
42 We’ll move on to remarks from Council members. 
43 Councilman Jimmy Davis. 
44 JIMMY DAVIS:  I just want to
45 thank all the citizens for coming out tonight, for
46 whatever you're here for and being a part of your
47 county government.  I know it's not always the most
48 interesting things that we do here.  But I appreciate
49 everyone making the drive out and being a part of what
50 we do here in Anderson County.  We've got a great



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
32

1 County, we've got a great Council.  And we work hard to
2 make sure we do the best we can for everyone.  
3 Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
4 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
5  Councilman Sanders. 
6 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, Mr.
7 Chairman.  If I may clear up a few times that I heard
8 the gentleman speak in the beginning that said he
9 wasn't an accountant.  I'm not an accountant.  But I
10 have a finance degree, a MBA and a master's in human
11 resource development.  Net sales, all those things that
12 were brought up are calculated in net sales in a for
13 profit company.  Those companies can't just forge and
14 make up documents.  The IRS audits them.  With a fee in
15 lieu agreement, the state audits that agreement.  I
16 mean, I'm sure there could be something, but it's kind
17 of preposterous to think that you can sit down and run
18 a business and just make up numbers and pull them out
19 of the air.  Business doesn't happen that way.  That's
20 what it sounded like. 
21 But on the other hand, I also want to acknowledge
22 the efforts of our staff during that storm.  I know we
23 had a lot of people out with trees.  I want to
24 acknowledge Duke Energy and their subcontractors for
25 all the work that they've done.  And I ask that we
26 remember the people in Hawaii.  They are far away, but
27 they are still Americans and my heart goes out to them.
28 Thank you. 
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
30 Councilman Glenn Davis.
31 GLENN DAVIS:  Nothing at this
32 time, sir. 
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
34 Councilman Elgin. 
35 GREG ELGIN:  Yes, sir.
36 Again, we just want to say we appreciate everybody
37 being here tonight, appreciate y'all coming out.  For
38 all the presentations, we appreciate that.  I learned a
39 lot.  So thank you.  And again, thank the staff and our
40 emergency services that did go through a lot this past
41 week with all the storms.  We appreciate the work that
42 they always do.  Again, thanks everybody, for coming
43 out. 
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
45 Councilman Wright.
46 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
47 Chairman.  I echo Mr. Elgin and Mr. Sanders’ comments
48 about Anderson County Emergency Management team during
49 the storms we've had as of recent, and the work they're
50 doing, and also Duke Energy.  I had an issue with a



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
33

1 constituent recently.  Reached out to Trent Acker, who
2 took Emily Roberts’ (phonics) place, and he was very
3 responsive and helped address the issue with the
4 constituent.  So just appreciate everybody's hard work
5 and making Anderson County a great place to live. 
6 Thank you. 
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
8 Councilman Wilson. 
9 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
10 Chairman.  Also repeating all of my fellow Council
11 members gratitude to our emergency services and all of
12 our people working on the front.  There were over 100
13 trees down and roads in this county.  It was quite a to
14 do.  We had them down out our way too.  And I also
15 wanted to thank Piedmont Preservation, and all of our
16 great history groups.  Anderson County has such a rich
17 history.  And it's so important for us to recognize and
18 appreciate and honor our good history, and then
19 whatever is bad to recognize, acknowledge and vow never
20 to repeat.  I remember, there was a famous philosopher,
21 I think his name was George Santayna.  And something --
22 he said something along the lines of, if we don't know
23 our history, we're doomed to repeat it.  So it's
24 important.  And I think it's very good for us to
25 recognize our rich history in Anderson County. 
26 And by the way, right down the river from Piedmont
27 is Pelzer.  They took advantage of the Saluda River to
28 bring goods up and down the river from the coast.  And
29 the electric service that they created was way ahead of
30 the time.  And of course out on the Savannah River, we
31 had the electric generating plant there.  We were first
32 I think in the world, weren’t we?  That's pretty
33 amazing.  We have a great group of people in this
34 county.  Thank you. 
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  I'd
36 also like to -- want to give a shout out to Piedmont
37 Historical Preservation Society, what all y'all do and
38 y’all’s board and y’all’s members.  Y'all help make
39 Anderson a great place to live.  Appreciate y’all for
40 that.  
41 I want to thank our staff, all the hard work they
42 done for this storm we had.  If y’all think about all
43 the devastation, and it was a very short storm.  Thank
44 goodness it wasn’t no longer, I was talking today.  I
45 want to thank our roads department, all our
46 departments, cleaning these trees up and working in
47 these conditions, opening roads up and getting it
48 safer.  I want to give a shout out to the Civic Center
49 who hosted Duke Energy and Duke Energy’s
50 subcontractors, those that come in here.  They had



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - August 15, 2023
34

1 nothing but praise for the Civic Center.  And they need
2 a place to come to eat.  That’s what they do.  They
3 come, eat, take a break and get back to work.  And Duke
4 Energy is very appreciative of that for Anderson
5 County, and we have a great partnership with them about
6 doing that.  
7 I want to thank everybody for coming tonight. 
8 Appreciate it.  Meeting be adjourned.
9
10 (MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:46 P.M.)



                 
                
MEMORANDUM 
ADMINISTRATOR’S OFFICE 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 
 
Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District 4 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
Council District 1 
 
Glenn A. Davis 
Council District 2 

Greg Elgin 
Council District 3  
 
Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 

 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

 
DATE:   8/29/2023 
 
TO:   RUSTY BURNS 

County Administrator 
 
FROM:   STEVE NEWTON 

Governmental Affairs 
 
SUBJECT:   ITEM FOR CONSIDERATION BY COUNTY COUNCIL 

OPIOID RECOVERY FUND PROPOSAL #2 
 
 
Staff requests permission to access funding available to Anderson County from the South Carolina 
Opioid Recovery Fund (SCORF) Board.  The requests presented here are in addition to the projects 
approved by County Council at its meeting of August 15, 2023. 
 
Staff has received two additional project proposals for the upcoming funding drawdown. We seek 
authorization by County Council to include these projects in our forthcoming submittal to the 
SCORF board. We recommend accessing funds sufficient to cover costs associated with operating 
these two projects for an initial twelve-month period, after which time their effectiveness can be 
assessed and funding renewed, if appropriate. 
 
The projects are as follows: 
 

• Coroner’s Office—Drug Education Initiative: the Anderson County Office of the Coroner, the 
Anderson County Emergency Medical Services, and the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office 
propose establishment of a communitywide education and awareness program. 
 
The program will establish clear and concise objectives to provide an avenue of education and 
public awareness that will reach all community civic organizations, churches, elementary 
schools, and high schools in Anderson County throughout the 2023-2024 calendar year. 
The program’s immediate goal will be to reach 90% of the schools in Anderson County during 
the current school year and at least 75% of the civic organizations in Anderson County. 
Monthly reports will be prepared and maintained detailing program achievements for the 
specific month and end of year. The program is expected to be implemented within 30 days of 
SCORF approval. 
 



                  
                    

 

 Instructional Materials: $10,000 
 Informational Materials: $7,500 
 Promotional Materials: $7,500 
 Training Aids and Supplies: $10,000 
 Meeting Sponsorships: $10,000 
 Total Project Cost--$45,000 

 
• PlaySafe AOD/OAA Student Connect Initiative: PlaySafe is an Anderson-based nonprofit 

organization serving more than 20 middle/high schools in South Carolina. The organization 
provides the services of Certified Athletic Trainers (ACTs) to participating schools.  ACTs are 
master’s level allied health practitioners whose services are available to all students 
regardless of formal participation in school athletics and, as such, are often a front-line 
provider of basic health care information and service. 
 
Given that opioid addiction often arises from misuse of pain medications post-injury, the 
unique role of these ACTs in the school environment provides an opportunity to implement 
alcohol and other drug (AOD)/opioid addiction awareness (OAA) activities. PlaySafe’s 
AOD/OAA program will be comprehensive in scope and address pain medication 
management and risks, mental health evaluation and treatment, whole-family AOD/OAA 
education, and data collection/reporting. 
 

 Anderson Area Program Director: $52,000 
 Benefits: $10,400 
 Liability Policy: $10,000  
 Mileage: $2,000 
 Materials: $5,000  
 Marketing: $2,000  
 Reporting Software: $12,000  
 Laptops (2): $2,000  
 State Conference (2 Staff): $3,400  
 Phone: $1,200 
 Administrative: $10,000 
 Total Project Cost--$110,000  

 
TOTAL SCORF AMOUNT REQUESTED:  $155,000 
 
Anderson County has funding in its SCORF account sufficient to cover these two projects in addition 
to the projects totaling $268,824 previously approved by County Council at its meeting of August 15. 
Staff is satisfied that the projects meet the letter and intent of SCORF-related guidelines, and that 
the two entities providing post-release treatment services are eligible and meet program 
qualification standards. If these two new projects are approved, a total of $423,824 in SCORF funds 
will have been committed, leaving a balance in excess of $3.1 million in Anderson County’s SCORF 
account. 













ORDINANCE NO. 2023-029 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 8-79, RELATED TO BUILDING CODES, OF 
THE ANDERSON COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES; AND OTHER MATTERS 

RELATED THERETO.  

WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council has the authority to enact ordinances under the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, section 4-9-25; and 

WHEREAS, Anderson County Council desires to amend the Anderson County Code of 
Ordinances; and 

WHEREAS, Anderson County recently hired a Code Enforcement Officer and desires to 
enact amendments to regulations, including violations of the Code of Ordinances of Anderson 
County; and 

WHEREAS, Anderson County Council wishes to clarify which provisions of the 
International Property Maintenance Code it wishes to enforce under the authority derived from the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, section 6-9-60. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1. That section 8-79 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina, is
hereby amended to read as follows: 

See attachment A. 

2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances,
Anderson County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third
reading in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2023. 



ATTEST:     FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 

Rusty Burns   Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

First Reading: _________________ 
Second Reading: _______________ 
Third Reading:  ________________ 

Public Hearing: ________________ 

August 1, 2023
August 15, 2023
September 5, 2023

September 5, 2023



Sec. 8-79. - Building codes 

(a) The county shall enforce the mandatory technical codes adopted by the state building codes council. 

(b) The county adopts by reference the current editions of the International Property Maintenance Code 
and the International Existing Building Code, as permitted by the state buildings codes council. 

(1) The county does not adopt the entire international property maintenance code, but only adopts 
by reference the following sections: 

Section 301; 
Section 302; 
Section 303, along with the definition of “Barrier” as found in section 202 of the International 
Swimming Pool and Spa Code;  
Section 304.1; 
Sections 304.4 through 304.12; 
Sections 304.15 and 304.16; 
Section 304.19; 
Section 305.1; 
Section 3051.1; 
Section 305.2; and 
Section 308. 

Furthermore, the county council specifically declines to adopt, and does not adopt by reference, sections 
which concern the qualification, removal, dismissal, duties, responsibilities of, and the administrative 
procedures for all building officials, deputy building officials, chief inspectors, other inspectors, 
assistants, including administrative procedures, penalties, and enforcement.  

(c) The latest edition of the above building codes shall continue in force until new or revised or successor 
building codes are subsequently made available for each, respectively, by the publisher and adopted by 
the state building codes council. Once new or revised or successor building codes for each, respectively, 
are published and adopted by the state building code council, such building codes shall be immediately 
adopted as part of the County Code, but shall be implemented and enforced one-year from the date of 
adoption by the state building code council. 

(d) In the event that anything within the adopted portions of the International Property Maintenance Code 
conflicts with the Anderson County Code of Ordinances, the Anderson County Code of Ordinances shall 
control.  



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-030 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTIONS 10-20 THROUGH 10-36, RELATED TO 
JUNKYARDS AND OPEN STORAGE, OF THE ANDERSON COUNTY CODE OF 

ORDINANCES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.  

WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council has the authority to enact ordinances under the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, section 4-9-25; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council desires to amend the Anderson County Code of 
Ordinances; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County recently hired a Code Enforcement Officer and desires to 
enact amendments to regulations, including violations of the Code of Ordinances of Anderson 
County; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council wishes to clarify how it regulates junk, junkyards, 
and open storage areas under the authority derived from Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended, section 57-27-100. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1.  That sections 10-20 through 10-36 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, 
South Carolina, are hereby amended to read as follows: 

 See attachment A.  

2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, 
Anderson County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 

3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 

4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third 
reading in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 

 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 5th day of September, 2023. 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 



                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon  
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
First Reading:       August 1, 2023 
Second Reading:  August 15, 2023 
Third Reading:     September 5, 2023 
 
Public Hearing:    September 5, 2023 
 



EXHIBIT A 

Sec. 10-20. - Authority. 

This article is adopted pursuant to the authority conferred by the South Carolina Code of Laws 
upon the county. The Code Enforcement Officer shall have the authority to interpret and enforce 
this article. 

Sec. 10-21. - Purpose. 

The purpose of this article is to provide enforcement of existing and proposed junkyards and 
open storage areas with development standards for controlling the development and use of 
junkyards and open storage areas so that such uses can be established and operated in the county 
without constituting a hazard to the health and welfare of the people of the county inclusive of 
attracting vermin, disease, public nuisance, fire hazard, blight, or adversely effecting 
environmental conditions. 

Sec. 10-22. - Applicability. 

No junkyard or open storage area shall be established, erected, placed, located or expanded in 
size or in scope of operation in the unincorporated areas of the county without first meeting the 
minimum requirements of this article. The application of this article shall extend to new 
junkyards and open storage areas in the county, as well as the expansion of existing ones. This 
article shall apply to residents and residential property. It shall not be a defense to this article that 
the operator, or owner, of a junkyard or open storage area, as defined herein, is not a business or 
is not using the junkyard or open storage area for a business purpose.  

Sec. 10-23. - Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

Automobile graveyard means an establishment or place of business which is maintained, used, or 
operated for storing, keeping, buying or selling wrecked, scrapped, ruined or dismantled motor 
vehicles or motor vehicle parts, including, but not limited to, tires. Three or more such vehicles 
will constitute an automobile graveyard. 

Fence means a structure forming a physical barrier which is so constructed that no less than 50 
percent of the vertical surface is open to permit the transmission of light, air and vision through 
such surface in a horizontal plane. 

Illegal junkyard means a junkyard which is established or maintained in violation of this article. 

Junk includes old, used or scrap metal, rope, rags, batteries, paper, trash, rubber, tires, debris, 
waste, or junked, dismantled or wrecked automobiles, or parts thereof; old building materials, 
lumber, roofing shingles; or essentially similar items. 

Junk automobile means a vehicle without a current license tag which is not moved  inside of an 
enclosed structure, or restored, within a period in excess of 90 days. 



Junkyard means an establishment or place of business which is maintained, operated or used for 
storing, keeping, buying or selling junk, or for the maintenance or operation of an automobile 
graveyard, in which any part of such operation occurs in the open, outside of a permanent 
building or structure. This definition includes scrap metal processors, auto wrecking yards, 
salvage yards, scrap yards, auto recycling yards, used auto parts yards (including, but not limited 
to, used tire resale or distribution activities) and temporary storage of automobile bodies or parts 
awaiting disposal as a normal part of a business operation when the business will continually 
have like materials located on the premises. This definition includes garbage dumps and sanitary 
landfills. This definition does not include litter, trash, and other debris scattered along or upon 
the highways, or temporary operations and outdoor storage of 90 days or less. 

Lot means land occupied or intended for occupancy by a use permitted in this article. The term 
"lot" includes "site," "yard" or "parcel." 

Main traveled way means the traveled way of a highway on which through traffic is carried. In 
the case of a divided highway, the traveled way of each of the separated roadways for traffic in 
opposite directions is a main traveled way. The term "main traveled way" does not include such 
facilities as frontage roads, turning roadways or parking areas. 

Nonconforming junkyard means a junkyard which was lawful when originally established, but 
which does not comply with the provisions of this article. Illegally established junkyards are not 
considered nonconforming junkyards. 

Open storage area means a yard, lot, site or portion thereof, designed or used exclusively for 
storage of junk, except for temporary operations or outdoor storage of 30 days or less. 

Use means any activity, occupation, business or operation carried on, or intended to be carried 
on, in a building or other structure or on a tract of land. 

Use, accessory, means a use located on the same lot with a principal use, and clearly incidental 
or subordinate to and customary in connection with the principal use. 

Use, nonconforming, means the use of land or a building or portion thereof which does not 
conform with the regulations of this article. 

Use, principal, means the main or primary use on a lot. 

Visual screen means a static barrier which restrains and/or shields from view a specified object or 
objects. For purposes of this article, such objects refer to junk or junkyards. 

Wall means a structure forming a physical barrier which is so constructed that no less than 50 
percent of the vertical surface is open to permit the transmission of light, air and vision through 
such surface in a horizontal plane. 

Sec. 10-24. - Minimum standards generally. 

The development standards set out in this article shall be considered minimum standards. 

 



Sec. 10-25. - Location. 

Junkyards and open storage areas shall be permitted to be located no closer than 1,000 feet from 
the nearest edge of the right-of-way of any state or federal system highway. Junkyards and open 
storage areas shall be permitted to be located no closer than 1,000 feet from the nearest edge of 
the right-of-way of any county, private or other road. Junkyards and open storage areas must be 
located or screened so as not to be visible from the main traveled way. Junkyards and open 
storage areas shall be permitted to be located no closer than 1,000 feet from the nearest 
residence. 

Sec. 10-26. - Size. 

Junkyards and open storage areas shall be limited in size to a maximum of ten acres. 

Sec. 10-27. - Screening. 

(a) Junkyards and open storage areas which are visible from the main traveled way must be 
blocked from public view. This shall be made possible by enclosing all such junkyards and open 
storage areas with a continuous visual screen provided and maintained by the owner of such 
property along the property line. The screen shall be a wall or opaque fence or a combination of 
fence and shrubbery at least eight feet in height. A nonseasonal coniferous wall may be planted 
and maintained, if at maturity these trees will form a barrier which would be defined as static. 
However, where topography is such that the required screen will not achieve the stated purposes 
of this section, then a screening plan shall be prepared and submitted to the Code Enforcement 
Officer. 

(b) Sanitary landfills need not be screened to satisfy requirements of 42 USC 6941 et seq., but 
landscaping should be required when the fill has been completed and operations have ceased, 
unless the landfill area is to be used for immediate development purposes. A sanitary landfill, for 
the purposes of this article, is a method of disposing of refuse on land without creating a 
nuisance or hazards to public health or safety by utilizing the principles of engineering to confine 
the refuse to the smallest practical area, to reduce it to the smallest practical volume, and to cover 
it with a layer of earth at the conclusion of each day's operation or at such more frequent 
intervals as may be necessary. Materials stored or kept in the open shall not be permanently 
stacked higher than the required screen. Storage between the screen and the main traveled way is 
expressly prohibited. 

Sec. 10-28. - Performance standards. 

(a) No material shall be placed in any junkyard or open storage area in such a manner that it is 
capable of being transferred out by wind, water or other means. 

(b) All paper, rags, cloth or related fibers and activities involving the same, other than loading 
and unloading, shall be within fully enclosed buildings. 

Sec. 10-29. - Accessways. 



The number of vehicular access driveways permitted to a single junkyard or open storage area 
shall be limited to one per street, except where the frontage on any one street exceeds 200 feet; 
the number of access driveways may then be increased to two, provided that such driveways are 
no closer than 150 feet apart. Driveways shall be limited to 25 feet in width. 

Sec. 10-30. - Continuation requirements. 

Nonconforming junkyards and open storage areas, those not meeting the minimum requirements 
of this article and subsequently operating without a permit as required in section 10-33, are 
hereby declared to be in violation of this article. However, to avoid undue hardship on the 
owners and/or operators, the lawful use of any land or buildings at the time of enactment of the 
ordinance from which this article is derived may be continued even though such use or uses do 
not conform with the provisions of this article, provided: 

(1) Such nonconforming uses are not re-established after discontinuance or abandonment 
 for a period of 90 days. 

(2) Such nonconforming uses are not enlarged or altered in any way which increases their 
 nonconformity. 

Sec. 10-31. - Basis for revoking license. 

A licensed nonconforming junkyard shall have its license revoked, after which it shall be treated 
as a new junkyard at a new location, if any of the following occurs: 

 (1) Use of the nonconforming junkyard is voluntarily discontinued or a change of the 
 nonconforming use to some other kind of use is made, which shall constitute 
 abandonment. 

(2) The location of the nonconforming junkyard is changed as a result of a right-of-way 
 taking or for any other reason. 

(3) The nonconforming junkyard is extended or enlarged at its present location without 
 conforming to sections 10-25 through 10-30. 

Sec. 10-32. - Permits. 

(a) No junkyard or open storage area shall be located on an individual lot, parcel or site in the 
county without a permit therefor issued by the Development Standards Office. The Code 
Enforcement Officer will conduct an on-site inspection of the proposed junkyard upon a request 
for a permit. 

(b) A state permit shall also be required for any junkyard or open storage area located on any 
state or federal highway. 

Sec. 10-33. - Licenses. 

Nonconforming junkyards located on individual lots, parcels or sites in the county and actually 
in existence at the effective date of the ordinance from which this article is derived and which are 



to continue to be operated as ongoing enterprises shall secure a nonconforming junkyard license, 
issued by the Development Standards Office. 

Sec. 10-34. - Applications for permits and licenses. 

All applications for permits to locate, erect or operate a junkyard or open storage area and 
licenses to continue the operation of a nonconforming junkyard shall be in triplicate on forms 
provided by the Development Standards Office and shall be signed by the applicant. One copy of 
the application shall be returned to the applicant after it has been marked approved or 
disapproved and attested to the same in writing. One marked copy shall be submitted to the tax 
assessor's office, and the original copy similarly marked shall be retained by the Development 
Standards Office and copied for the Code Enforcement Officer. 

Sec. 10-35. - Notices, hearings and orders. 

(a) Whenever the Code Enforcement Officer determines that there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that there has been a violation of any provision of this article, he shall give notice of such 
alleged violation to the owner, agent, or tenant of the junkyard or open storage area as provided 
in this section. Such notice shall: 
 (1) Be in writing, giving at least 15 days to correct the violation. 
 (2) Include a statement of the reasons for its issuance. 
 (3) Be served upon the owner or his agent, or tenant, by personal service or by certified 
 mail, return receipt requested, mailed to the address set forth on the permit. 
 (4) Contain an outline of remedial action, which if taken, will affect compliance with the 
 provisions of this article. 

Failure to comply with such notice will subject the owner or agent to the provisions of section 1-
7. 

(b) Whenever the official finds an emergency exists which requires immediate action to protect 
the public health, safety and welfare, he may, without notice or hearing, issue an order citing the 
existence of such an emergency and requiring that such action be taken as he may deem 
necessary to meet the emergency, including the suspension of the permit. Notwithstanding any 
other provisions of this article, such an order shall be effective immediately. Any person to whom 
such an order is directed shall comply therewith immediately. 

Sec. 10-36. - Violations.  

Any person, establishment, or business that violates the provisions of this article after being 
provided notice of such violation, and who does not cure the violation within 15 days after 
notice, shall be subject to civil or criminal penalties at the discretion of the Code Enforcement 
Officer. Failure to cure the violation within 15 days of a civil notice of violation is punishable by 
a fine not to exceed $500 at the discretion of the Court. Failure to cure the violation within 30 
days of a criminal notice of violation is punishable by a fine not to exceed $500 and/or 
punishable by jailtime not to exceed 30 days at the discretion of the Court. Nothing in this 
section should be construed to limit the right of other lawful remedies. Each day of violation of 
this section shall constitute a separate offense. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-031 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP 
LLC, D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, WHEREBY 
SUCH PROPERTY WILL RECEIVE CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS IN 
RESPECT OF INVESTMENT IN RELATED INFRASTRUCTURE; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into agreements with industry whereby the industry 
would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to provide infrastructure credits against 
payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the 
economic development of the County; through all such powers the industrial development of the State of 
South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, products 
and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 

 WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act to 
provide special source credits against payments in lieu of taxes to provide reimbursement to companies in 
respect of investment in infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County, including 
improvements to real estate and personal property including machinery and equipment used in the 
operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, within the meaning of Section 4-29-68, Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Infrastructure”); and 

 WHEREAS, the County Council of Anderson County (“County Council”) has agreed to assist  
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, d/b/a The Shores of Asbury a South Carolina limited liability 
company (the “Landlord” and together with the Operating Company, the “Company”) (formerly known to 
the County as “Project Shoreline”), in the expansion by the Company of a multi-use recreational park in the 
County (the “Project”) by (i) adding the Company to a joint county industrial and business park established 
by the County with an adjoining South Carolina county pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South 
Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act (a “Park”) and (ii) pursuant to the 
Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, providing for certain special source credits against payments 
in lieu of taxes by the Company from and with respect to the Project in qualified Infrastructure used in the 
establishment and operation of the Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve a combined investment of 
approximately $1,500,000 in the County within the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the 
hereinafter defined Special Source Credit Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and 



2 

WHEREAS, the County Council has agreed, pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County 
Park Act, to provide special source credit financing of the Infrastructure with respect to the Project by 
providing a credit (a “Special Source Credit”) to the Company against payments in lieu of taxes for the 
Project in the Park (the “Fee Payments”) for a period of fifty (50) consecutive years or until the termination 
of the Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and between Anderson County and the 
Landlord, whichever comes first, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before 
the January 15 immediately following the year immediately following the first year in which any portion of 
the Project is first placed in service, in an annual amount sufficient to reduce the amount of each such Fee 
Payment due for each such tax year, so that the resulting net Fee Payment due and payable by the 
Companies equals the Net Sales Payment for that year (as defined herein). Such Special Source Credits 
are subject to the Company meeting the investment set forth herein, and all as set forth more fully in the 
Special Source Credit Agreement between the County and the Company presented to this meeting (the 
“Special Source Credit Agreement”). As defined in the Special Source Credit Agreement, Net Sales 
shale mean gross sales at the Project, minus cost of goods sold, selling, general administrative expenses, 
taxes and interest, but excluding depreciation (“Net Sales”); and Net Sales Payment shall mean the 
annual net sales payment made to the County pursuant to the Sublease Agreement in an amount equal to 
three percent (3%) of Net Sales (a “Net Sales Payment”); and 

 WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 
Company, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and, that the 
Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge 
against the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., 
economic development, retention of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper 
governmental and public purposes; 

 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Special Source Credit Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 

 WHEREAS, it appears that the Special Sourced Credit Agreement above referred to, which is now 
before this meeting, is in appropriate form and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or 
approved by the County for the purposes intended;   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. The Chairman of the County Council and the County Administrator, for and on 
behalf of the County, are hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Special Source Credit Agreement, in 
substantially the form attached hereto, or with such minor changes as are not materially adverse to the 
County and as such officials shall determine and as are not inconsistent with the matters contained herein, 
and are directed to do anything otherwise necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Special 
Source Credit Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County under and pursuant to the 
Special Source Credit Agreement. 

Section 2. Revenues generated for the Multi-County Park from the Project through the 
Special Source Credit Agreement to be retained by the County under the agreement governing the Multi-
County Park (“Net Park Fees”) shall be distributed within the County as follows: 

(a) 15% of such Net Park Fees shall be deposited to the Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 
and used as required or permitted thereby; 



3 

(b) 35% of such Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be 
deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County; and 

(c) remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities in the County which 
levy an old ad valorem property tax in any areas comprising the County portion of the Multi-County 
Park in the same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and 
proportion of operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property 
tax purposes. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Special Source Credit Agreement and the performance 
of all obligations of the County thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 2023.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 

By:         
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 

 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
By:       

Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
By:       

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
 



4 

Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       

Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
First Reading: ___________, 2023  
Second Reading:    , 2023  
Third Reading: ___________, 2023  
Public Hearing: ___________, 2023 
 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of _________, 2023, _________, 
2023, and _________, 2023, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and 
voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 By:        

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
Dated: _________, 2023 
 
 
 



 

HSB 7224521 v.7  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

among 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
 
 

and 
 
 

PROJECT SHORELINE 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of ___________, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 



 

HSB 7224521 v.7  

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of _________ __, 2023 (the 
“Agreement”), among ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and PROJECT SHORELINE, 
consisting of LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC D/B/A THE SHORES OF 
ASBURY, a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, 
(“Company”). 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “County Council”) is 
authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure 
Credit Act”), to provide special source credit financing, secured by and payable solely from revenues of the 
County derived from payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution, for the purpose of defraying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or 
expanding the infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County, all within the meaning 
of Section 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure”); and 

WHEREAS, the Company will operate the Project (as defined below) on the land in the County 
described in Exhibit A hereto, subleased by the Company (the “Land”) (Exhibit A) pursuant to that certain 
Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and between Anderson County and the Company (the 
“Sublease Agreement”), as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented that it intends to invest in the acquisition, construction 
and installation of buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real 
and/or tangible personal property to constitute an expansion of their existing facilities in the County for the 
development of a multi-use recreational park (the “Project”), which will result in an expected aggregate 
investment of approximately $1,500,000 by December 31 of the fifth (5th) year after the year in which any 
portion of the Project is first placed in service (the “Investment Period”); and 

WHEREAS, the County and Greenville County have established a joint county industrial and 
business park (the “Park”) by entering into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended (the “Park Agreement”), pursuant 
to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976 (collectively, the “Multi-County Park Act”), as amended, and have designated 
or will designate the Land as being included within the Park, and the County desires to cause the Park to 
continue to be located in the Park or such other multi-county industrial and business park so as to afford the 
Company the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act and the Multi-County Park Act as provided herein; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Park Agreement, the Company is obligated to make 
or cause to be made payments in lieu of taxes in the total amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes, 
or, if applicable, any negotiated payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Code of Laws of South Carolina 
1976, as amended, including Title 12, Chapter 44 thereof (the “FILOT Act”), that would have been due and 
payable but for the location of the Project within the Park; and 



 

2 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, the County has agreed to provide certain 
credits to the Company in respect of the Company’ investment in the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project, and is delivering this Agreement in furtherance thereof; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on ________, 2023, following conducting a public hearing on 
________, 2023.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 
contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings herein 
specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context otherwise requires, words 
importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.   

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented 
in accordance with the terms hereof. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

 “Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such terms in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

“Cost of the Infrastructure” shall mean to extent permitted by law, the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior to or 
after the date of this Agreement: (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other expenses to builders 
and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the 
cost of design and engineering of the Infrastructure; (c) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all 
kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the 
Infrastructure, which is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (d) the expenses 
for test borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary 
investigations therefor, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties 
required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the 
Infrastructure; (e) all other costs which shall be required under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, 
construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; and (f) all legal, accounting and related costs properly 
capitalizable to the cost of the Infrastructure. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  

“Fee Payments” shall mean the payments in lieu of taxes made by the Company with respect to the 
Project by virtue of the Project’s location in (a) the Park or (b) in any joint county industrial park created by 
the County and a partner county pursuant to the Park Agreement qualifying under Section 4-1-170 of the 
Multi-County Park Act or any successor provision. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Section 44, of the Code. 



 

3 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

“Gross Sales” shall mean the total sales of the Company related to the Project after discounts and 
returns, unadjusted for the costs related to generating the sales.  

“Gross Sales Payment” shall mean the gross sales payment made to the County in an amount equal 
to three percent (3%) of Gross Sales. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, within 
the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Infrastructure Credit Act” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals 
to this Agreement. 

“Investment Period” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

 “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Company of approximately $1,500,000 in the 
Project. 

 “Land” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, and all future acts amendatory 
thereto. 

“Net Sales” shall mean gross sales at the Project, minus cost of goods sold, selling, general and 
administrative expenses, taxes, interest, and depreciation. 

“Net Sales Payment” shall mean the net sales payment made to the County pursuant to the Sublease 
Agreement in an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the Net Sales. 

“ Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

“Ordinance” shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on _____________, 2023, 
authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

“Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 between the County and Greenville County, South 
Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time or such other agreement as 
the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act to the 
Company hereunder. 

“Park” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the Park 
Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement delivered 
by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the Act, or any successor 
provision, with respect to the Project.  

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock 
company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political subdivision. 

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 



 

4 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the credits to the Fee Payments in respect of the Company’ 
investment in Cost of the Infrastructure set forth in Section 3.02(a) hereof. 

“Sublease Agreement” shall mean the Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and 
between Anderson County and the Company, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from 
time to time. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 2.01.  Representations by the County.  The County makes the following representations 
and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By proper action by the County 
Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and any and all 
agreements collateral thereto. 

(b) The County proposes to provide the Special Source Credits to reimburse the Company for a 
portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure for the purpose of promoting economic development of the County. 

(c) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the County is not in 
violation of any of the provisions of the laws of the State of South Carolina, where any such default would 
affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the authorization, 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the Ordinance, and performance of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, to the best knowledge of the County, 
conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, or 
create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions of (i) the Constitution of the State or any law, 
rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, (ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) 
any judgment, order, or decree to which the County is a party or by which it is bound.   

(e) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public 
board which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the County or its 
governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or would 
affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other agreement or 
instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is contemplated by 
this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County is there 
any basis therefor. 

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Covenants by the Company.  The Company makes the 
following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina and qualified to do business in the State of South 



 

5 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

Carolina, has power to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper 
corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of any corporate restriction or 
any agreement or instrument to which the Company are now a party or by which it is bound, or will 
constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or 
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may 
be created or permitted by this Agreement. 

(c) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Investment Target to 
be achieved during the Investment Period. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board which is pending or 
threatened challenging the power of the Company to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or 
wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated 
hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other 
agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is 
contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the Company is there any basis 
therefore.  

(e) The Company agrees to reimburse the County for all reasonable expenses, including 
attorney’s fees, to which it might be put in the review of this Agreement and in the fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement and in the implementation of its terms and provisions. 

(f) The Company agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the Project as will 
permit verification of the Company’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement and the certifications 
submitted to the County pursuant to Section 3.02 hereof. The Company, may, by clear, written designation, 
conspicuously marked, designate with respect to any book and records delivered or made available to the 
County segments thereof that the Company believes contain proprietary, confidential or trade secret matters. 
The County shall comply with all reasonable written requests made by the Company with respect to 
maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments. Except to the extent required by law, the County 
shall not release information which has been designated as confidential or proprietary by the Company. 

SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of the County. 

(a) To the best of its ability, the County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will 
use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers and privileges; and it will comply 
with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, executive, administrative, or 
judicial body applicable to this Agreement. 

(b) The County acknowledges that the Park Agreement will expire pursuant to its terms on 
December 1, 2040 (the “Original Termination Date”). In the event of any early termination of the Park 
Agreement or the termination of the Park Agreement on the Original Termination Date, the County agrees to 
use its best reasonable efforts to cause the Project, at the Company’s expense, pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of 
the Act or any successor provision, to be included in a duly authorized, executed and delivered successor 
joint county industrial park agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county, which successor agreement 
shall contain a termination date occurring no earlier than the final year as to which any Special Source Credit 
shall be payable under this Agreement. 



 

6 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

(c) The County covenants that it will from time to time, at the request and expense of the  
Company, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and 
as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, that such instruments or 
actions shall never create or constitute a general obligation or an indebtedness of the County within the 
meaning of any State constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, Section 14(10) of the 
South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary 
liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing power or pledge the full faith, credit or 
taxing power of the State, or any other political subdivision of the State. 

ARTICLE III 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS 
 
SECTION 3.01.  Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.   

The Company shall be responsible for payment of all Costs of the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project as and when due.   

SECTION 3.02.  Special Source Credits.   

(a) In order to reimburse the Company for a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure with 
respect to the Project, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before the January 
15 immediately following the first year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service, the 
County shall provide to the Company an annual Special Source Credit against each Fee Payment due with 
respect to the Project for a period of fifty (50) consecutive years or until the termination of the Sublease 
Agreement, whichever comes first, in an amount sufficient to reduce the amount of each such Fee Payment 
due for each such tax year, so that the resulting net Fee Payment due and payable by the Company equals the 
following:  

a. For a tax year in which the Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project are fifteen 
percent (15%) or less of Gross Sales, the Net Sales Payment for that year, which is to be 
calculated as set forth in Exhibit B.  

b. For a tax year in which the Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project exceed 
fifteen percent (15%) or more of Gross Sales, the Gross Sales Payment for that year, which 
is to be calculated as set forth in Exhibit B. 

(b) As a condition to the Special Source Credit benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to 
provide the County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with 
an annual certification as to the Net Sales Payment or Gross Sales Payment made with respect to the Project 
for that year. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be 
due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding December 31 of each year. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the  Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken.  The  Company hereby waives the right, if any, to receive 
any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special Source 
Credit is taken. The  Company agrees that notwithstanding such waiver, if they receive any abatement of ad 
valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken, the 
amount of the Special Source Credit that the Company is otherwise eligible to receive shall be reduced by the 



 

7 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

amount of the abatement ad valorem taxes for the portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special 
Source Credit is taken.  

(d) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the  
Company exceed the amount expended by them collectively with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in 
time. The Company shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the 
provisions of the preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B.  

(e) Should the Investment Target not be met by the end of the Investment Period, any Special 
Source Credits otherwise payable under this Agreement shall no longer be payable by the County, and the 
Company shall be retroactively liable to the County for the amount of the Special Source Credits 
previously received by the Company, plus interest at the rate payable for late payment of taxes.  

(f) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), the 
amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property was 
removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal.  

(g) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS BECOMING DUE 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE PROJECT 
PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE X, 
SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY LIMITATION 
AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY 
OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER.  THE 
FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS. 

(h) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any pecuniary 
liability upon the County or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The liability of the 
County under this Agreement or of any warranty herein included or for any breach or default by the County 
of any of the foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the Fee Payments for the Project in the Park. 
The County shall not be required to execute or perform any of its duties, obligations, powers, or covenants 
hereunder except to the extent of the Fee Payments. 

ARTICLE IV 

CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT; 
TITLE TO PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.  Prior to or simultaneously with the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company: 

(a) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been 
duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and 



 

8 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

(b) A copy of the Park Agreement, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have 
been duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and  

(c) Such additional related certificates, instruments or other documents as the Company may 
reasonably request in a form and substance acceptable to the Company and the County. 

SECTION 4.02.  Transfers of Project; Assignment of Interest in this Agreement by the  Company. 
Subject to the provisions of Section 7.01 hereof, the County hereby acknowledges that the Company may 
from time to time and in accordance with applicable law, sell, transfer, lease, convey, or grant the right to 
occupy and use the Project, in whole or in part, or assign its interest in this Agreement, to others; provided, 
however, that any transfer by the  Company of any of its interest in this Agreement to any other Person shall 
require the prior written consent of the County, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. No such sale, 
lease, conveyance, grant or assignment shall relieve the County from the County’s obligations to provide 
Special Source Credits to the  Company, as the case may be, or any assignee of the same, under this 
Agreement as long as such assignee is qualified to receive the Special Source Credits under the Infrastructure 
Credit Act. 

SECTION 4.03.  Assignment by County.  The County shall not assign, transfer, or convey its 
obligations to provide Special Source Credits hereunder to any other Person, except as may be required by 
South Carolina law. 

ARTICLE V 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 5.01.  Events of Default.  If the County or the Company shall fail duly and punctually to 
perform any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement on its part to be 
performed, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice by the County or 
the Company, respectively, specifying the failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County by 
the Company, or to the Company by the County, by first-class mail, the County or the Company, 
respectively, shall be in default under this Agreement (an “Event of Default”). 

SECTION 5.02.  Remedies and Legal Proceedings by the Company or the County.  Upon the 
happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Company or the County, 
as the case may be, in their discretion may: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all of its or 
their rights and require the other party to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and to perform 
its or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

(b) bring suit upon this Agreement; 

(c) exercise any or all rights and remedies provided by applicable laws of the State of South 
Carolina; or 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of 
its rights. 



 

9 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

SECTION 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred upon or reserved 
to the County or the Company hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and 
each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under 
this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

SECTION 5.04.  Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the County or the Company to exercise any 
right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an acquiescence therein; and every power 
and remedy given by this Article V to any party may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 
deemed expedient. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 6.01.  Termination.  Subject to Sections 5.01 and 5.02 above, this Agreement shall 
terminate on the date upon which all Special Source Credits provided for herein have been credited to the 
applicable Company. 

SECTION 6.02.  Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements 
in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, shall bind or inure to the 
benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, board, commission, agency, or 
instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County, shall be transferred. 

SECTION 6.03.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of the County and the Company.  Except 
as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is 
intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the Company any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the County and the Company. 

SECTION 6.04.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for 
any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of 
this Agreement, and the Special Source Credits shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid 
provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 

SECTION 6.05.  No Liability for Personnel of the County or the Company.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member, 
agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing body of the County nor any 
official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally on the Special Source Credits or this Agreement 
or be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 



 

10 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

 

SECTION 6.06.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 
Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless otherwise required by this 
Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by facsimile and confirmed by United States certified mail, return-
receipt requested, restricted delivery, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

(a) if to the County: Anderson County 
Attn: County Administrator  
101 S. Main Street  
Anderson, South Carolina 29624  
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the County)  

Anderson County Attorney 
101 S. Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 
 
 

   
(b) if to the Company: Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC  

Attn: Karen Alayne McCollough  
P.O. Box 3763 
Anderson, SC 29625 
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Company) 

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
Attn: J. Philip Land, Jr. (pland@hsblawfirm.com) 
One North Main Street, 2nd Floor 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601 
 

 
A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given under this 

Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others. The County and the Company 
may, by notice given under this Section 6.06, designate any further or different addresses to which 
subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 

SECTION 6.07.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the 
construction of this Agreement. 

SECTION 6.08.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

SECTION 6.09.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
parties hereto. 

SECTION 6.10.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

SECTION 6.11.  Indemnity. 

(a) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its 
members, officers, elected officials, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 



 

11 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

Parties”) shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the Special Source Credits, by reason of 
the execution of this Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the 
Company, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by 
the Company, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in connection with the violation of any 
statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the other 
Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the  Company shall 
indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or 
corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such 
claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the  Company 
shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the 
approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall not 
apply to the extent that any such claim is proximately caused by (i) the grossly negligent acts or 
omissions or willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this 
Agreement by the County. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting 
from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company, shall survive any termination of 
this Agreement. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



 

12 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Anderson County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement to be 
executed by the Chairman of Anderson County Council and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and 
attested by the Clerk of its County Council and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The Shores of 
Asbury have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective authorized officers, all as of the day 
and year first above written. 

 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  Chairman of County Council 
 
 
 By:_______________________________________ 
  County Administrator 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council of  
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 1 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 



 

13 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

       
      LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC 
      d/b/a THE SHORES OF ASBURY 
 
      By:_______________________________________ 
      Name:__________________________________ 
      Title:___________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 2 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 
 
 



 

A-1 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

EXHIBIT A 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 

 
 
 
 



 

B-1 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

EXHIBIT B 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT AND  
FEE PAYMENT CERTIFICATION 

 
I ________________, the _____________ of ________________, do hereby certify in connection 

with the Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of ___________, 2023 (the “Agreement”) between 
Anderson County, South Carolina, ________________ (the “ Company”) as follows: 
 

(1) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of investment in Cost of the Infrastructure at 
the Project by the Company is not less than $______________. 
 

(2) The Fee Payment owed by the Company would be in an amount equal to $___________ 
(assessed value of the Property) x 6% x ______ mills.  

(3)  Gross Sales of the Project for the year ending December 31, 20__ equal $___________. 

(4) The Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project for the year ending December 31, 
20__ equal $___________. 

(5) The Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project is _____% of Gross Sales, 
pursuant to the following formula:  

$ _________ (net pre-tax profits) / $ _________ (Gross Sales) x 100 = ____% of Gross Sales. 

(6) Check whether a Net Sales Payment or Gross Sales Payment will be made: 

 Because the Company’s net, pre-tax profits are equal to or less than 15% of Gross 
Sales, consistent with Section 3.02 of the Agreement, the Company requests that the County 
apply a special source credit against the Fee Payment otherwise due and payable to the County 
such that the Fee Payment is equal to 3% of Net Sales for the year ending December 31, 20__, 
which is equal to $___________. 

 Because the Company’s net, pre-tax profits exceed 15% of Gross Sales, consistent 
with Section 3.02 of the Agreement, the Company requests that the County apply a special source 
credit against the Fee Payment otherwise due and payable to the County such that the Fee 
Payment is equal to 3% of Gross Sales for the year ending December 31, 20__, which is equal to 
$___________. 

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
 
 By:       
 Name:       
 Its:       
 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-032 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
TO INCLUDE CERTAIN PROPERTY OF LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT 
GROUP LLC, D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted by Anderson County Council 
on November 16, 2010 and Ordinance No. 4391 enacted November 2, 2010 by Greenville County 
Council, Anderson and Greenville Counties entered into an Agreement for the Development of a 
Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park 
created therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of 
Anderson County and Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County to  
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, d/b/a The Shores of Asbury, it is now desired that the 
boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcels in Anderson County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that: 
 
 1. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include 
the property located in Anderson County described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, 
pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by Greenville County Council of a 
corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include such property and 
Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 

 
2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 

 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

 
 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________________________ _______________________________ 
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 

 

1st Reading: _________________ 

2nd Reading: _________________ 

3rd Reading: __________________ 

Public Hearing: _______________ 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 



 A-1 
HSB 7253602 v.2  

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
[045-09-04-038] 

 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of ___________, 2023, ________, 2022 and 
_________, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: ________, 2022 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-033 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUBLEASE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND LAKE 
HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY FOR 
THE ASBURY PARK SITE ON LAKE HARTWELL; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERTO. 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council has entered into a lease agreement (Lease No. 
DACW 21-1-20-0063) with the Secretary of the Army for the Asbury Recreation Area (“Asbury 
Park”) or (the “property”) on Lake Hartwell in Anderson County, South Carolina; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County entered into the lease with the Secretary of the Army in 
anticipation of entering into a sublease of the property with Lake Hartwell Development Group, 
LLC (“LHDG”) for redevelopment of Asbury Park; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council enacted Ordinance No. 2020-CP-037 on 
December 15, 2020, approving a sublease of the Property with LHDG; 
 
 WHEREAS, LHDG has requested that the sublease be amended to provide for branding 
of the redeveloped park as The Shores of Asbury by amending the sublease to show that the 
sublessee is Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The Shores of Asbury; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the United States Army Corps of Engineers has indicated that it has or will 
consent to this amendment to the Sublease Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that : 
 
 1. The Chairman of the Anderson County Council and the County Administrator are 
hereby authorized to execute any and all documents to approve the First Amendment to Sublease 
Agreement between Anderson County and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The 
Shores of Asbury substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.   
 

2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 
not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 
 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 



Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2023. 
 

ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading:__________________ 

2nd Reading:__________________ 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 



Exhibit A 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY AND 
  LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC D/B/A  

THE SHORES OF ASBURY 
LEASE NO. DACW21-1-20-0063 
HARTWELL LAKE PROJECT 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

 This SUBLEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between 
Anderson County, (hereinafter referred to as “SUB-LESSOR”) and Lake Hartwell 
Development Group, LLC d/b/a The Shores of Asbury., (hereinafter referred to as “SUB-
LESSEE”). 
 
 In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this 
SUBLEASE and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, SUB-LESSOR does hereby sublease to SUB-LESSEE and SUB-
LESSEE does hereby sublease from SUB-LESSOR the premises generally described as 
follows: 
 

Approximately 35 acres of land and water area under the primary jurisdiction of 
the Department of the Army in the Hartwell Project Area, hereinafter referred to as the 
premises as shown on attached Exhibit “A”, for public park and recreational purposes 
from the Department of the Army of the United States; on Hartwell Lake, Anderson 
County, South Carolina (hereafter referred to as the “PREMISES”). 
 
1.  TERM  
 
 The term of this SUBLEASE is twenty-five years (25) years, beginning on 
December 15, 2020 and ending on December 14, 2045, unless sooner terminated as 
provided for in this SUBLEASE and in no case shall the SUBLEASE exceed the term of 
the Prime Lease DACW21-1-20-0063 (hereinafter referred to as “LEASE”).  
SUBLESSEE will receive first right of refusal for any extension of the LEASE.  
SUBLESSOR agrees to negotiate with the ARMY Corps of Engineers for a lease 
extension starting no later than 20 years from the date of this sublease agreement. 
 
2.  RENT 
 
 SUB-LESSEE  agrees to pay to the SUB-LESSOR rental payments in the amount 
of one dollar per year and pay to SUB-LESSOR three (3)% of net sales annually from 
operation of the Asbury Park project to be included in a Fee Agreement with placement 
of the project in a Multicounty Park Agreement,  This fee is being paid to SUB-LESSOR 
in lieu of all county property taxes on all taxable improvements made on the PREMISES.  
 
3.  FEES  
  
 Fees may be charged by the SUB-LESSEE for use of the premises or any 
facilities, however, no user fees may be charged by the SUB-LESSEE or its sub-lessees 
for use of facilities developed in whole or part with federal funds if a user charge by the 
Corps of Engineers for the facility would be prohibited under law. 



Exhibit A 
 

 
4.  SUBLEASE 
 
 SUB-LESSEE accepts this SUBLEASE subject to all of the terms and conditions 
of a certain Lease Agreement, Supplemental Agreement, Extension or Modification of 
the Lease for the property described in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Lease No. 
DACW21-1-20-0063, under which the SUB-LESSOR holds the premises as Lessee.  
SUB-LESSEE is hereby charged at all times with full knowledge of all the limitations 
and requirements of above said lease, and the necessity for correction of deficiencies, and 
with compliance with requests by the Government.  Sublease is subject to the prime 
Lease, and all activities must be approved by the District Engineer.  In the event of a 
conflict between the prime lease and the sublease, the prime lease shall be the controlling 
document.  SUB-LESSEE covenants that it will do no act or thing which would 
constitute a violation of said Lease or any renewal, modification, or subsequent Lease the 
SUB-LESSOR may have with the Government. 
 
5.  USE OF PREMISES   
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall use the Leased Premises for recreational purposes.  SUB-
LESSEE shall not commit any waste nor create any nuisance on the Leased Premises and 
shall comply with all rules and regulations as established by the SUB-LESSOR.  SUB-
LESSEE shall comply with all applicable rules and regulations of governmental agencies 
and health department concerning the SUB-LESSEES use of the PREMISES.   
 
6.  MAINTENANCE  
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall at its sole expense maintain and keep the premises, structures 
and surrounding area in good condition and state of repair and shall leave the Leased 
Premises in essentially the same condition as it was when delivered to the SUB-LESSEE 
by the SUB-LESSOR.  SUB-LESSEE shall pay all utility charges for electric, water, 
heat, gas, and telephone service used on the Leased Premises directly to the appropriate 
utility company/corporation.  SUB-LESSEE shall pay the pro-rate share of the cost of 
trash removal services from the Leased Premises relating to its operation. 
 
7.  INSURANCE   
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall maintain and pay all property and liability insurance and any 
other insurance necessary and prudent for normal operation of the facilities on the 
premises, including but not limited to workers’ compensation insurance.  SUB-LESSEE 
shall furnish the SUB-LESSOR with a copy of a Certificate of Insurance with SUB-
LESSOR furnishing a copy to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Real Estate Division 
(ATTN:  RE-RM), 100 West Oglethorpe Ave, Savannah, Georgia  31401, naming the 
SUB-LESSOR and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as additional named insureds and 
having a policy limit of $1,000,000.00 per claim and aggregate of $1,000,000.00. 
 
8.  INDEMNITY OF SUB-LESSOR AND GOVERNMENT  
 
 SUB-LESSOR AND GOVERNMENT shall not be liable to SUB-LESSEE or to 
SUB-LESSEE’S employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, customers and/or 
visitors for any injury to persons or damage to property on or about the Premises caused 



Exhibit A 
 

by the negligence or misconduct of the SUB-LESSEE or its employees, customers, 
invitees, or any other person arising out of the use of the Premises by the SUB-LESSEE 
and SUB-LESSEE agrees to indemnify and hold the SUB-LESSOR AND 
GOVERNMENT harmless from any claims or damages arising from such injury or 
damage. 
 
9.  DEFAULT  
 
 If SUB-LESSEE shall allow any payment obligation under this SUBLEASE to be 
in arrears or be in default under any of the other terms or conditions set forth in this 
SUBLEASE for a period of more than fifteen (15) days after written notice of such 
delinquency, SUB-LESSOR may without further notice to the SUB-LESSEE terminate 
this SUBLEASE and re-enter and take possession of the Premises without being deemed 
guilty of trespass. 
 
10.  TRANSFERS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND SUBLEASES 
 
 SUB-LESSEE may not assign, sublet, transfer, or in any manner encumber this 
SUBLEASE without the prior written approval of the SUB-LESSOR and written consent 
by the Government. 
 
11.  NOTICES  
 
 All notices required hereunder must be given by certified or registered mail 
addressed to the proper party at the following address: 
 
  SUB-LESSOR: Anderson County 
     ATTN: County Administrator 
     P.O. Box 8002 
     Anderson, SC 29622 
      

 
  SUB-LESSEE: Lake Hartwell Development Group, LLC d/b/a  
     The Shores of Asbury 
     ATTN: Karen Alayne McCullough 
     1600 Asbury Park Road 
     Anderson, SC 29625 
 
12.  NON-DISCRIMINATION 
      
 a.  The SUB-LESSEE shall not discriminate against any person or persons or 
exclude them from participation in the SUB-LESSEE's operations, programs or activities 
conducted on the premises, because of race, color, religion, sex, age, handicap, or 
national origin.  The SUB-LESSEE will comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and attendant Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) 
published by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board. 
 
 b.  The SUB-LESSEE, by acceptance of this lease, is receiving a type of Federal 
assistance and, therefore, hereby gives assurance that it will comply with the provisions 
of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 2000d); the Age 



Exhibit A 
 

Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. § 6102); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended (29 U.S.C. § 794); and all requirements imposed by or pursuant to the Directive 
of the Department of Defense (32 CFR Part 300) issued as Department of Defense 
Directive 5500.11 and 1020.1 and Army Regulation 600-7.  This assurance shall be 
binding on the SUB-LESSEE, its agents, successors, transferees, sub-lessees and 
assignees. 
 
13.  PROHIBITED USES  
      
 The SUB-LESSEE will not sponsor or participate in timeshare ownership of any 
structures, facilities, accommodations, or personal property on the premises.  The SUB-
LESSEE will not subdivide nor develop the premises into private residential development 
 
14.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
  
 This SUBLEASE and Lease No. DACW21-1-20-0063, and any amendments 
thereto now or in the future, represents the entire agreement of the parties and no 
modification, amendment, or alteration of the terms of this agreement shall be binding 
unless in writing and duly executed by all the parties. 
 
 This SUBLEASE AGREEMENT is hereby executed this ___________day of 
_________________, 20______. 
 
     SUB-LESSEE:  Lake Hartwell Development  
         Group, LLC d/b/a    
         The Shores of Asbury 
 
     By:___________________________ 
           
           
     Title:      
 
     SUB-LESSOR: Anderson County 
 
     By:      
     Title: County Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 
 

 
 

 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 

 
 
 

















ORDINANCE NO. 2023-034 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 2-1053, RELATED TO MARRIAGE 
CEREMONIES IN GOVERNMENT OFFICES, OF THE ANDERSON COUNTY CODE 

OF ORDINANCES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.  

WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council has the authority to create ordinances under 
South Carolina Code section 4-9-25; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council desires to amend the Anderson County Code of 
Ordinances; and 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council wishes to increase the fee associated with use of 
county offices and personnel for personal marriage ceremonies from $20 to $100. 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1.  That section 2-1053 of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South 
Carolina, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Anyone using any county office and/or personnel for a personal wedding ceremony 
during normal office hours shall be charged a fee of $100.00 per ceremony, payable to 
the county probate judge and deposited in the general fund of the county. 

2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, 
Anderson County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 

3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 

4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third 
reading in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 

 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW. 
 
 
 



ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Jordan S. Thayer 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
First Reading: _________________ 
Second Reading: _______________ 
Third Reading:  ________________ 
 
Public Hearing: ________________ 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-035 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY 
OF A FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE 
REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND PROJECT ASTEROID TO 
PROVIDE FOR PAYMENT OF A FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAXES; 
AUTHORIZING THE EXPANSION OF A MULTI-COUNTY BUSINESS 
PARK; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE 
CREDITS; AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS.  
 

WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises to 
locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and 
employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an agreement with a 
sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax 
(“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the FILOT Act; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Section 
1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is authorized 
to jointly develop multicounty parks (a “MCIP Park”) with counties having contiguous borders with the 
County and, in the County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. 
Under the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County has created a multicounty park with Greenville 
County (the “Park”) pursuant to the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended from time to time (the “2010 Park 
Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Act, the County is authorized to provide special source 
revenue credits (“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments derived from property located in a MCIP 
Park to pay costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a 
project or the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate used in the operation of a commercial 
enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”); 

WHEREAS, Project Asteroid (“Sponsor”) desires to expand its manufacturing facility in the County 
(“Project”) consisting of an investment in real and personal property of approximately $6,600,000 and the 
creation of approximately 49 new, full-time jobs; and 

WHEREAS, as an inducement to locate the Project in the County, the County desires to enter into a 
Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement with the Sponsor, as sponsor, the final form of which is 
attached as Exhibit A (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which the County will provide certain incentives to 
the Sponsor with respect to the Project, including (1) providing for FILOT Payments, to be calculated as 
set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the portion of the Project which constitutes economic 
development property; (2) locating the Project in the Park; and (3) providing Infrastructure Credits, as 
described in the Fee Agreement, to assist in paying the costs of certain Infrastructure. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:   

Section 1. Statutory Findings. Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County 
Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria, including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 
the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and the anticipated 
costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds: 



 2 

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the locality by providing services, 
employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;  

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a 
charge against its general credit or taxing power;  

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(d) The benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement. The 
incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as more particularly set forth in the Fee 
Agreement, with respect to the Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee 
Agreement that is before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s terms and conditions 
are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. The Chair of County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and 
directed to execute the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to the approval 
of any revisions or changes as are not materially adverse to the County by the County Administrator and 
counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to attest the Fee 
Agreement and to deliver the Fee Agreement to the Sponsor. 

Section 3.  Further Assurances. The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County 
Administrator, the Clerk to County Council, and various other County officials and staff, acting at the 
direction of the Chair, the County Administrator, or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take 
whatever further action and to negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be 
appropriate to effect the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor under this 
Ordinance and the Fee Agreement. 

Section 4. Savings Clause. The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this Ordinance 
is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is unaffected. 

Section 5. General Repealer.  Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in 
conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 6. Effectiveness. This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.  

  



 3 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, Anderson County Council 

(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
        
Renee Watts 
Clerk of Council, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
______________________________________________ 
Leon Harmon, Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
First Reading:    
Second Reading:  
Public Hearing:   
Third Reading:  
  



 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT 

 

~#4825-9177-8464 v.2~ 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 

PROJECT ASTEROID 
 
 

AND 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
 
 

EFFECTIVE AS OF   , 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 i 

_________________________ 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
_________________________ 

 
 Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .......................................................................................... 1 

Section 1.1.  Terms........................................................................................................................1 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ....................................... 5 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County .......................................................5 
Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. .....................................................6 

ARTICLE III THE PROJECT ........................................................................................ 6 

Section 3.1.  The Project. ..............................................................................................................6 
Section 3.2  Leased Property .......................................................................................................6 
Section 3.3.  Filings and Reports ..................................................................................................6 

ARTICLE IV FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................. 6 

Section 4.1.  FILOT Payments ......................................................................................................7 
Section 4.2.  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property ............................................................7 
Section 4.3.  Removal of Components of the Project ....................................................................7 
Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property .................................8 
Section 4.5.  Condemnation ..........................................................................................................8 
Section 4.6.  Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value ...........................................8 
Section 4.7.  Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes ..................................................................................9 
Section 4.8.  Place of FILOT Payments ........................................................................................9 

ARTICLE V ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES ................................................................. 9 

Section 5.1.  Infrastructure Credits ..............................................................................................9 

ARTICLE VI CLAW BACK............................................................................................ 9 

Section 6.1.  Claw Back ................................................................................................................9 

ARTICLE VII DEFAULT ................................................................................................. 9 

Section 7.1.  Events of Default ......................................................................................................9 
Section 7.2.  Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................10 
Section 7.3.  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses ...............................................10 
Section 7.4.  Remedies Not Exclusive .........................................................................................11 

ARTICLE VIII PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS.................................... 11 

Section 8.1.  Right to Inspect ......................................................................................................11 
Section 8.2.  Confidentiality........................................................................................................11 
Section 8.3.  No Liability of County Personnel ..........................................................................11 
Section 8.4.  Limitation of Liability ............................................................................................11 
Section 8.5.  Assignment .............................................................................................................11 
Section 8.6.  No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation ............................................12 
Section 8.7.  Administration Expenses ........................................................................................12 
Section 8.8.   Multicounty Park ...................................................................................................12 



 ii 

Section 8.9.  Indemnification Covenants ....................................................................................12 

ARTICLE IX SPONSOR AFFILIATES ....................................................................... 13 

Section 9.1.  Sponsor Affiliates ...................................................................................................13 
Section 9.2.  Primary Responsibility...........................................................................................13 

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................... 14 

Section 10.1. Notices....................................................................................................................14 
Section 10.2.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor ........................14 
Section 10.3.  Counterparts ..........................................................................................................14 
Section 10.4.  Governing Law.......................................................................................................15 
Section 10.5.  Headings ................................................................................................................15 
Section 10.6.  Amendments ...........................................................................................................15 
Section 10.7.  Agreement to Sign Other Documents .....................................................................15 
Section 10.8.  Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws ...........................................................15 
Section 10.9.  Force Majeure .......................................................................................................15 
Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor ...................................................................15 
Section 10.11. Entire Agreement ...................................................................................................16 
Section 10.12. Waiver ....................................................................................................................16 
Section 10.13. Business Day ..........................................................................................................16 
Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction .....................................................................................16 
Section 10.15. Rollback Taxes .......................................................................................................16 
Section 10.16. Permit Fees ............................................................................................................16 
 
 
 
Exhibit A – Description of Property 
Exhibit B – Form of Joinder Agreement 
Exhibit C – Description of Infrastructure Credit 
Exhibit D – Description of Claw Back 
 

 

 



iii 
 

 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE AGREEMENT 

 
The parties have agreed to waive the requirement to recapitulate the contents of this Fee Agreement 
pursuant to Section 12-44-55 of the Code (as defined herein). However, the parties have agreed to include 
a summary of the key provisions of this Fee Agreement for the convenience of the parties. This summary 
is included for convenience only and is not to be construed as a part of the terms and conditions of this Fee 
Agreement.  
 
 

PROVISION BRIEF DESCRIPTION SECTION REFERENCE 
Sponsor Name Project Asteroid  
Project Location   
Tax Map No.   
   
   
FILOT   
• Phase 

Exemption 
Period 

30 years  

• Investment 
Commitment 

$6,600,000 by the end of the Investment Period  

• Jobs 
Commitment 

49 full-time jobs with average pay of $30.11 per 
hour by the end of the Investment Period while 
maintaining 23 full-time jobs 

 

• Investment 
Period 

5 years   

• Assessment 
Ratio: 

6%  

• Millage Rate 312.28  
• Fixed or Five-

Year Adjustable 
millage: 

fixed  

• Claw Back 
information 

Failure to reach $2.5 million within the 5-year 
Investment Period terminates the Fee Agreement. 
 

 

Multicounty Park   
Infrastructure 
Credit 

  

• Brief 
Description 

years 1 - 5 65% 
years 6 - 10 45% 

 

• Credit Term see above  
• Claw Back 

information: 
Failure to reach Investment Commitment or Jobs 
Commitment results in a decrease of SSRC to 40% 
starting in year 6 and following. 
 

 

Other information  
 

 



iv 
 

 



1 
 

 
 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is entered into, effective, as of [DATE], between Anderson County, 
South Carolina (“County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina (“State”), acting through the Anderson County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body 
of the County, and Project Asteroid, a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of [_____] (“Sponsor”). 

WITNESSETH: 

(a) Title 12, Chapter 44, (“Act”) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(“Code”), authorizes the County to induce manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in the State 
or to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises currently located in the State to expand their 
investments and thus make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by 
entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-
lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) with respect to Economic Development Property, as defined below; 

(b) Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-175, 4-29-68 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to (i) create 
multi-county industrial parks in partnership with contiguous counties; (ii) include the property of eligible 
companies within such parks as an inducement to locate within the County, which inclusion under the terms 
of Section 13 of Article VIII of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina makes such property exempt 
from ad valorem property taxes, therefore changing the character of the annual receipts from such properties 
from ad valorem property taxes to FILOT payments; and (iii) grant an annual tax credit against such FILOT 
payments in order to assist a company in paying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, 
or expanding the infrastructure serving the property of any company located within such multi-county 
industrial parks or for improved or unimproved real estate and personal property including machinery and 
equipment used in the operation of a commercial enterprise located within such multi-county parks in order 
to enhance the economic development of the County;  

(c) The Sponsor has committed to establish a manufacturing facility (“Facility”) in the County, 
consisting of investment in real and personal property of not less than $6,600,000 and the creation of 49 new, 
full-time jobs; 

(d) By an ordinance enacted on [DATE], County Council authorized the County to enter into this 
Fee Agreement with the Sponsor to provide for a FILOT and the other incentives as more particularly 
described in this Fee Agreement to induce the Sponsor to locate its Facility in the County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Terms. The defined terms used in this Fee Agreement have the meaning given below, 
unless the context clearly requires otherwise.   

From time to time herein, reference is made to the term taxes or ad valorem taxes.  All or portions 
of the Project are or will be located in a Multicounty Park and, as such, are or will be exempt from ad 



2 
 

valorem taxation under and by virtue of the provisions of Paragraph D of Section 13 of Article VIII of the 
S.C. Constitution and the MCIP Act (as defined herein).  With respect to facilities located in a Multicounty 
Park, references to taxes or ad valorem taxes means the fees-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes provided for in the 
MCIP Act. 

“Act” means Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, as the Act may be amended from time to time and 
all future acts successor or supplemental thereto. 

“Act Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment of at least $2,500,000 in the 
Project by the Sponsor or a Sponsor Affiliate within five years of the Commencement Date, or a combined 
total investment of at least $5,000,000 in the Project by the Sponsor and one or more Sponsor Affiliates, 
regardless of the amount invested by each such party, within five years of the Commencement Date.  

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the County 
in the negotiation, approval and execution of this Fee Agreement, for reasonable attorney’s fees. 
Administration Expenses do not include any costs, expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the 
County (i) after execution of this Fee Agreement, (ii) in defending challenges to the FILOT Payments, 
Infrastructure Credits or any other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement brought by any third parties; 
(iii) any actions by the Sponsor or its affiliates and related entities against the County; or (iv) in connection 
with matters arising prior to execution of this Fee Agreement at the request of the Sponsor outside of the 
immediate scope of this Fee Agreement. 

“Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as the same may be amended from time 
to time. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the property tax year during which Economic 
Development Property is placed in service. The Commencement Date shall not be later than the last day of 
the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and the Sponsor enter into this 
Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Commencement Date is expected to be December 
31, 2023. 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment in real and personal property 
at the Project of not less than $5,280,000 at any time within the Investment Period.  

“Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement” means not less than 39 full-time or full-time equivalent 
jobs created by the Sponsor in the County in connection with the Project at any time between March 1, 
2023, and the end of the Investment Period, paying an average of $30.11 per hour, which jobs must be in 
addition to the existing 23 full-time jobs of the Sponsor.  

“County” means Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 
governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Credit Term” means the years during the Fee Term in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable, 
as described in Exhibit C.  

“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” means a reduction in the fair market value of Economic Development 
Property, as determined in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement, which may be caused by (i) the removal 



3 
 

or disposal of components of the Project pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a casualty as 
described in Section 4.4 of this Fee Agreement; or (iii) a condemnation as described in Section 4.5 of this 
Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means those items of real and tangible personal property of 
the Project placed in service not later than the end of the Investment Period that (i) satisfy the conditions of 
classification as economic development property under the Act, and (ii) are identified by the Sponsor in its 
annual filing of a PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filings may be amended from 
time to time).  

“Equipment” means all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures, 
together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 7.1 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Agreement” means this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Term” means the period from the effective date of this Fee Agreement until the Final 
Termination Date. 

“FILOT Ordinance” means Ordinance No. ____________________, dated ____________ 
adopted by the County Council. 

“FILOT Payments” means the aggregate amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property 
taxes as provided in Section 4.1 and before taking into account any Infrastructure Credit.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, should any part or all of the Project not be eligible as Economic Development Property, the FILOT 
Payment shall also mean, in such case, the payments in lieu of taxes made as a result of the Project being 
located in a Multicounty Park. 

“Final Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during the last year 
of the Investment Period.  

“Final Termination Date” means the date on which the last FILOT Payment or Net FILOT 
Payment with respect to the Final Phase is made, or such earlier date as the Fee Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with the terms of this Fee Agreement. Assuming the Phase Termination Date for the Final Phase 
is December 31, 2057, the Final Termination Date is expected to be January 15, 2059, which is the due date 
of the last FILOT Payment with respect to the Final Phase.  

“Improvements” means all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building 
additions and improvements, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with all additions, fixtures, 
accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Infrastructure” means (i) the infrastructure serving the County or the Project, and (ii) improved 
and unimproved real estate.  Upon the written election by the Sponsor and notice to the County, personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing or commercial 
enterprise, and such other items as may be described in or permitted under Section 4-29-68 of the Code 
shall also be included in the definition of Infrastructure. 

 
“Infrastructure Credit” means the special source revenue credit provided to the Sponsor pursuant 

to Section 12-44-70 of the Act and Section 4-1-175 of the MCIP Act and Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement, 
with respect to the Infrastructure. Infrastructure Credits are to be used for the payment of the costs of the 
Infrastructure. 



4 
 

 
“Infrastructure Credit Period”  means the period of time during which the Infrastructure Credit is 

being provided by the County pursuant to Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement. 
 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or acquisition 
of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement Date, as may be 
extended pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Act. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Investment 
Period, unless extended (or unless the Commencement Date is later than December 31, 2026), is expected 
to end on December 31, 2027. The Investment Period shall be automatically extended by five (5) years if 
the Sponsor reaches an investment of $6,600,000 within the first five (5) years of the  Commencement Date 
without any further approval or action by the County required. 

“MCIP Act” means Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 
and Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175, and 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Multicounty Park” means the multicounty industrial or business park governed by the Agreement 
for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park), dated as of December 1, 
2010, between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina. 

“Net FILOT Payment” means the FILOT Payment net of the Infrastructure Credit. 

“Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during a particular year of 
the Investment Period. 

“Phase Exemption Period” means, with respect to each Phase, the period beginning with the 
property tax year the Phase is placed in service during the Investment Period and ending on the Phase 
Termination Date.  

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase, the last day of the property tax year 
which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which the Phase is placed in service. 

“Project” means all the Equipment, Improvements, and Real Property in the County that the 
Sponsor determines to be necessary, suitable, or useful by the Sponsor in connection with its investment in 
the County.  

“Real Property” means real property that the Sponsor uses or will use in the County for the 
purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initially consists of the land identified on Exhibit A of this Fee 
Agreement, and shall also include such land located in the County which shall be noted on schedules or 
supplements to Exhibit A, as may be provided by the Sponsor, provided that any requirement that the 
Sponsor provide such schedules or supplements with respect to future land may be satisfied by the 
Sponsor’s filing with the Department of Form PT-300 with Schedule S attached listing such additional land, 
or such comparable form or schedule as the Department may provide in connection with projects subject to 
the Act. 

“Removed Components” means Economic Development Property which the Sponsor, in its sole 
discretion, (a) determines to be inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable, 
undesirable, or unnecessary pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement or otherwise; or (b) elects to be 
treated as removed pursuant to Section 4.4(c) or Section 4.5(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement.  

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 
Removed Component regardless of whether the Replacement Property serves the same functions as the 
Removed Component it is replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of Replacement 



5 
 

Property replaces a single Removed Component. 

“Sponsor” means [COMPANY NAME] and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any 
merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the rights 
and duties of the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an entity that participates in the investment or job creation at the Project 
and, following receipt of any required County approval pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Fee Agreement, joins 
this Fee Agreement by delivering a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B to this 
Fee Agreement. 

“State” means the State of South Carolina. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

The term “investment” or “invest” as used in this Fee Agreement includes not only investments 
made by the Sponsor, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the 
benefit of the Sponsor in connection with the Project through federal, state, or local grants, in cash or in 
kind, to the extent such investments are or, but for the terms of this Fee Agreement, would be subject to ad 
valorem taxes to be paid by the Sponsor. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County. The County represents and warrants 
as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and acts 
through the County Council as its governing body. The Act authorizes and empowers the County to enter 
into the transactions that this Fee Agreement contemplates and to carry out its obligations under this Fee 
Agreement. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and all other 
documents, certificates or other agreements contemplated in this Fee Agreement and has obtained all 
consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its obligations 
under this Fee Agreement. 

 
(b) Based on representations by the Sponsor, County Council evaluated the Project based on all 

relevant criteria including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and 
nature of the investment resulting from the Project, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County and 
following the evaluation, the County determined that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general 
public welfare of the locality by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not 
otherwise adequately provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or 
any incorporated municipality and to no charge against the County’s general credit or taxing power; (iii) 
the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (iv) the 
benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

 
(c) The County identified the Project, as a “project” on [DATE] by adopting an inducement 

resolution, as defined in the Act on such date. 
 
(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result of 

entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement. 



6 
 

 
(e) The County has located or will take all reasonable action to locate and maintain the Project in 

the Multicounty Park.  
 
Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. The Sponsor represents and warrants 

as follows:  
 
(a) The Sponsor is in good standing under the laws of the State of its organization, is duly authorized 

to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in the State), 
has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee 
Agreement. 

 
(b) The Sponsor intends to operate the Project as a manufacturing facility, and for such other 

purposes that the Act permits as the Sponsor may deem appropriate. 
 
(c) The Sponsor’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement, and its compliance with the 

provisions of this Fee Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the 
Sponsor is now a party or by which it is bound. 

 
(d) The Sponsor will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement. 
 
(e) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County and the availability of the 

FILOT Payments and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement has been instrumental in inducing 
the Sponsor to locate the Project in the County. 

 
ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

Section 3.1. The Project. The Sponsor intends and expects to (i) construct or acquire the Project 
and (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement 
within the Investment Period. The Sponsor anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in 
service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2023. Notwithstanding anything contained in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project.  

Section 3.2 Leased Property. To the fullest extent that State law allows or is revised or construed 
to permit leased assets including a building, or personal property to be installed in a building, to constitute 
Economic Development Property, then any property leased by the Sponsor is, at the election of the Sponsor, 
deemed to be Economic Development Property for purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 3.3. Filings and Reports.  

(a) The Sponsor shall file a copy of this Fee Agreement and a completed PT-443 with the 
Department and the Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor of the County and partner county to the Multicounty 
Park. 

 
(b) On request by the County Administrator, the Sponsor shall remit to the County copies of such 

records related to the calculation of the FILOT Payments and the Net FILOT Payments due hereunder as 
the County would normally be entitled to in case the Project was subject to ad valorem taxation. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 



7 
 

 
Section 4.1. FILOT Payments.  
 
(a) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Phase through the Phase Termination Date is 

calculated as follows: 
 

(i) The fair market value of the Phase calculated as set forth in the Act (for the Real 
Property portion of the Phase, the County and the Sponsor have elected to use the fair 
market value established in the first year of the Phase Exemption Period for the term 
of this Agreement, multiplied by 

 
(ii) An assessment ratio of six percent (6%), multiplied by 
 
(iii) A fixed millage rate equal to the cumulative millage rate levied by or on behalf of all 

the taxing entities within which the Project is located as of June 30, 2023, which the 
parties believe to be 312.28 mills. 

 
The calculation of the FILOT Payment must allow all applicable property tax exemptions except 

those excluded pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act.  
 
(b) If a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal is allowable 

declares the FILOT Payments invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties shall 
negotiate, in accordance with and subject to the terms of Section 10.8, the reformation of the calculation of 
the FILOT Payments to most closely afford the Sponsor with the intended benefits of this Fee Agreement.  

 
Section 4.2. FILOT Payments on Replacement Property. If the Sponsor elects to place 

Replacement Property in service, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the 
Act, the Sponsor shall make the following payments to the County with respect to the Replacement Property 
for the remainder of the Phase Exemption Period applicable to the Removed Component of the Replacement 
Property: 

 
(a) FILOT Payments, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, on the Replacement Property to 

the extent of the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed 
to replace.   

(b) Regular ad valorem tax payments to the extent the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed to 
replace.  

Section 4.3. Removal of Components of the Project. The Sponsor is entitled to remove and dispose 
of components of the Project in its sole discretion. Components of the Project are deemed removed when 
scrapped, sold or otherwise permanently removed from the Project with the intent that it no longer be used 
for the Project. If the components removed from the Project are Economic Development Property, then the 
Economic Development Property is a Removed Component, no longer subject to this Fee Agreement and 
is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Removed Component remains in the State and is 
otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

 
In the event the Sponsor shall, in accordance with this Section, dispose of any part of the Project 

as to which any net present value payments were made pursuant to Section 4.1(a) hereof, then, in accordance 
with Section 12-44-50(B)(2) of the Act, there shall be computed the amount of payments which would have 
been made with respect to such property as of the disposal date under Section 4.1(a) without the use of the 



8 
 

net present value payment method, and to the extent that the amount which would have been so paid exceeds 
the amount paid by the Sponsor pursuant to Section 4.1(a) that is allocable to such property the Sponsor or 
any Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable, shall pay the difference (with interest as required under Section 12-
44-50(B)(2) of the Act) with the next Net FILOT Payment or Net FILOT Payment to be made to the County 
pursuant to Section 4.1(a) after such property is disposed of.  

 
Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property.  

(a) Election to Terminate.  If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or 
any other casualty, then the Sponsor may terminate all or part of this Fee Agreement. In the property tax 
year in which the damage or casualty occurs and continues, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT 
Payments with respect to the damaged Economic Development Property only to the extent property subject 
to ad valorem taxes would have been subject to such taxes under the same circumstances for the period in 
question. 

(b) Election to Restore and Replace. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, 
explosion, or any other casualty, and the Sponsor does not elect to terminate this Fee Agreement, then the 
Sponsor may restore and replace the Economic Development Property. All restorations and replacements 
made pursuant to this subsection (b) are deemed, to the fullest extent permitted by law and this Fee 
Agreement, to be Replacement Property. 

(c) Election to Remove. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or any 
other casualty, and the Sponsor elects not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and 
elects not to restore or replace pursuant to subsection (b), then the damaged portions of the Economic 
Development Property are deemed Removed Components. 

Section 4.5. Condemnation. 

(a) Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Term title to or temporary use of the Economic 
Development Property is vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of a taking 
by condemnation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by voluntary transfer under threat 
of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic Development Property which renders 
continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property commercially unfeasible in the 
judgment of the Sponsor, the Sponsor shall have the option to terminate this Fee Agreement by sending 
written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following such vesting. 

 
(b) Partial Taking. In the event of a partial taking of the Economic Development Property or a 

transfer in lieu, the Sponsor may elect: (i) to terminate all or part of this Fee Agreement; (ii) to restore and 
replace the Economic Development Property, with such restorations and replacements deemed, to the fullest 
extent permitted by law and this Fee Agreement, to be Replacement Property; or (iii) to treat the portions 
of the Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components. 

 
(c) In the year in which the taking occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT Payments with 

respect to the Economic Development Property so taken only to the extent property subject to ad valorem 
taxes would have been subject to taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question. 

 
Section 4.6. Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value. If there is a Diminution in 

Value, the FILOT Payments due with respect to the Economic Development Property or Phase so 
diminished shall be calculated by substituting the diminished value of the Economic Development Property 
or Phase for the original fair market value in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Infrastructure Credit shall remain applicable to such adjusted FILOT Payment. 



9 
 

Section 4.7. Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Economic Development Property becomes subject 
to ad valorem taxes as imposed by law, pursuant to this Fee Agreement, the Act, or otherwise, then the 
calculation of any ad valorem taxes due with respect to the Economic Development Property in a particular 
property tax year shall: (i) include the property tax reductions and exemptions that would have applied to the 
Economic Development Property as if it were not Economic Development Property; and (ii) include a credit 
for FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments the Sponsor has made with respect to the Economic 
Development Property. 

Section 4.8. Place of FILOT Payments. All FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments shall be 
made directly to the County in accordance with applicable law. 

ARTICLE V 
ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 
Section 5.1. Infrastructure Credits. To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the Sponsor is 

entitled to claim an Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain FILOT Payments due and owing from the 
Sponsor to the County under this Fee Agreement. The term, amount and calculation of the Infrastructure 
Credit is described in Exhibit C. In no event may the Sponsor’s aggregate Infrastructure Credit claimed 
pursuant to this Section exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Sponsor on Infrastructure. 

 
For each property tax year of the Credit Term, the County shall prepare and issue the annual bills 

with respect to the Project showing the Net FILOT Payment, calculated in accordance with Exhibit C. 
Following receipt of the bill, the Sponsor shall timely remit the Net FILOT Payment to the County in 
accordance with applicable law. 

 
ARTICLE VI 
CLAW BACK 

 
Section 6.1. Claw Back. If the Sponsor together with any Sponsor Affiliate fails to perform its 

obligations under this Fee Agreement as described in Exhibit D, then the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliate 
is subject to the claw backs as described in Exhibit D. Any amount that may be due from the Sponsor and 
any Sponsor Affiliate to the County as calculated in accordance with or described in Exhibit D is due within 
30 days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid, the amount due from the Sponsor 
and any Sponsor Affiliate to the County is subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may permit 
with respect to delinquent ad valorem tax payments. The repayment obligation arising under this Section and 
Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee Agreement and is the exclusive remedy for the failure to perform 
the obligations described on Exhibit D. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 7.1. Events of Default. Subject in all events to Section 10.9 hereof, the following are 

“Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement: 
 
(a) Failure by the Sponsor to make FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments due under this 

Agreement, which failure has not been cured within 30 days following receipt of written notice from the 
County specifying the delinquency in such payments and requesting that it be remedied; 

 
(b) (i) A representation or warranty made by the Sponsor which is materially incorrect when made 

or deemed made; or (ii) a failure by the Sponsor to perform any of the material terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants under this Fee Agreement (other than those under (a) above or addressed under 



10 
 

Section 6.1 hereof for which an exclusive remedy has been provided in Exhibit D), which failure under (i) 
or (ii) has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the County to the Sponsor specifying 
such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Sponsor has instituted corrective action within 
the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case 
the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the Sponsor is diligently pursuing 
corrective action; 

 
(c) A representation or warranty made by the County which is materially incorrect when made or 

deemed made; or 
 
(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the material terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Sponsor to the 
County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 
corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 
corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 
diligently pursuing corrective action. 

 
Section 7.2. Remedies on Default.  

(a) If an Event of Default by the Sponsor has occurred and is continuing, then the County may take 
any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) in the case of an Event of Default under Section 7.1(a), bring an action for collection of 
any amounts due hereunder and/or terminate this Fee Agreement upon another 30 days written 
notice; or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity that may appear necessary or desirable to 
remedy the Event of Default under Section 7.1(b) but the County’s damages under this Agreement 
for an Event of Default shall always be limited to and never exceed under any circumstance the 
amount of FILOT Payments due (after application of any Infrastructure Credit) plus legal fees and 
expenses under Section 7.3 hereof, and any penalty and interest required by statute.  Under no 
circumstances will the Sponsor ever be liable to the County for any other damages hereunder or 
any other penalty or other interest. 

(b) If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, the Sponsor may take any 
one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 

(iii) take such other action as is appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, 
to the extent allowed by law.  For purposes of this Agreement, the Sponsor and any Sponsor 
Affiliate’s damages under this Agreement for an Event of Default shall be limited to and never 
exceed, under any circumstance, the actual savings to be realized by the Sponsor and/or the Sponsor 
Affiliate due to the FILOT Payments and Infrastructure Credit provided herein, plus any legal fees 
and expenses under Section 7.3 hereof, plus interest at the same rate as provided under (a)(ii) above.  
Under no circumstances will the County ever be liable hereunder for any other damages hereunder 
or penalty or other interest. 

Section 7.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. If a party is required to employ 
attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of payments due under this Fee Agreement 



11 
 

or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement, the prevailing party 
is entitled to reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attorneys and other reasonable expenses so 
incurred. 

Section 7.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. Unless expressly provided otherwise, no remedy described 
in this Fee Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies described in this 
Agreement, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition to every other remedy given 
under this Fee Agreement. 

ARTICLE VIII 
PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS 

 
Section 8.1. Right to Inspect.  Subject to the Sponsor’s safety policies and requirements, this 

Agreement does not limit any otherwise existing legal right of the County and its authorized agents, at any 
reasonable time on prior notice, to enter and examine and inspect the Project for the purposes of permitting 
the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, without limitation, for 
such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other manufacturing or commercial 
facility in the County). 

Section 8.2. Confidentiality. The County acknowledges that the Sponsor may utilize confidential 
and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential 
Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm 
to the Sponsor. The Sponsor may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 
pursuant to this Fee Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or 
any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled 
Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Sponsor 
acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, 
must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required 
to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the 
Sponsor with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to 
making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Sponsor to obtain judicial or 
other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 8.3. No Liability of County Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements 
and obligations of the County contained in this Fee Agreement are binding on members of the County 
Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official 
capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys under 
this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or 
performance of any of the covenants and agreements under this Fee Agreement or for any claims based on 
this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

 
Section 8.4. Limitation of Liability. The County is not liable to the Sponsor for any costs, expenses, 

losses, damages, claims or actions in connection with this Fee Agreement, except from amounts received 
by the County from the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Fee 
Agreement to the contrary, any financial obligation the County may incur under this Fee Agreement is 
deemed not to constitute a pecuniary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County. 

Section 8.5. Assignment. The Sponsor may assign this Fee Agreement in whole or in part with the 
prior written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which may be done 
by resolution, and which consent or ratification the County will not unreasonably withhold; provided, 



12 
 

however, that the County hereby expressly consents in advance to any such assignment of this Fee 
Agreement, in whole or in part, by the Sponsor to any entity, now existing or to be formed in the future, 
which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Sponsor. The Sponsor agrees to 
notify the County and the Department of the identity of the proposed transferee within 60 days of the 
transfer. In case of a transfer, the transferee assumes the transferor’s basis in the Economic Development 
Property for purposes of calculating the FILOT Payments.  

Section 8.6. No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. Notwithstanding anything 
contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, and except as expressly required by law, the Sponsor is 
not required to make a FILOT Payment in addition to a regular ad valorem property tax payment in the 
same year with respect to the same piece of Economic Development Property. The Sponsor is not required 
to make a FILOT Payment on Economic Development Property in cases where, absent this Fee Agreement, 
ad valorem property taxes would otherwise not be due on such property. 

Section 8.7. Administration Expenses. The Sponsor will reimburse the County for its 
Administration Expenses in an amount that shall in any event be capped at and limited in the aggregate to 
$5,000 on receipt of a written request from the County or at the County’s direction, which request shall 
include a statement of the amount and nature of the Administration Expense. The Sponsor shall pay the 
Administration Expense as set forth in the written request no later than 60 days following receipt of the 
written request from the County. The County does not impose a charge in the nature of impact fees or 
recurring fees in connection with the incentives authorized by this Fee Agreement. The payment by the 
Sponsor of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed as prohibiting the County from 
engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice.   

Section 8.8.  Multicounty Park.  By December 31, 2023, the County will use its best efforts to 
cause the Real Property to be placed in the Multicounty Park (if not already in the Multicounty Park) and 
to maintain the Real Property in the Multicounty Park or in some other multicounty industrial or business 
park within the meaning of the MCIP Act for at least as long as the Infrastructure Credit is to be provided 
to the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 8.9.  Indemnification Covenants.  
 
(a) To the extent of its negligence or the negligence of any Third Parties (as defined below), the 

Sponsor shall and agrees to indemnify and save the County, including the members of the governing body 
of the County, and the employees, officers and agents of the County (herein collectively referred to as the 
“Indemnified Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm, company, 
or legal entity arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project 
during the Term, and, the Sponsor further, to the extent of its negligence or the negligence of any Third 
Parties, shall indemnify and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising from 
any act, error or omission occurring during the Term from: (i) any condition of the Project, (ii) any breach 
or default on the part of the Sponsor in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, (iii) 
any act of the Sponsor or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, related to the 
Project, (iv) any act of any assignee or sublessee of the Sponsor, or of any agents, contractors, servants, 
employees or licensees of any assignee or sublessee of the Sponsor, related to the Project (such third parties 
under (iii) and (iv) being collectively referred to as “Third Parties”), or (v) any environmental violation by 
the Sponsor or Third Parties.  The Sponsor shall indemnify, defend and save the Indemnified Parties 
harmless from and against all costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising 
as aforesaid or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from an 
Indemnified Party, the Sponsor shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding, with counsel 
reasonably acceptable to the County.  

 



13 
 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties not 
incur pecuniary liability by reason of (i) the terms of this Agreement, (ii) the undertakings required of the 
County hereunder, (iii) by reason of the execution of this Agreement, (iv) the performance of any act 
requested of it by the Sponsor, (v) the operation of the Project by the Sponsor or (vi) arising in connection 
with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the Indemnified 
Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Sponsor shall indemnify and hold 
them harmless against all claims, but only insofar resulting from Sponsor’s or Third Parties’ negligence, 
arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, incurred 
in connection with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon.  Upon 
notice, the Sponsor shall have the sole right and duty to assume, and shall assume, the defense thereof, at 
its expense, with full power to litigate, compromise, or settle the same in its sole discretion; provided the 
Sponsor shall obtain the prior written consent of the County to settle any such claim unless such claim is 
for monetary damages for which the Sponsor has the ability to, and does, pay.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if the Indemnified Party is the County, in the event the County reasonable believes there are 
defenses available to it that are not being pursued or that the counsel engaged by the Sponsor reasonably 
determines that a conflict of interest exists between the County and the Sponsor, the County may, with the 
approval of Sponsor, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, hire independent counsel to pursue its 
own defense, and the Sponsor shall be liable for the reasonable cost of such counsel. 

 
These indemnification covenants shall be considered included in and incorporated by reference in 

subsequent documents after the closing which the County is requested to sign, and any other 
indemnification covenants in any subsequent documents shall not be construed to reduce or limit the above 
indemnification covenants. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AFFILIATES 
 

Section 9.1. Sponsor Affiliates. The Sponsor may designate Sponsor Affiliates from time to time, 
including at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, pursuant to and subject to the provisions of Section 
12-44-130 of the Act. To designate a Sponsor Affiliate, the Sponsor must deliver written notice to the 
County identifying the Sponsor Affiliate and requesting the County’s approval of the Sponsor Affiliate. 
Except with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate designated at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, which 
may be approved in the County Council ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of this Fee 
Agreement, approval of the Sponsor Affiliate may be given by the County Administrator delivering written 
notice to the Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate following receipt by the County Administrator of a 
recommendation from the Economic Development Committee of County Council to allow the Sponsor 
Affiliate to join in the investment at the Project; provided, however, that the County hereby expressly 
consents to any future designation by the Sponsor as a Sponsor Affiliate (i) any entity, now existing or to 
be formed in the future, which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Sponsor and 
(ii) any third party that the Sponsor may elect to involve in the construction or financing of the Project, and 
(iii) the landowner(s) of the Real Property. The Sponsor Affiliate’s joining in the investment at the Project 
will be effective on delivery of a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B, executed 
by the Sponsor Affiliate to the County.  

 
Section 9.2. Primary Responsibility.  Notwithstanding the addition of a Sponsor Affiliate, the 

Sponsor acknowledges that it has the primary responsibility for the duties and obligations of the Sponsor 
and any Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee Agreement, including the payment of FILOT Payments or any 
other amount due to or for the benefit of the County under this Fee Agreement. The Sponsor Affiliate’s 
secondary obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement to the County shall be limited to 
the FILOT Payments due on the Sponsor Affiliate’s Economic Development Property only and under no 
circumstances shall the Sponsor Affiliate be liable for any FILOT Payments relating to the Sponsor’s 



14 
 

Economic Development Property.  
 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be 
provided under this Fee Agreement is effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited 
with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed 
as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the 
other party), except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than sending of any notice, 
in which case such provision shall control: 

IF TO THE SPONSOR: 
[] 
 
 
 
WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP 
Attn:  Edward Kluiters 
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor (29201) 
PO Box 11070 
Columbia, South Carolina  29211 
 

IF TO THE COUNTY: 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
Attn: Anderson County Administrator 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 
Anderson County Attorney 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 
 

Section 10.2. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor. Except as 
otherwise specifically provided in this Fee Agreement, nothing in this Fee Agreement expressed or implied 
confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliates any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement being intended to be for 
the sole and exclusive benefit of the County and the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 10.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
and all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 



15 
 

Section 10.4. Governing Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions that 
would refer the governance of this Fee Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this Fee 
Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.5. Headings. The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.6. Amendments. This Fee Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of 
the parties to this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.7. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 
Sponsor, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Sponsor 
such additional instruments as the Sponsor may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of 
this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.8. Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws.  

(a) If the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is unclear 
under this Fee Agreement, then the parties intend that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement be done in 
a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement and 
the maximum incentive permissible under the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit 
terms of this Fee Agreement.  It is expressly agreed that the Sponsor may add Economic Development 
Property, whether real or personal, by including such property on the Sponsor’s PT-300 Schedule S or 
successor form during the Investment Period to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

(b) If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any 
reason, the remaining provisions of this Fee Agreement are unimpaired, and the parties shall reform such 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 
of this Fee Agreement so as to afford the Sponsor with the maximum benefits to be derived under this Fee 
Agreement, it being the intention of the County to offer the Sponsor the strongest inducement possible, 
within the provisions of the Act, to locate the Project in the County.  

(c) The County agrees that in case the FILOT incentive described in this Fee Agreement is found 
to be invalid and the Sponsor does not realize the economic benefit it is intended to receive from the County 
under this Fee Agreement as an inducement to locate in the County, the County agrees to provide a special 
source revenue or Infrastructure Credit to the Sponsor (in addition to the Infrastructure Credit explicitly 
provided for above) to the maximum extent permitted by law, to allow the Sponsor to recoup all or a portion 
of the loss of the economic benefit resulting from such invalidity. 

Section 10.9. Force Majeure. Notwithstanding Section 7.1 hereof or any other provision of this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not liable or responsible under this Agreement for any delays 
or non-performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight 
embargoes, fires, floods, inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or 
regulations (including imposition of tariffs), war or national emergency, acts of God, nationwide economic 
recessions, natural disasters, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Sponsor’s reasonable 
control.  In such case the County agrees to postpone the Sponsor’s obligations under Article VI hereof for 
the time such force majeure continues. 

Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor.  

(a) Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement 



16 
 

terminates on the Final Termination Date. 

(b) The Sponsor is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or 
part of the Project on providing the County with 30 days’ notice. 

(c) Any monetary obligations due and owing at the time of termination and any provisions which 
are intended to survive termination, survive such termination.  

(d) In the year following termination, all Economic Development Property is subject to ad valorem 
taxation or such other taxation or payment in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. 
The Sponsor’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement terminates to the extent of 
and in the year following the year the Sponsor terminates this Fee Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

Section 10.11. Entire Agreement. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 
agreements of the parties, and neither party is bound by any agreement or any representation to the other 
party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 
the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.12. Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 10.13. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee 
Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 
jurisdiction in which the party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, 
made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required 
under this Fee Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction. Each party and its counsel have reviewed this Fee 
Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting 
party does not apply in the interpretation of this Fee Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Fee 
Agreement. 

Section 10.15. Rollback Taxes.  The parties agree that the rollback taxes as provided in Section 
12-43-220(d) of the Code do not apply to the change in use of the Real Property from its agricultural use to 
non-agricultural use. 

Section 10.16.  Permit Fees.  The County agrees that any sewer impact fees (up to $_________) 
and any building permit and code fees (up to $________) will be waived as provided by the County’s letter 
dated July 24, 2019. 

 

 

[Signature pages follow] 



Signature Page-1 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 
this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 
attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Sponsor has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed 
by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  County Council Chair 
  Anderson County, South Carolina  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council   
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement] 

 
 
  



Signature Page-2 
 

[PROJECT ASTEROID] 
 
 
      Signature:        
      Name:         
      Title:        
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement] 



A-1 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 



B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 
FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective [] (“Fee 
Agreement”), between Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”) and [] (“Sponsor”). 
 
1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 
 

[   ], a [STATE] [corporation]/[limited liability company]/[limited partnership] 
authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina (“Sponsor Affiliate”, hereby (a) joins as a 
party to, and agrees to be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as 
if it were a Sponsor [except the following: __________________________]; (b) shall receive the benefits 
as provided under the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic Development Property placed in service 
by the Sponsor Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor [except the following __________________________]; (c) 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as 
a Sponsor Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or will 
qualify as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 
of the Act.  

 
2. Capitalized Terms. 

 
Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term set 

forth in the Fee Agreement. 
 

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate. 
 

The Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows: 

(a) The Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly 
authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in 
the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Joinder Agreement. 

(b) The Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its compliance with 
the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any 
agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is bound. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other 
incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor Affiliate to 
join with the Sponsor in the Project in the County. 

 
4. Request of Sponsor. 
 
 The Sponsor hereby requests and consents to the addition of Sponsor Affiliate as Sponsor Affiliate 
to the Fee Agreement. 
 
5. Consent of County. 
 
 The County, through approval as authorized in the Fee Agreement, hereby consents to the addition 
of Sponsor Affiliate as Sponsor Affiliate to the Fee Agreement. 
 
6. Governing Law. 



B-2 
 

 
This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to 

principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina. 
 

7. Notice.   
Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement to Sponsor Affiliate shall be sent to: 
 
[                       ] 
 

  



B-3 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  
 
 

SPONSOR AFFILIATE 

_______________           
Date      Signature:       
      Name:        
      Title:       

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the above-

named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  
 

              
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  County Council Chair 
  Anderson County, South Carolina  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council   
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 

 
PROJECT ASTEROID 

 
 
      Signature:       
      Name:        
      Title:       

 



C-1 
 

EXHIBIT C 
DESCRIPTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT 

 

The Sponsor shall be entitled to an Infrastructure Credit equal to sixty-five percent (65%) for a period of 
five (5) property tax years, to commence with the first FILOT Payment to be made with respect to the 
Project after it is placed in service, unless the Sponsor requests a different starting date by notice to the 
County no later than June 30 of the property tax year in which the Infrastructure Credit is to commence, 
and an additional Infrastructure Credit of forty-five percent (45%) per year for an additional succeeding 
period of five (5) consecutive property tax years following the previous five (5) year property tax period.   

To the extent the Infrastructure Credit is used to pay for the cost of personal property and the removal of 
such personal property results in a penalty pursuant to 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii) of the Code, the Sponsor shall be 
entitled to an additional Infrastructure Credit against any remaining FILOT Payments to be made on 
property remaining subject to the FILOT Payments after the date of such removal. 

 



D-1 
 

EXHIBIT D 
DESCRIPTION OF CLAWBACK 

 
If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) fails to meet the Act Minimum Investment 

Requirement, the Fee Agreement shall terminate and any repayment obligation arising therefrom shall be as 
provided in the Act. 

 
If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) fails to meet the Contract Minimum Investment 

Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement, the Infrastructure Credit shall be reduced to forty 
percent (40%) prospectively only (i.e., starting in the 6th property tax year).  If the Contract Minimum 
Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement (as applicable) have been met by 
the end of the seventh (7th) property tax year after the Commencement Date, the Infrastructure Credit shall 
be restored to 45% but there shall not be any recapture of any lost Infrastructure Credits.   

 
There will be no rebate or clawback of any Infrastructure Credit received by the Sponsor and any 

Sponsor Affiliates. 
 

For example, assuming the Project Commencement Date is December 31, 2023, and the Sponsor 
(together with any Sponsor Affiliates) has met and continues to meet the Contract Minimum Investment 
Requirement but fails to meet the Contract Minimum Job Requirement by December 31, 2027, the 
Infrastructure Credit will be forty percent (40%) beginning in 2028.  If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor 
Affiliates) will have again met the Contract Minimum Job Requirement by December 31, 2028 or by December 
31, 2029, the Infrastructure Credits shall be restored to the original amounts and duration for the remainder of 
the Infrastructure Credit Period but no previously lost Infrastructure Credits shall be provided or restored to the 
Sponsor or any Sponsor Affiliates.    

 
 
 

~#4840-8285-4304 V.2~ 



SOUTH CAROLINA    ) 
      )  RESOLUTION 2023-038 
ANDERSON COUNTY   ) 

A RESOLUTION COMMITTING TO NEGOTIATE A FEE-IN-LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE 
CREDIT AGREEMENT BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY AND 
PROJECT ASTEROID; IDENTIFYING THE PROJECT; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO 

 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 

(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (“Act”) to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in 
the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage manufacturing and commercial 
enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ the 
manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as 
defined in the Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT Payments”) 
with respect to economic development property, as defined in the Act; 

WHEREAS, Project Asteroid, an entity whose name cannot be publicly disclosed at this time 
(“Sponsor”), desires to invest capital in the County in order to expand its manufacturing facility in the 
County (“Project”);  

WHEREAS, the Project is anticipated to result in an investment of approximately $6,600,000 in real 
and personal property and the creation of approximately 49 new, full-time jobs;  

WHEREAS, as an inducement to make the investment in the County, the County has offered a fee-in-
lieu of ad valorem taxes agreement (“FILOT Agreement”), which provides for FILOT Payments with 
respect to the Project; and 

WHEREAS, the County has also offered to include the Project in a multicounty business park 
established pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, and 
Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175 and 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(the “MCBP Act”) and to provide certain special source revenue credits (“SSRCs”) against the FILOT 
payments pursuant to the MCBP Act. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. This Resolution is an inducement resolution for this Project for purposes of the Act. 

Section 2. County Council agrees to enter into the FILOT Agreement, which provides for FILOT 
Payments and SSRCs with respect to the portion of the Project which constitutes economic development 
property. The further details of the FILOT Payments, SSRCs, and the FILOT Agreement will be prescribed 
by subsequent ordinance of the County to be adopted in accordance with South Carolina law and the rules 
and procedures of the County. 

Section 3. County Council identifies and reflects the Project by this Resolution, therefore permitting 
expenditures made in connection with the Project to qualify as economic development property, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the FILOT Agreement and the Act. 

Section 4. This Resolution is effective after its approval by the County Council.  



 2 

RESOLVED: SEPTEMBER 5, 2023 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
        
Chair, Anderson County Council 

 
 
(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
        
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
 
 (SEAL) 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
        
Clerk to County Council 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________________________ 
County Attorney 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2023-039 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE ASSIGNMENT AND 
ASSUMPTION OF A FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT BY 
AND AMONG ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, FEDEX GROUND 
PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC., AND EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 
Council (the “County Council”), is authorized by the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(the “Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”): (i) to enter into a fee agreement with 
companies meeting the requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such companies 
as economic development property, to induce such companies to locate in the State of South Carolina (the 
“State”) and to encourage companies now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make 
use of and employ workers and other resources of the State; and (ii) to covenant with such companies to 
accept certain fees in lieu of ad valorem tax payments with respect to projects in the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(“Assignor”), FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Operating 
Company”), and the County are party to that certain Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement, dated as 
of May 17, 2022 (as amended, restated, supplemented, modified and assigned, the “FILOT Agreement”); 
wherein, in relevant part, the County agreed to provide certain incentives with respect to certain real 
property more particularly described in the FILOT Agreement and improvements and other property located 
thereon (collectively, the “Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Effective February 8, 2023 (the “Transfer Date”), Assignor has conveyed to MI – 
GREENVILLE OWNER, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Purchaser”), Assignor’s property 
subject to the FILOT Agreement (the “Transferred Property”), pursuant to a series of transactions involving 
Purchaser (or their Affiliate(s)), wherein and whereby the Purchaser agreed to purchase the Transferred 
Property for the consideration expressed in such transactions; and  

WHEREAS, Assignor and Purchaser have previously entered into that certain Assignment and 
Assumption of Fee in Lieu of Tax Agreement (the “Assignment”), wherein and whereby Assignor assigned 
those relevant terms, covenants, conditions and agreements of the FILOT Agreement to the Purchaser (or 
to one or more Affiliates), as they relate to the Transferred Property, and subject to the terms of such 
Assignment, the Purchaser (or one or more Affiliates) assumed the relevant terms, covenants, conditions 
and agreements of the FILOT Agreement from Assignor, as they relate to the Transferred Property; and   

WHEREAS, Assignor and Purchaser have requested that the County authorize, ratify, approve and 
consent to the Assignment in accordance with the provisions of the FILOT Agreement and Section 12-44-
120 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended, including the transfer of the Transferred 
Property to the Purchaser (or to one or more Affiliates).  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL, IN 
MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  Definitions.  For purposes of this Resolution, the term “Affiliate(s)” shall mean, with 
respect to any entity, an entity that is controlled by, owned directly or indirectly and in whole or in part by, 
or under common control with, such entity, or (with respect to Purchaser) any third party or beneficiary for 
which Purchaser is acting as an agent.  
 
 Section 2.  County Authorization, Ratification, Approval and Consent.  The County hereby 

 



 

 

authorizes, ratifies, approves and consents to the sale of the Transferred Property and the assignment of the 
FILOT Agreement by Assignor to the Purchaser (or to one or more Affiliates), effective as of the Transfer 
Date, as more particularly prescribed in the Assignment attached hereto as Exhibit A.   
 

Section 3.  Further Documentation.  The County Council and the County’s duly authorized 
representatives shall take such action as may be necessary to effectuate the action herewith taken and the 
Assignment herein authorized.  The County Administrator is hereby authorized and directed, in the name 
and on behalf of the County, to execute such other documents, agreements, affidavits and certificates 
(including any estoppel certificates), and the Clerk of County Council is hereby authorized to attest the 
same, and to deliver such other documents, agreements, affidavits, and certificates to Assignor and 
Purchaser (or to any Affiliates), in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 
 
 Section 4.  Miscellaneous.  
 

(a) The County Administrator and all other appropriate officials of the County are hereby 
authorized to execute, deliver and receive any other agreements and documents as may be required by the 
County in order to carry out, give effect to and consummate the transactions authorized by this Resolution;   

 
(b) This Resolution shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 

South Carolina; 
 
(c) This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon approval by the County Council 

following reading before County Council; 
 
(d) The provisions of this Resolution are hereby declared to be severable and if any section, phrase 

or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, 
that declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases and provisions hereunder; 
and 

 
(e) All resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby 

repealed.  



 

 

Done in meeting duly assembled this ____ day of _____________, 2023   
 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL: 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
            
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator   Anderson County Council 
 
 
      
Renee Watts 
Anderson County Clerk to Council 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
  



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

AGREEMENT AS TO ASSIGNMENT AND 
ASSUMPTION OF FEE AGREEMENT 

 
(attached) 

 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AGREEMENT AS TO ASSIGNMENT AND  
     ) ASSUMPTION OF FEE IN LIEU OF  
COUNTY OF ANDERSON  ) TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT   
 
 THIS AGREEMENT AS TO ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF FEE IN LIEU OF TAX 
AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of _________, 2023 by and 
between EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Assignor”), MI 
– GREENVILLE OWNER, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Purchaser”) and Anderson County, 
South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(“County”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (“Council”), pursuant to the 
provisions of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Code”), and specifically Title 12, 
Chapter 44 of the Code (“FILOT Act”), previously entered into that certain Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive 
Agreement effective May 17, 2022 (the “Fee Agreement”) between the County, Assignor, and FEDEX 
GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Operating Company”), related to certain 
investments in economic development property in the County, pursuant to which, amongst other things, 
Assignor and Operating Company committed to invest, in the aggregate, at least $45,343,000 in the County 
(“Project”), and agreed to make, and the County agreed to accept, fee in lieu of tax payments with respect 
to property eligible for such an arrangement (“Economic Development Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain transaction effective February 8, 2023 (“Transfer Date”) 
involving Assignor and Purchaser, all of Assignor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Project, including 
without limitation all property qualifying as Economic Development Property under the FILOT Act 
(“Transferred Property”), and all of Assignor’s right, title, and interest in, to, and under the Fee Agreement 
was transferred and assigned to Purchaser as of the Transfer Date (the “Assignment”); and  

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 6.01 of the Fee Agreement, the Assignor may assign the Fee 

Agreement with the prior consent or subsequent ratification of the County. 
 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 12-44-120(D) of the FILOT Act, the County may provide its 

subsequent ratification of an assignment by resolution.  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby covenant and agree as follows: 
 
 Section 1. Transfer and Assignment.  Assignor and Purchaser acknowledge and represent that all 
of Assignor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Transferred Property and all of Assignor’s right, title, 
and interest in, to, and under the Fee Agreement, was transferred and assigned, as of the Transfer Date, to 
Purchaser and its successors and assigns, absolutely and forever.  The County hereby confirms its consent 
to and ratification of the Assignment. 
 
 Section 2. Assumption.  Purchaser does hereby confirm its assumption of all duties, obligations, 
and liabilities in and under the Fee Agreement, as of the Transfer Date, with respect to the Transferred 
Property accruing on or after the Transfer Date.  
 
 Section 3. Acknowledgement, Consent, Ratification, and Acceptance of the County.  The County 
hereby (i) acknowledges that the Fee Agreement and the Economic Development Property has been 
transferred to Purchaser as of the Transfer Date and (ii) consents to and ratifies the Assignment as of the 
Transfer Date . 
 



 2 

 Section 4. Notice to the Department. Pursuant to the Fee Agreement and the FILOT Act, the 
Purchaser certifies that Purchaser will notify the South Carolina Department of Revenue of the Assignment 
ratified by this Agreement.  
 
 Section 5. Notices.  The parties agree that the addresses to be utilized under Section 7.01 of the 
Fee Agreement shall hereafter be as follows: 
 
 As to Assignor: 
      Evergreen Road Anderson, LL 
      Attn: Jason K. Bria 
      6101 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 180 
      Charlotte, North Carolina 28209 
  
 With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
      Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 
      Attn: Sam Moses 
      1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 
      Telephone: 803.253.6842 
      Facsimile: 803.255.8017 
      E-mail: sammoses@parkerpoe.com 
            
 
 As to Purchaser: 
      MI – GREENVILLE OWNER, LP 
      c/o Miramar Acquisitions, LLC 
      100 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 650 
      Santa Monica, California 90401 
 
 With another copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
      Lewis Roca 
      Attn: Molly Magestro 
      201 East Washington Street, Suite 1200 
      Phoenix, Arizona 85004  
 
 Section 6. Successors and Assigns.  The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 7. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provisions of this Agreement shall be held 
to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause or provision shall not 
affect any of the remaining provisions hereof. 
 
 Section 8. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of South Carolina. 
 
 Section 9. Amendment. No provision of this Agreement may be amended, modified, 
supplemented, changed, waived, discharged, or terminated unless all of the parties hereto consent thereto 
in writing. 
 
 Section 10. Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, 
each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 



 3 

 
 Section 11. Facsimile/Scanned Signatures. Each of the parties to this Agreement agrees that use of 
a fax or scanned signature and the signatures, initials, and handwritten or typewritten modifications to any 
of the foregoing shall be deemed to be valid and binding upon the parties as if the original signature, initials 
and handwritten or typewritten modifications were present on the documents in the handwriting of each 
party. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES] 

  



 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, each pursuant to due authority, have duly executed this 
Agreement as to Assignment and Assumption of Fee Agreement, all as of the date first above written. 
 
   
    ASSIGNOR 
 

EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC, a Delaware limited 
 liability company 

 
 

 
 

PURCHASER 
 

MI – GREENVILLE OWNER, LP, a Delaware limited 
partnership 

 
 

   
  



 5 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, pursuant to due authority, has consented to the Agreement as 
to Assignment and Assumption of Fee Agreement, all as of the date first above written. 
 
   
    FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC. 

 
 
By:        
 
Name:  Andrew Watkins    
 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer     

 































RECREATION FUND APPROPRIATIONS 
APPLICATION 

WHAT DISTRICT(S) ARE YOU REQUESTING FUNDING FROM: 

DISTRICT:    _ 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 

Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District 4

John B. Wright, Jr. 
Council District 1 

Glenn A. Davis 
Council District 2 

Ray Graham 
Council District 3 

Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

Mail/Email/Fax to: 
Anderson County Council Clerk 

P.O. Box 8002, Anderson, SC 29622 
rdwatts@andersoncountysc.org 

Fax: 864-260-4356 

1. Name of entity requesting recreation fund appropriation:  Anderson University

2. Amount of request (If requesting funds from more than one district, annotate
amount from each district):  $10,000

3. The purpose for which the funds are being requested:  The funds will be used to
start a Bass Fishing Club that will be open to all students at Anderson
University.

4. Is the entity a non-profit corporation in good standing with the South Carolina
Secretary of State?  If so, please attach evidence of that good standing.

5. Contact Person:   Jon Gropp

Mailing Address:  316 Boulevard, Anderson, SC 29621
Phone Number: 864-622-6014
Email: jgropp@andersonuniversity.edu

6. Statement as to whether the entity will be providing matching funds:
Anderson University will not be offering direct matching funds for this project.
However, we will offer significant support through indirect costs involving university
resources (not limited to personnel, facilities usage, supplies, etc.).

I certify that the forgoing is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and
that I am authorized to make this application on behalf of the above-named
entity.

Signature Print Name Date 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | 864.260.1039 | www.andersoncountysc.org 

ALL

mailto:rdwatts@andersoncountysc.org
http://www.andersoncountysc.org/
Jonathan Gropp
Jon Gropp

Jonathan Gropp
8/30/2023


	Agenda CCM September 5, 2023
	2a Resolution 2023-037 Motessori School of Anderson
	3a CCM Minutes 08012023
	3b CCM Minutes 08152023
	5 Opioid Recovery Fund Proposal
	6a Ordinance 2023-029 Code Enforcement
	6b Ordinance 2023-030 Junkyards Open Storage
	7a Ordinance 2023-031 Project Shoreline
	7b Ordinance 2023-032 MCIP Shores of Asbury
	7c Ordinance 2023-033 Admendment Sub Lease Shores of Asbury
	8a Ordinance 2023-034 Amend Section 2-1053 
	8b Ordinance 2023-035 Project Asteroid FILOT
	9a Resolution 2023-038 Project Asteroid
	9b Resolution 2023-039 Assignment FILOT FedEx
	10 Bid #24-003 Hurricane Creek Forcemain Project
	11a Library Appointment
	12a Appropriation Request Foothills Communtiy Health Care
	12b Appropriation Request Anderson Area Crime Stoppers
	12c Appropriation Request Anderson University



